KURBANOVA MUYASSAR

DEMOGRAPHIC DIVIDEND IN CENTRAL ASIA

Institute of Economics

Doctoral Advisor: Berde Éva, Professor Emerita

© Muyassar Kurbanova

Corvinus University of Budapest

Doctoral School of Economics, Business, and Informatics

DEMOGRAPHIC DIVIDEND IN CENTRAL ASIA

Doctoral dissertation Muyassar Kurbanova

Budapest, 2024

Table of Contents

1. Intr	roduction				
1.1.	Importance of the topic				
1.2.	1.2. Research questions and hypotheses				
1.3.	Overview methodology of research				
1.4.	Contribution of the thesis to the existing body of knowledge				
1.5.	Structure of the thesis				
2. Lite	erature review				
2.1.	Demographic transition and its stages				
2.2.	Demographic dividend				
2.2	2.1. First and second demographic dividends				
2.2	2.2. Typology of demographic dividend				
2.3.	Economic growth and demographic dividend				
2.3	3.1. Mathematical modelling of the demographic dividend				
2.3	3.2. Demographic-growth relationship in empirical studies				
2.3	3.3. Dimensions of the demographic dividend				
2.4.	Central Asia countries in demographic dividend literature				
2.5.	Poverty and demographic dividend	51			
2.5	5.1. Poverty-growth-inequality triangle				
2.5	5.2. Multiple dimensions of poverty				
2.5	5.3. Poverty measurement				
2.6.	Poverty in Central Asia				
3. Ove	erview of the Central Asian countries				
3.1.	Brief history of Central Asian countries				
3.2.	Recent demographic trends				
3.3.	Background to economic development				
3.4.	Social development and public policy	72			
3.5.	Trends in poverty and inequality in Central Asia				
4. Res	search methodology				
4.1.	Research design				
4.2.	Diagnostic tests				
4.3.	The chosen methodology				
4.4. Validation and reliability					

5. The impact of demographic transition on economic growth of Central Asia: empirica analysis					
5.1. Methodological framework and hypothesis					
5.2. Data description					
5.3. Model specification					
5.4. Empirical results and discussion					
5.5. Conclusion					
6. Determinants of Socio Economic and Demographic Characteristics of I inequality in Central Asian countries	Poverty and 103				
6.1. Theoretical framework and hypothesis development					
6.2. Data selection and description					
6.3. Model formulation and estimation strategy					
6.4. Results and discussion					
6.5. Robustness check					
6.6. Conclusion					
7. CONCLUSION AND IMPLICATION					
7.1. Conclusion					
7.2. Policy implications					
7.3. Limitations of the research					
7.4. Further research					
References					
Appendix					

List of Figures

Figure 1: Components of demographic dividend41
Figure 2: The effect of fertility on poverty reduction
Figure 3. Factors influencing poverty
Figure. 4. Total fertility in Central Asian countries, 1960-2050 (live births per woman)65
Figure 5: Total population in Central Asian countries, 1960-2050 (thousands)66
Figure 6: Median age and life expectancy in Central Asian countries
Figure 7: Age distribution in Central Asian countries
Figure 8: The period of Demographic Bonus in Central Asian countries based on different approaches
Figure 9: GDP per capita (constant 2015 US\$) in Central Asian countries
Figure 10: Labor force participation rate in Central Asian countries, total (% of total population ages 15-64)72
Figure 11: Egalitarian Democracy Index and Political Corruption Index in Central Asian countries
Figure 12: Poverty line (1.90\$/day) in Central Asian countries, headcount (%)82
Figure 13: Poverty reduction rates in Central Asian countries (3.2 \$ per day)83
Figure 14: Pre-tax national income (Gini coefficient) in Central Asian countries
Figure 15: Model Structure for Describing the First Demographic Dividend93
Figure 16: Proposed P-G-I-B Quadrangle framework105

List of Tables

Table 1: The main characteristics and policy action of each demographic transition step29
Table 2: Impact of demographic shift on development outcomes
Table 3: Channels of Demographic Dividends Impacting Economic Growth: Representative Variables in Empirical Studies
Table 4: Central Asian countries in the phase of demographic transition and demographic dividend
Table 5: The share of workers in economic sectors (% of total employment)73
Table 6: The share of urban population in Central Asian countries
Table 7: Remittance Data for Central Asian Countries
Table 8: Education indicators in Central Asian countries
Table 9: Female development indicators in Central Asian countries
Table 10: Share of employment by economic class (%, ILO modeled estimates, 2022)
Table 11: The share of total income of 10 of the richest
Table 12: Hausman test results
Table 13: Diagnostic Test Results 88
Table 14: Estimation techniques for addressing issues in linear panel models
Table 15: Data and sources for economic growth estimation
Table 16: Descriptive statistics of economic growth estimation variables
Table 17: Results of fixed effect estimation
Table 18: Principal component analysis: factor loading, eigenvalue, and variance explained
Table 19: Data and sources for poverty and inequality estimation
Table 20: Descriptive statistics of poverty and inequality estimation variables

Table 21: Regression results	117
Table 22: Robustness check	

Acknowledgments

My journey through the PhD program has been a mix of joys and challenges. I am immensely grateful for the unwavering support and guidance provided by my supervisor, Professor Berde Éva. Her encouragement, valuable advice, expertise, and adept research skills have been instrumental in overcoming obstacles and making this journey possible.

I express sincere gratitude to the Stipendium Hungarium Scholarship for affording me the chance to pursue and successfully complete my studies. A special thank you goes to Corvinus University of Budapest, including the professors and staff, the Doctoral School of Economics, Business, and Informatics, Head of doctoral school and program, who consistently offered assistance whenever needed. The Department of Economics, under the leadership of its head and the guidance of professors, played a crucial role in expanding my knowledge, and I am grateful for their contributions. The Doctoral Office was always supportive during these years that I am so grateful.

I reserve deep gratitude for my husband, whose unwavering support and patience have been my pillars of strength. To my beloved father, to whom I dedicate this thesis, your desire for your children's education and constant encouragement to pursue studies have left an enduring impact. Though you are not physically with us, you reside forever in my heart.

To my family—my loving mother, brother, and sister—your support and encouragement have been instrumental in bringing me to this point. I am profoundly thankful. And to my cherished son, your presence has given me the fortitude and resilience to navigate this journey.

Thank you to everyone who has played a part in my academic and personal journey. Your contributions are deeply appreciated.

1. Introduction

1.1. Importance of the topic

Over the past five decades, almost all countries of the world have undergone significant demographic transitions characterized by declining fertility and mortality rates. These transitions have had varying effects on economies, with developed countries facing aging populations, while less developed nations stand to benefit from demographic tailwinds, marked by an increasing share of the working-age population. The age structure, reflecting the relationship between the working-age population and dependents, is a robust indicator of future economic prospects (Gentile, 2007). In fact, the World Bank reported that in developed countries, human resources comprise 68% to 76% of total national wealth, highlighting their crucial role in economic development (World Bank, 2018b).

The period when the working-age population outnumbers dependents is commonly referred to as the "demographic window of opportunity" (Lee & Mason, 2010). This window signifies potential economic benefits that can be harnessed when a large proportion of the population is of working age, the so-called "demographic dividend" (Bloom et al., 2003; Bloom & Williamson, 1998), resulting in greater income generation than consumption (Gentile, 2007; Gribble & Bremner, 2012; Kelley & Schmidt, 2005).

It is important to define certain terms that will be used frequently throughout this thesis. Although these terms do not have universally accepted definitions, we will summarize how they are generally understood in the literature. The term "demographic dividend" typically refers to the economic growth potential that emerges when the share of the working-age population (typically defined as those aged 15 to 64) increases within the total population. As the share of the working-age population (WAP) grows, there is a corresponding decrease in the child dependency ratio (the ratio of people aged 0-14 to the working-age population) and the old-age dependency ratio (the ratio of people aged 65+ to the working-age population).

On the other hand, the term "demographic bonus" is generally broader than the demographic dividend, often highlighting the extra advantages of having a larger workforce. It suggests benefits such as higher economic productivity and an improved system of social security that can boost the economy.

During the demographic dividend, one can expect higher female labor force participation rates (Bloom et al., 2009), improved health and longevity, enhanced labor force productivity, and, in the optimal case, reduced poverty and inequality (Barros et al., 2000; Cruz & Ahmed, 2016; Kelley & Schmidt, 2005; Merrick, 2002). This may also lead to increased physical capital per worker expenditure (Mason et al., 2016), and greater investments in human capital—key components of the demographic dividend (Bloom & Williamson, 1998).

Central Asian countries, including Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan, like many other parts of the world, are undergoing changes in their age distributions, with a rising proportion of their populations entering the working-age cohort. How these countries capitalize on this demographic shift, leverage their youthful populations, and navigate the accompanying socio-economic challenges will significantly shape their future trajectories.

This region, characterized by diverse cultures, ethnicities, and socio-economic contexts, is experiencing both the challenges and opportunities that come with changing population structures. "Despite having a similar demographic background for economic growth, these countries differ from each other by their level of socio-economic development. Kazakhstan has the largest area and the least population density, accounting for approximately 51% of the total regional GDP, most of which the country receives from oil. Uzbekistan has the largest population, accounting for 45% of the total population of the region. Kyrgyzstan and Turkmenistan have almost the same population. However, Turkmenistan is a desert country with large energy reserves, especially natural gas, which accounts for 16% of the regional GDP. Kyrgyzstan, on the other hand, is a small mountainous country with few natural resources except water, hydropower, and some gold, which account for 5% of regional GDP. Tajikistan is similar to Kyrgyzstan in terms of resources and size but is even poorer and more isolated (Aytmagambetova, 2009)."¹</sup>

The region's countries are not just blessed with natural resources but also have a favourable population age structure. The initial phase of the demographic dividend has commenced in each country, with a rise in the proportion of working-age individuals offering macroeconomic advantages. However, the demographic opportunity could turn into a negative factor for economic growth once these relatively large cohorts of the population retire from the labour market, even if this will happen only a few generations later. Experiences from other countries undergoing this transition suggest that this demographic bonus will not last

¹ The paragraph is based on Kurbanova (2022)

indefinitely. Rising life expectancies and declining fertility rates will eventually lead to aging challenges, causing these countries to converge quickly with European countries in terms of the share of older people. For instance, advanced economies took a longer length of time to transition into hyper-aged societies², with examples including Japan (11 years), Canada (14 years), the United States (16 years), France (29 years), Germany (37 years), and the United Kingdom (51 years) (Huang et al., 2019). In contrast, developing countries are undergoing these demographic shifts at an accelerated pace, as seen with the Republic of Korea and the People's Republic of China, which will become hyper-aged societies in just 10 years (Chu & Yeh, 2021).

Signs of aging have already become apparent in Central Asian countries. In 2020, the median age of the population in Central Asia was 27.6 years old (Worldometer, 2021), and this is expected to increase in the coming decades. Additionally, the emigration of younger generations accelerates the ageing process more rapidly (Bussolo et al., 2015). For example, Kazakhstan's age structure is about to enter a new phase of development. The structure of the dependency ratio will undergo a significant shift, with the child dependency ratio dropping from 79.2% to 62.2% and the old-age dependency ratio increasing from 20.8% in 2019 to 37.8% in 2050 (UNFPA, 2019).

Nevertheless, Central Asian countries can still benefit from the positive trends of the first demographic dividend. "Fertility rates are falling, and if these rates permanently approach the level of Japan, China, or the Republic of Korea in the distant future, the situation is expected to worsen. Due to the extremely low fertility rate and rising life expectancy in Japan, China, and Korea, the first demographic dividend's window of opportunity has closed"³. For instance, in Japan, economic growth almost stagnated from 1992 to 2012, with GDP growth of 0.22% due to the 20% increase in the elderly population (Jafrin et al., 2021). Therefore, addressing the challenges posed by an older population and slower economic growth due to a higher relative number of older individuals requires timely action during the demographic window of opportunity (UNFPA, 2019).

Looking at the experience of the East Asian countries (Hong Kong, Singapore, South Korea, and Thailand), one can see valuable lessons learned from the demographic dividend (Mason & Kinugasa, 2008). The demographic transition transpired from the 1950s to the 1970s and had a shorter duration compared to other regions. From 1965 to 1990, the GDP per capita

² The World Health Organization (WHO) classified societies as aging, aged, or hyper-aged if more than 7%, 14%, or 20% of the population is 65 years of age or older, respectively.

³ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2020)

of the East Asian countries rose by an average of 6.1% yearly (Eastwood & Lipton, 2011), with 1.37% to 1.87% attributed to changes in the age structure (Bloom & Williamson, 1998). Other estimates suggest that the demographic dividend contributed from 25% to 40% to overall growth in the so-called East Asian Tiger economies. South Korea, in particular, transformed its economic landscape during the demographic shift. In the early 1960s, Korea had low economic development, with a per capita income of around \$100 and a population growth rate of 3% annually. This caused problems such as unemployment, job shortages, and widespread poverty, affecting nearly 40% of the population (Kim, 1991). During the demographic shift, the fertility rate declined to 2 children per woman in 1983, significantly below replacement level, and the labor force increased by 2.7%, accounting for roughly one-third of the economic growth (Bloom et al., 2003). Through proper economic planning, the country raised its per capita GDP to \$33719 by 2022 (adjusted to constant 2015 price levels, US\$ (World Bank, 2023)), which is more than 30 times higher than in 1960 (World Bank, 2023), and shifted from a poor agrarian country to an industrial high-income country (Lee & Lee, 2013).

However, if countries fail to harness this demographic opportunity and face challenges, the situation can worsen during the transition, potentially leading to fiscal problems for governments unable to meet older generations' obligations. This challenge is currently affecting the economies of Latin America and the Caribbean, where rapid population aging is occurring alongside insufficient preparations to ensure sustainable growth. Despite progress in gender equality, health, education, poverty reduction, increased GDP per capita, and the provision of basic services, high levels of inequality persist in the region. As the demographic dividend wanes in the context of rapidly aging populations, Latin America and the Caribbean are poised to confront budgetary and economic issues along with additional challenges, including heightened inequality, slower economic progress, and a faster pace of population aging (Turra & Fernandes, 2020).

Indeed, the process of demographic transition, along with its benefits, presents challenges. It may worsen the structural weakness of some regions, mainly Central Asia, where the unemployment rate is high, followed by the highest level of poverty (Jha & Dang, 2009). Particularly after the collapse of the Soviet Union, these countries went through a difficult path toward achieving independence and faced challenges and difficulties. The transition process of transforming socialist-oriented and centrally planned economic policies toward market-oriented policies has accelerated poverty (Jha & Dang, 2009; Keller & Heller, 2011), making it one of the poorest regions around the world. It is noteworthy to mention that a decade ago, one-third of the population in Central Asia was living at the absolute poverty level (Hayes, 2014).

Although rapid economic growth has lifted the majority of the population out of poverty in Central Asia, some countries in the region are still struggling to alleviate it (Khitakhunov, 2020a; Seitz, 2019). Among other Central Asian countries, only Kazakhstan has achieved a significant reduction in poverty after its independence; the extreme poverty rate (\$1.90 a day) is almost zero. However, the country is vulnerable to economic shocks as it depends on commodity prices and loans from international organizations, which make progress in reducing poverty more challenging. In addition, the economies of Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan also largely depend on the recipients of remittances.

Thus, it is extremely important to know what socio-economic and demographic factors contribute to or hinder economic growth and poverty reduction in these countries, particularly during the demographic window of opportunity (Nansadiqa et al., 2019; Zhang, 2021). The concept of a demographic dividend seems reasonable and simple to comprehend at first. Additionally, the idea appears to be a perfect fit for development policy. Planning and harvesting a demographic dividend, however, based on target-oriented (political) acts is significantly more complex than it first appears. Moreover, contrary to what the basic idea might imply, the potentially significant variables for a demographic dividend are less susceptible and more complicated (Hilbig et al., 2022).

Despite the challenges associated with demographic transitions, Central Asian countries have a rare window of opportunity to achieve their long-term goal of becoming upper-middle-income nations. The region presents a unique backdrop to explore these complexities, and if successful, these economies could mirror the success stories of East Asian nations that capitalized on similar demographic windows of opportunity (IMF, 2018). Indeed, the region has favourable circumstances to translate today's demographic realities into tomorrow's economic prosperity.

While demographic changes in the former USSR's member states have been extensively covered in literature (Sidorenko, 2019), post-Soviet Central Asia has not received nearly as much attention. Several recent studies have explored fertility behaviour, productivity growth, and human capital (Isaeva et al., 2021; Nedoluzhko, 2021; Yormirzoev, 2021), with a focus on economic growth of Central Asian countries. However, the impact of changing age structures on economic growth, poverty, and inequality has been absent from studies conducted in the area.

Regardless of the importance of the topic, almost none of the literature on Central Asian demography has been appropriately examined especially with empirical rigour, and the region

is highly understudied in the literature. Thus, providing further information could be a very useful contribution.

Besides, we can contribute to the existing literature by expanding the geographical area of demographic dividend by including Central Asia. "This topic is well documented in the cases of East Asian, European, and African countries (Bloom & Williamson, 1998; Eastwood & Lipton, 2011; Kelley & Schmidt, 2005; Misra, 2015). Thus, our initial goal in the current research is to test whether this positive relationship is also valid in the case of Central Asia and provide the direction of policy implications to achieve maximum growth during this potential period.

Additionally, the effect of the governance effectiveness indicator during an agestructure transition has received less attention. Although there is a lot of literature mentioning the importance of its contribution to economic growth, work on an empirical estimation is still relatively rare, particularly regarding this area. Therefore, the second goal of this thesis is to present a more comprehensive economic growth, poverty, and inequality model that includes demographic, economic, human capital, and governance indicators at a regional level. By adding the governance effectiveness indicators, the paper provides a practical test of the hypothesis of whether governance factors matter for economic growth in Central Asia (Coppedge et al., 2021; Lindberg, 2015). Through analysis, we intend to investigate how the phenomenon known as "the demographic window of opportunity" plays out differently in Central Asian countries. Moreover, our aim is to discover what reasons lie behind the demographic dividend's differing results in these countries".⁴

To fill the research gap and achieve our objectives, in this thesis, we will examine the effects of the demographic window of opportunity in different directions: economic growth, poverty, and inequality. Initially, we will examine how the shifting demographic composition affects economic growth. The same phase of the first demographic dividend allows us to identify the main drivers of economic growth by examining data from the five Central Asian states in single panel estimation through appropriate methods.

The next direction of the research is to analyze the impact of the demographic transition on the reduction of poverty and inequality in Central Asia. Poverty in the context of ageing poses serious challenges. While the economies of all countries in the region are growing, the fight against poverty has stagnated. The central question revolves around whether this stagnation is attributed to the rising number of working-age individuals or if the region can

⁴ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023).

harness this demographic change to effectively diminish poverty. Also, we will explore what challenges are hindering efforts to alleviate poverty and inequality.

Our thesis includes a published chapter in the "Post-Communist Economies"⁵ journal.

The global COVID-19 pandemic during my PhD journey prompted an exploration of ageism in the regional context, particularly the worsening situation of the older generation. This led to a focus on ageism issues, closely connected to the demographic dividend and intergenerational relationships. The coexistence of a youthful demographic dividend and ageism raised questions about their interplay and potential impacts on socio-economic wellbeing in Central Asia. To explore further, we conducted research on intergenerational relationships in Central Asian countries, comparing ageism levels during critical times like the pandemic. Collaborating with a peer, our joint research resulted in the publication of our first article in the "Regional Science Policy & Practice"⁶ journal. Subsequently, my interest extended to ageism in other Central Asian countries, leading to the preparation of our next article⁷. The findings of these ageism papers revealed its existence in Central Asia, primarily linked to financial problems.

Indeed, maximizing the benefits of the demographic window of opportunity helps to improve the overall well-being of people and, at the same time, their interactions with each other, especially with older people. This approach can help mitigate ageism issues and prepare societies for future ageing challenges. Working on ageism topics allows us to prove how the demographic dividend topic is crucial for Central Asia. Through our thesis, we will endeavor to identify potential policy interventions and societal strategies that could help Central Asian countries harness their demographic dividends more effectively while promoting intergenerational understanding and respect. By addressing ageism and optimizing the demographic dividend, these nations can aspire to inclusive and prosperous futures, fostering solidarity among generations.

⁵ Berde, É., & Kurbanova, M. (2023). Does the demographic dividend with human capital development yield an economic dividend? Evidence from Central Asia. *Post-Communist Economies*, *35*(2), 154-178.

⁶ Berde, É., Kovács, E., & Kurbanova, M. (2023). The two-sided paradox of ageism during the COVID-19 pandemic: The cases of Hungary, Tunisia and Uzbekistan. *Regional Science Policy & Practice*, *15*(3), 606-625.

⁷ Kurbanova, M., & Berde, É. (2024). Intergenerational Interaction, Financial Well-Being, and Ageism in Kazakhstan During Covid Pandemic. Journal of Intergenerational Relationships, 1-17.

1.2. Research questions and hypotheses

As previously mentioned, the phenomenon of the "demographic dividend" manifests uniquely across countries, even those within the same geographical area or continent. This raises a crucial practical question: Can these countries, with diverse economic structures and ethnic compositions, effectively harness the benefits of the demographic dividend?

To unravel the complexities surrounding the impact of demographic dividends in Central Asia, this thesis poses several key research questions:

- How do shifts in population structures influence economic growth patterns in Central Asian countries?
- What role does demographic change play in shaping poverty reduction initiatives within the region?

These questions serve as guiding pillars for an in-depth exploration of the intricate relationships between demography, economics, and social dynamics. Consequently, the following hypotheses have been developed to address the research questions. A detailed description of the hypotheses provided in the fifth and sixth parts of the thesis.

For the first empirical part:

Hypothesis 1: The same demographic and economic variables that have influenced the first demographic dividend in other countries are also crucial in Central Asia.

Hypothesis 2: In the Central Asian countries where there are many contradictory economic forces, other variables like the level of democracy and the level of corruption also play a vital role in determining whether the first demographic dividend can exert its effect.

For the second empirical part:

Hypothesis 1: A higher share of the working-age population will lead to a reduction in poverty rates.

Hypothesis 2: An increasing share of the working-age individuals will initially reduce income inequality.

Hypothesis 3: Bribery will be positively correlated with higher poverty rates and income inequality.

Hypothesis 4: Poverty and inequality can be decreased with good governance.

These hypotheses are formulated to guide the empirical analysis, aiming to provide insights into the specific dynamics of demographic dividends in Central Asia. Through systematic examination, the thesis endeavours to contribute valuable knowledge that can inform policy interventions and strategic approaches for these countries, considering their unique economic and demographic landscapes.

1.3. Overview methodology of research

This research employs a comprehensive and multi-disciplinary methodology to address the identified research questions using data from international organizations. After providing a historical overview of Central Asian countries through graphs and tables since the dissolution of the Soviet Union, we employ econometric tools to analyse the situation in more detail. Utilizing a panel fixed-effects model with Driscoll-Kraay-corrected robust standard errors, the study seeks to provide a nuanced understanding of the intricate relationships between demographic dividends, economic growth, poverty reduction, and inequality. The choice of method depends on the characteristics of the panel data.

Prior to selecting this econometric technique, several tests were conducted, including Hausman's (1978) specification test to determine whether fixed or random effects are appropriate for the estimation. Additionally, preliminary diagnostic checks were performed, such as Pesaran's (2004) CD test and Breusch-Pagan Lagrange Multiplier test for cross-sectional dependence, the Heteroscedasticity Modified Wald test for groupwise heteroskedasticity in fixed effect regression model, the Breusch-Pagan / Cook-Weisberg test for heteroskedasticity, and Wooldridge's (2002) test for autocorrelation. Based on the test results and panel data features, the recommended method is the panel fixed-effects model with Driscoll-Kraay standard errors.

Driscoll and Kraay (1998) provide a non-parametric covariance matrix estimator that yields standard errors. This method has many advantages, such as being resistant to a variety of spatial and temporal dependency patterns, consistent with heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation, and effective in handling missing data. Unlike the original covariance matrix estimator of Driscoll and Kraay's (1998), the current tool deals with balanced and unbalanced panels. Additionally, it is appropriate for studies with a long time period and fewer countries,

aligning with the characteristics of our study, ultimately enhancing the precision of inference and improving the statistical validity of the estimates (Hoechle, 2007).

1.4. Contribution of the thesis to the existing body of knowledge

This thesis contributes to the existing knowledge base by illuminating the oftenoverlooked interplay between demographic dividends, economic growth, and poverty in Central Asia.

As highlighted earlier, despite the significance of the subject, the literature on Central Asian demography lacks thorough examination with empirical rigor, resulting in a considerable gap in scholarly understanding. Therefore, providing additional information on this topic is a valuable contribution in itself.

"Our empirical research has the following distinct features: First, we show that the macroeconomic effect of a changing age structure does not depend only on human capital and utilizing labour force capabilities, but also on institutional factors. Second, despite having similar demographic transition processes, the countries differ in terms of their capacities to harness the demographic dividend. Therefore, we show which factors are creating obstacles to attaining the demographic dividend in Central Asian countries by conducting a cross-country comparison. This allows us to understand the conspicuous causes of challenges in the area"⁸.

Moreover, there is limited existing evidence exploring and elucidating the dynamic nexus between the demographic dividend, "good governance," and corruption and bribery in these emerging nations using panel data. The novelty of this study lies in integrating bribery into the research framework of the Poverty-Growth-Inequality triangle, considering the enhancement of good governance in realizing a demographic dividend. This expansion of the research scope in institutional economics introduces the Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery quadrangle.

Finally, beyond delivering new insights into the viable factors that have capitalized on the demographic window of opportunity in Central Asian countries, this study can provide actionable insights for policymakers, researchers, and practitioners. The findings can be

⁸ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023).

instrumental in shaping demographic policies within the region, fostering informed decisionmaking, and contributing to the overall socio-economic development of Central Asia.

1.5. Structure of the thesis

The thesis is organized into distinct sections to ensure a cohesive exploration of the research questions.

Chapter 1 of the thesis provides an overview of demographic transition, its impact on economic growth and poverty, and insights from well-managed countries. Additionally, it outlines the significance of the research, introduces research questions and hypotheses, and provides a brief overview of the methodology.

The next chapter covers a comprehensive review of existing theories, empirical studies, and key concepts related to demographic dividends, economic growth, and poverty. It establishes the conceptual framework for demographic dividends and identifies their components. The chapter also reviews relevant studies on demography and poverty, with a specific focus on identifying research gaps in Central Asian countries.

Chapter 3 offers preliminary insights into Central Asian countries, including their history, demographic trends, economic background, and development path. It compares the development levels of economic and human capital indicators, addressing the main challenges for each country separately.

Chapter 4 outlines the research methodology, detailing the nature of the data, the econometric methods, and the analytical tools used to evaluate the data. It also describes preliminary diagnostic tests, including the Hausman test for model specification, Cross-Sectional Dependence tests to check for interdependencies among cross-sections, tests for serial correlation, and tests for detecting heteroskedasticity. Based on the results of these tests, the selected methodology is thoroughly described. Additionally, the chapter explores alternative methods used to verify the reliability of the results.

Subsequent chapter focuses on the empirical analysis, examining the impact of demographic dividends on economic growth. The methodological framework, hypotheses, and data description are introduced. This is followed by the introduction of the estimated model, the results, and a discussion of these findings in light of previous research.

In Chapter 6, we examine the impact of the demographic dividend, with a specific focus on its relationship with poverty and inequality. The theoretical framework and hypothesis development are introduced, followed by the data description. We outline the model formulation and the chosen estimation strategy. After that, we provide the estimated model's outcomes and a detailed discussion. Also, the reliability of the results will be checked by alternative methods.

The final chapter is the conclusion, which involves a concise summary of the research discoveries and their theoretical and practical ramifications. It makes recommendations for policy, highlights the significance of the study, admits its shortcomings, and identifies possible directions for further investigation.

2. Literature review

2.1. Demographic transition and its stages

Numerous scholarly works have been written about the demographic transition. "One of the most cited, and probably the first example, is Thompson (1929), which provided a foundational definition of the demographic transition. Later, those ideas were used in Notestein's (1945) articles and subsequently reintroduced with some modifications by Kirk (1996). A shift in mortality and fertility rates from high to low is known as the demographic transition. As a result, the age distribution of the population changes, and life expectancy increases (Caldwell, 2006; Lee, 2003). This phenomenon can occur at different times for each country. Developed countries experienced it before the rest of the world, while in developing and low-income countries, this process began only in the second half of the twentieth century (Lee, 2003)"⁹.

Typically, the demographic transition is elucidated using the Demographic Transition Model, a conceptual framework delineating historical and anticipated shifts in population patterns during the progression from pre-industrial to industrialized economic systems. Researchers frequently utilize this model to investigate economic and social policies within and across countries. It serves as a valuable tool for analysing a nation's current population dynamics across various stages. Theoretically, the demographic transition is divided into five stages, based on the interplay between birth and death rates (Cole, 2019; Notestein, 1945).

The initial stage, which is the so-called pre-industrial or "high stationary"¹⁰ phase, is characterized by high birth and death rates, very low life expectancy, and very slow population growth due to illness, hunger, and war. The agricultural sector is dominant in society. The United States and Western European countries in the 1800s could be examples of this, but currently, no country belongs to this stage.

The "early expanding" level, which is the second stage, is distinguished by a falling death rate but still high birth rates that cause a large increase in the population. A fall in mortality, especially in infancy, is thanks to the development of sanitation and health care, which also caused a decline in diseases and increased average life expectancy. In addition,

⁹ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023).

¹⁰ This term was used by Blacker (1947)

agricultural methods and food supply have improved, and the transportation industry has progressed. Afghanistan and some of the sub-Saharan countries might be examples of this stage.

In stage three, birth rates decline gradually due to widespread access to contraception and urbanization. The quality of medical care has increased thanks to technological advances, which have decreased the death rate. Furthermore, women's advanced education and increased participation in the labour market influenced family size. And especially in developed countries, the cost of raising a child has become so high that it has caused a decrease in fertility (Popli, 2021). Population growth is starting to decrease. Most of the developing countries are in this stage.

Low birth and death rates are a defining feature of the fourth stage. As a result, society begins to age, and this poses a threat to some industries that are in need of a labor force. Countries at this stage have a better education system, healthcare, and a greater proportion of women engaged in earning activities. The United States, Iran, Turkey, and newly industrialized countries are currently in this stage.

The last stage is based on the fact that the fertility rate is falling further, and the share of older people is extending from the young population. In some countries, like Germany, Hungary, Japan, and Italy, the birth rate falls even below the replacement level and the total population shrinks.

The Demographic Transition Model, as discussed above, delineates stages based on fertility and mortality rates. Practically, the reason behind infant survival is medical and economic progress. Most of the time, the fall in the mortality rate is considered a twin transition to a decline in fertility and an increase in economic growth. However, some researchers reject the decrease in infant mortality from demographic transition stimulators. For instance, Barro and Becker (1989) as well as Becker and Barro (1988) standard models, Aksan and Chakraborty (2014), Clark and Cummins (2009, 2015), Doepke (2005), Fernandez-Villaverde (2001), and Galor (2012) theoretical research works are among them. Also, Caldwell (2006) highlights in his empirical study that it is impossible to explain declining fertility through mortality because theoretically its effects are unclear and contradictory practically. Mühlhoff (2022) showed that the effect of infant mortality on fertility is an implausible assumption by incorporating the life history theory and an endogenous growth model.

"On the other hand, there is evidence that the above-mentioned stages can affect economic growth through an inverted U-shaped relationship, and it is known as a demographic U-hypothesis. The initial three stages contribute positively to economic growth as labor supply and savings increase continuously, creating a so-called window of opportunity; however, the last stages lead to an aging society through less labor supply and a decreasing saving rate (Mehmood et al., 2012). In some other literature, the relationship between fertility and economic growth is considered an algebraic relationship of a quadratic function, which means the initial effect of fertility reduction encourages economic growth, but later it reduces (Cai, 2010)"¹¹.

Throughout history, humans have observed structural transitions, which are characterized by shifting labor from agriculture to manufacturing and services, have had an impact on population transitions (Kuznets, 1957; Lewis, 1954). Scholars have extensively explored the impact of structural transformation on declines in both fertility and mortality rates (Chatterjee & Vogl, 2018; Greenwood & Seshadri, 2002; Lucas Jr, 2018). On the other hand, there is little empirical support for the vice-versa scenario (Barham et al., 2022). Due to medical technologies, birth rates are falling, and this process is faster than it has happened in industrialized countries (Delventhal et al., 2021). Moreover, a demographic transition may outpace structural transformation. Thus, understanding its impact on economic growth is crucial, which we will highlight in the coming section.

Furthermore, demographic transition plays a relevant role in magnifying international migration flows. The world is experiencing enormous migration flows from less developing countries to developed countries, which are linked to an increasing working-age population in source countries and a decline in host countries (Martin, 2009).

An intriguing aspect lies in the demographic transition of Central Asia, which unfolds uniquely due to its historical ties to the Soviet Union and subsequent transition to independent states. These distinct circumstances have shaped demographic shifts in Central Asia and influenced its economic development. We will provide further information regarding this in the following section.

2.2. Demographic dividend

Empirical evidence on the impact of demographic transitions on the economy presents a mixed picture. For instance, "several studies have argued that population change can magnify, reduce, or not affect economic growth at all. Classical economics claims that population growth negatively impacts per capita income due to capital dilution, which is known as a pessimist

¹¹ The part is based on Kurbanova (2022)

view (Ahituv, 2001; Ahmed & Ahmad, 2016; Birdsall, 1988; Brander & Dowrick, 1994; Ehrlich & Lui, 1997; Herzer et al., 2012; Hirchman, 1958; Kelley & Schmidt, 1994; Li & Zhang, 2007). On the other hand, optimists believe that population growth can accelerate economic growth (Boserup, 1981; Darrat & Al-Yousif, 1999; Kuznets, 1967; Ogunleye et al., 2018; Peter & Bakari, 2018), while neutralists opine that economic growth is independent of population size (Kapuria-Foreman, 1995; Kelley & Schmidt, 1994). Furthermore, a revisionist perspective posits that population growth has a detrimental impact on economic growth. This could be due to a lack of favourable economic policies and governance effectiveness, an unequal distribution of resources, a high level of corruption, or the low social and economic status of women (Merrick, 2002; Todaro & Smith, 2006)"¹².

Children born in the early stages of demographic transition eventually join the labor force. When the growth rate of the labor force surpasses that of the dependent population, it becomes feasible to allocate more resources to economic development. As a consequence, it may result in rapid economic growth, which has been highlighted in empirical studies. "For instance, Bloom and Williamson (1998) showed that as a result of shifts in fertility and mortality, the age structure changes, which can accelerate economic growth. This phenomenon is known as a "demographic dividend", and it occurs when the number of working-age people increases faster than the number of dependents. This process accelerates economic growth by increasing per capita output (Bloom et al., 2001; Mason, 2001)"¹³.

Demographic dividends often come with the terms "demographic gift" or "window of opportunity". The time period of occurrence of the window of opportunity is defined differently by various researchers based on the total dependency ratio¹⁴ (Ogawa et al., 2021). For example, Cheung et al. (2004) highlighted that when the dependency ratio is less than 0.5, then the country will be in a stage of demographic bonus. Similarly, Komine and Kabe (2009) also proposed the criterion that when the dependency ratio is continuously falling with the passage of time, the country is experiencing a demographic bonus. In contrast, Golini (2004) uses a somewhat different definition of the overall reliance ratio¹⁵ and for those in the demographic bonus stage, this ratio should be below 0.66. Additionally, the United Nations defines the period for the "demographic window" for countries. This stage occurs when the proportion of the

¹² This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023).

¹³ The same

¹⁴ Note: the age dependency ratio is defined as: [(those aged 0-14) + (those aged 65+)]/(those aged 15-64)

¹⁵ Note: the age dependency ratio is defined as: [(those aged 0-14) + (those aged 60+)]/((those aged 15-59))

population aged under 15 years old is below 30% and people aged 65 and over are below 15% (UN, 2004).

In the next chapter, we will employ these methodologies to pinpoint the time frame of the demographic bonus in Central Asian countries. However, Ogawa et al. (2021) argue that traditional total dependency ratios and their variations, which treat all individuals equally regardless of age, are relatively imprecise indicators for measuring how age-related structural shifts impact economic growth. It was proposed to employ the National Transfer Accounts (NTA) system database to determine the "first demographic dividend" more accurately as opposed to the "demographic bonus". Unfortunately, due to the unavailability of NTA data for Central Asian countries, we are unable to adopt this proposed method.

Looking back to history, during the 1950s and 1960s in several East Asian countries, the total fertility rate fell and there were fewer dependents, resulting in unprecedented economic growth. For instance, per capita gross domestic product increased nearly 2,200 percent in the Republic of Korea, and 970 percent growth was observed in Thailand's GDP from 1950 to 2008. Currently, about 60 countries are experiencing demographic shifts, which creates a window of opportunity to reap economic growth if the right social and economic policies are applied (UNFPA, 2020). Central Asian countries are also among those countries that require investigation in order to implement precise actions.

There have been numerous empirical studies that have investigated the link between population age structure and economic growth. Following the pioneering work of Bloom and Williamson (1998), the empirical studies in this area became relatively wide. It is noteworthy that the majority of these studies support the claim that there is a positive effect of an increasing working-age share of the population on economic growth (Eastwood & Lipton, 2011; Kelley & Schmidt, 2005; Misra, 2015). In the section that follows, a comprehensive list of researchers studying how the demographic dividend affects economic growth will be provided.

2.2.1. First and second demographic dividends

First demographic dividend. "The process of impacting the demographic transition on economic growth is related to the first and second "demographic dividend" (Lee & Mason, 2006). The first demographic dividend (DD) is used when the share of the working-age population (which covers people aged 15 to 64) is increasing in the total population and, as a result, production exceeds consumption. An increase in the working-age population (WAP)

results in a decrease in child dependency (the ratio of people aged 0-14 and the working-age population) and the old-age dependency ratios (the ratio of people aged 65+ and the working-age population), which is considered a transitory bonus (Abío et al., 2017)"¹⁶. More precisely, the demographic change is a period in each country when fertility and mortality rates fall from high to low levels. However, the speed and duration of this period vary across countries (Ogawa et al., 2021). "Countries with the greatest demographic opportunity for development are those entering a period in which the working-age population has good health, access to quality education, decent opportunities for employment, and a lower proportion of young dependents (Bloom & Canning, 2004; Bloom et al., 2004).

Second demographic dividend. The second demographic dividend provides a further source of growth for a country once the first demographic dividend has already been exploited, especially through effective demographic and economic policies. During the second demographic dividend period, fertility continues to decline but life expectancy increases, thus the working-age share of the population begins to decline. A smaller number of children per household generally leads to larger investments per child (Joshi & Schultz, 2007; Turbat, 2017), and family welfare provides more freedom for women to enter the formal workforce (Bailey, 2006), which later leads to increased income (Lee & Mason, 2006), higher labor supply per capita (Bloom et al., 2009), and more household savings for old age (UNFPA, Gupta, 2014). The latter is known as one of the components of the so-called second demographic dividend (Cruz & Ahmed, 2018; Lee & Mason, 2006)^{*17}.

An increase in the saving behaviour of younger generations and the exploitation of assets accumulated by older adults lead to per capita income growth and, overall, a rise in the economy's saving rate (Mason & Lee, 2006). As the country has a high saving rate, it can be leveraged to raise investments per worker in both human and physical capital. As a result, the second demographic dividend leads to improved production growth and sustainable development, which have long-term advantages (Apella, 2021). Moreover, as a result of increased longevity, seniors tend to live longer and are healthier, which allows them to work longer than the usual retirement age, raising the number of people in the labor force and, in turn, reducing the demographic load of older people (Sidorenko, 2019). According to the European Commission et al. (2018), another possibility of benefiting from an aging society is

¹⁶ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2020)

¹⁷ The same

to focus on the so-called "silver economy", which produces goods and services for an increasing segment of older people.

The country will experience an aging issue and see fewer economic advantages if the second demographic dividend is not effectively handled and the proportion of the working-age population begins to decline (Lee et al., 2009). In countries experiencing the second demographic dividend, efforts must be made to address the situation where the share of the working-age population decreases. This is crucial to prevent the risk of the country stagnating in a middle-income trap equilibrium due to demographic dynamics (Apella, 2021).

In a nutshell, the first demographic dividend influences the availability of workers, creating circumstances that encourage economic growth during the demographic bonus era. On the other hand, the economy's ability to save and invest money, build up physical and human capital, and increase overall factor productivity are all indirectly impacted by the second demographic dividend (Apella, 2021).

Policy implications also differ at each demographic dividend stage. For instance, in the first demographic dividend, economic policies should be focused on expanding demand for labor, while in the second dividend, economic policies should be directed to expanding savings (e.g., pensions, financial markets) (World Bank, 2019).

2.2.2. Typology of demographic dividend

In 2016, the World Bank (World Bank & International Monetary Fund, 2016) and various scholars (Ahmed, Cruz, Quillan, et al., 2016) categorized countries based on their demographic characteristics, specifically the share of the working-age population and the fertility rate, with a focus on the first and second demographic dividends (Lee & Mason, 2006). This typology captures the ability of countries to harness the demographic dividend. And the world can be split into four sorts of countries based on this typology.

• Pre-dividend countries. When the fertility rates are more or equal to four babies per woman, then these countries have not yet entered the first demographic dividend stage. They still experience high population growth and a high child dependency ratio, and their human development indicators are low. Low-income countries are in this stage. When the current babies reach working age, then these countries can experience the first demographic dividend.

• Early-dividend countries. The fertility rate falls below four births per woman, and the share of the working-age population starts to increase slowly. The opportunity for the first demographic dividend has recently happened or will occur in the near future following a reduction in youth population share. Lower-middle-income countries are experiencing a current demographic shift where they have to focus on capturing the emerging demographic dividend.

• Late-dividend countries. Even though fertility rates are normally higher than replacement levels (2.1 children per woman), they are on the decline. Their overall age structures are still advantageous for the first demographic dividend despite decreasing working-age individuals' proportions. Due to their rapid ageing, these countries are about to enter the final phase of the demographic transition, so reaping the second demographic dividend is needed. Currently, upper-middle countries are in this stage.

• Post-dividend countries. The fertility rate is below the replacement rate, and the share of the working-age population is continuously declining while the share of older people is increasing. They have passed the first demographic dividend but still have some chance to benefit from the second demographic dividend through savings and investment.

In order to benefit the existing demographic transition at each step, different policy actions are needed (World Bank, 2019). In Table 1, we highlight the characteristics of each step and summarize the main policy priorities to guide countries in maximizing their demographic dividends.

		1		
	Pre-dividend	Early-dividend	Late-dividend	Post-dividend
	countries	countries	countries	countries
Main	TFR≥4	TFR<4	TFR≥2.1	TFR<2.1
characteristics				
Policy actions	triggering the	Job creation: to	Sustainable	Adjusting for
	demographic shift:	harness the first	productivity growth:	ageing: adapting
	enhancing human	demographic	creating an enabling	the welfare state
	development that	dividend, the	environment to	for an ageing
	creates a favorable	creation of jobs	benefit from the	society*
	age structure with	is required for	second demographic	
	fewer children and	the increasing	dividend and starting	
	a larger working-	working-age	to plan for aging	
	age population	population.		
Countries in	Low-income	lower-middle-	upper-middle	Most of the
this stage	countries	income	countries	industrialized
		countries		countries

 Table 1: The main characteristics and policy action of each demographic

 transition step

Source: own research

*A recent study by demographic researchers (Ogawa et al., 2021) argues that ageing countries can still benefit from demographic transition through an increasing retirement age, which can cope with the shortage of human capital. This stage leads to what is termed the "silver demographic dividend" or the "third demographic dividend", where the unrealized potential of healthy seniors will be utilized through employment.

2.3. Economic growth and demographic dividend

2.3.1. Mathematical modelling of the demographic dividend

Over time, academics have developed a methodical evaluation of the demographic dividend based on the concept of the first and second dividends, mainly relies on a country's demographic transition stage. This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of several approaches and strategies employed in this context. While various approaches exist, this chapter specifically highlights commonly used methods that assess how changes in population age structure influence the increase in per capita income.

The relationship between the working-age structure and economic growth is represented as follows (Bloom et al., 2007; Bloom & Williamson, 1998).

$$\frac{Y_t}{N_t} = \frac{Y_t}{WAP_t} \frac{WAP_t}{N_t} \tag{1}$$

Where Y – income, N – total population, and WAP – number of working age population; respectively, $\frac{Y_t}{N_t}$ denotes income per capita, $\frac{Y_t}{WAP_t}$ output per worker, or labor productivity, $\frac{WAP_t}{N_t}$ support ratio.

To further analyse these relationships, we take the logarithm of the equation (1), which can be expressed as follows:

 $\log\left(\frac{Y_t}{N_t}\right) = \log\left(\frac{Y_t}{WAP_t}\right) + \log\left(\frac{WAP_t}{N_t}\right) \text{ this can be rewritten as follows: } y=z+w - \text{ growth}$ rate of income per capita.

The steady-state level of income per capita can be expressed as follows:

$$y^* = z^* + w \tag{2}$$

Where, z^* - the steady-state level of income per working-age population, which could be indicated as $z^* = \beta x$, where x – vector consists of a set of variables that determine steadystate income per working age population. Then, the equation (2) can be rewritten as: $y^* = \beta x + w$ (3)

As we know Barro and Sala-i-Martin's (2003) economic growth formula is based on that each nation experiences economic growth as it converges from its initial position to its steady state and is expressed as follows:

$$\Delta y = \lambda (y^* - y_{-1}) \tag{4}$$

If we apply equation (3) to equation (4), we will get:

$$\Delta y = \lambda(\beta x + w - y_{-1}) \tag{5}$$

Later on Bloom and Canning (2004) modified the equation (1) by adding the labor force participation rate. Thus, the new equation is as follows:

$$\frac{Y_t}{N_t} = \frac{Y_t}{L_t} \frac{WAP_t}{N_t} \frac{L_t}{WAP_t} \tag{6}$$

This means output per worker times the percentage of people who are working age to the total population times the participation rate adds up to income per capita. After taking the logarithm of the equation (6) and representing it in terms of growth, we have:

$$g_y = g_z + g_w + g_l \tag{7}$$

Where, g_y income per capita growth, g_z productivity growth per worker, g_w growth of share WAP, and g_l growth in labor force participation rate.

Supposing that labor force participation rate growth is constant $(g_{l=a_1})$ and X factors impact productivity growth per worker, that $g_z = a_2 + bf(X)$, and $a = a_1 + a_2$. Then we get the following equation:

$$g_{v} = a + bf(X) + g_{w} + \varepsilon \tag{8}$$

This refers to the demographic dividend term that which a rise in the working-age population shares results in GDP per capita growth when all other factors remain constant.

Cruz and Ahmed (2018) revised equation (8) by changing the share of the working-age population with the child-dependency (g_{CDR}) and aged-dependency ratios (g_{ADR}) in functional form (9). They claimed that using dependency ratios helps represent the dependant young and old population more symmetrically, as the total population is not used in the denominator.

$$g_{y} = a + bf(X) + g_{CDR} + g_{ADR} + \varepsilon$$
(9)

Several studies have attempted to estimate the effect of changing age structure on economic growth employing various methodologies grounded in the formulas described above. In recognition of potential endogeneity concerns, these studies have made efforts to mitigate such issues. A comprehensive review of these empirical studies will be presented in the following section.

Growth model: long-run Cobb-Douglas production function

In this section, we review various studies that have analyzed the effects of demographic transitions using the Cobb-Douglas production function as part of their theoretical framework (Crespo Cuaresma et al., 2014; Rizk, 2019). The empirical exercises will be detailed in the next session.

The classical Cobb-Douglas production function is given by the following:

$$Y_{it} = A_{it} K_{it}^{\alpha} L_{it}^{1-\alpha} \tag{10}$$

Where Y –Total output or aggregate income (GDP); A – technological change or total factor productivity; K – capital stock; L – labor force or total labor input; t – time period; i – country index

Dividing equation (10) by the labor force, we get the output per worker or GDP per worker:

$$\frac{Y_{it}}{L_{it}} = A \left(\frac{K_{it}}{L_{it}}\right)^{\alpha} \implies y_{it} = A_{it} k_{it}^{\alpha}$$
(11)

To capture equation (11) in growth rate, we get:

$$\Delta lny_{it} = \Delta lnA_{it} + \alpha \Delta lnk_{it} \tag{12}$$

Since in most growth regression, the income per capita is used instead of income per worker, thus considering the relationship between total population, labor force, and working-age population is needed. For this, we can use the following GDP per worker equation, where \tilde{y} – output per capita (income per capita) and N denotes the total population:

$$y_{it} = \frac{Y_{it}}{L_{it}} = \frac{Y_{it}}{N_{it}} \frac{N_{it}}{L_{it}} = \tilde{y}_{it} \frac{N_{it}}{L_{it}}$$
(13)

Combining equation (12) and (13), we get:

$$\Delta ln\tilde{y}_{it} = \Delta lny_{it} + \Delta lnL_{it} - \Delta lnN_{it} = \Delta lnA_{it} + \alpha \Delta lnk_{it} + \Delta lnL_{it} - \Delta lnN_{it}$$
(14)

The empirical application of equation (14) requires regressing the growth rate of income per capita on the growth rates of capital per worker, labor force growth, and population growth rate, considering that total factor productivity (TFP) growth remains constant throughout time. If changes in the labor force share have no effect on productivity and only influence income per capita through the accounting mechanism presented in equation (13), then the parameters associated with the labor force growth and population growth variables should equal 1 and -1, respectively.

If we suppose that due to the dynamics of technology adaptation, total factor productivity is dependent on the distance to the leading technology frontier the equation (14) will be:

$$\Delta ln\tilde{y}_{it} = \delta + \mu lny_{it-1} + \alpha \Delta lnk_{it} + \Delta lnL_{it} - \Delta lnN_{it}$$
(15)

The equation (15) implies that total factor productivity growth is captured by parameter δ and it depends on the (lagged) income per worker of the country.

To make it more precise we will use the equation of GDP per worker, where WAP refers to working age population:

$$lny_{it} = ln\tilde{y}_{it} + ln\left(\frac{N_{it}}{WAP_{it}}\right) + ln\left(\frac{WAP_{it}}{L_{it}}\right) = ln\tilde{y}_{it} - ln\left(\frac{WAP_{it}}{N_{it}}\right) - ln\left(\frac{L_{it}}{WAP_{it}}\right)$$
(16)

Combing equations (15) and (16) yields:

$$ln\tilde{y}_{it} = \delta + \mu ln\tilde{y}_{it-1} - \mu ln\left(\frac{WAP_{it-1}}{N_{it-1}}\right) - \mu ln\left(\frac{L_{it-1}}{WAP_{it-1}}\right) + \alpha \Delta lnk_{it} + \Delta lnL_{it} - \Delta lnN_{it} \quad (17)$$

According to this specification, in addition to the labor force and population growth rates, the share of the working-age and the participation rate should also be included in the economic growth model. If the parameter estimates for these two variables are of the same magnitude but opposite in sign to that of the baseline income level, it indicates that changes in the participation rate and the working-age share have an exclusive impact on economic development through the previously mentioned accounting channel.

Later on, the demographic researchers have realized that demographic dividends can be reaped if human capital is successfully accumulated. However, in the production function equation (10) human capital is missing, which is one of the crucial components for realizing demographic dividends. To address this gap, Crespo Cuaresma et al. (2014) expanded the equation (10) by adding human capital variables, following the theoretical framework proposed

by various scholars (Benhabib & Spiegel, 2002, 1994; Ding & Knight, 2009; Hall & Jones, 1999; Mankiw et al., 1992). They assumed that GDP per worker can be impacted by the human capital level, using education as a proxy for human capital. Thus, the modified version of equation (10) became:

$$Y_{it} = A_{it} K^{\alpha}_{it} H^{1-\alpha}_{it} \tag{18}$$

Where $H_{it} = h_{it}L_{it}$ derived from human capital per worker - h_{it}

Human per worker is defined as $h_{it} = exp\theta s_{it}$, while θ – refers to returns to schooling and s_{it} – the average year of schooling of the labor force.

As we previously did, by dividing expression (18) by working age population, taking logs, and differencing it, we get the model for per worker form:

$$\Delta lny_{it} = \Delta lnA_{it} + \alpha \Delta lnk_{it} + (1 - \alpha)\theta \Delta s_{it}$$
(19)

Where y_{it} is GDP per worker and k_{it} is the physical capital perworker. Since we have equation (13), which considers the relationship between total population, labor force, and working-age population to capture the effect of demographic dividend, we can substitute it into equation (19). By doing so we can get the equation of GDP per capita with demographic dividend and human capital effect. Thus, our new form of equation is:

$$\Delta ln\tilde{y}_{it} = \Delta lnA_{it} + \alpha lnk_{it} + \Delta lnL_{it} - \Delta lnN_{it} + (1 - \alpha)\theta\Delta s_{it}$$
(20)

As previously, we assume that Total Factor Productivity depends on the distance of the global technology frontier, and it is given by:

$$\Delta ln\tilde{y}_{it} = \delta + \mu lny_{it-1} + \alpha \Delta lnk_{it} + (1-\alpha)\theta \Delta s_{it} - \Delta lnN_{it} + \Delta lnL_{it}$$
(21)

Where $\Delta lnA_{it} = \delta + \mu lny_{it-1}$, δ – is the secular trend parameter, μ is the coefficient of initial GDP per worker. Usually, human capital, or as here we are considering average years of schooling (human capital) is accounted as a determinant of technology creation and adoration which impacts the growth of TFP (Benhabib & Spiegel, 1994, 2005). By considering this, besides the average years of schooling change (change in human capital), the education (human capital) level is added to capture the TFP growth (Crespo Cuaresma et al., 2014a).

$$\Delta lnA_{it} = \delta + \rho s_{it-1} + \mu ln\tilde{y}_{it-1} - \mu ln\frac{L_{it}}{W_{it}} - \mu ln\frac{W_{it}}{N_{it}}$$
(22)

For getting the growth rate of GDP per capita, we substitute equation (22) into equation (20) for getting econometric specification:

$$\Delta ln \tilde{y}_{it} = \delta + \rho s_{it-1} + \mu ln \tilde{y}_{it} - \mu ln \frac{L_{it-1}}{WAP_{it-1}} - \mu ln \frac{WAP_{it-1}}{N_{it-1}} + \alpha \Delta ln k_{it} + \Delta ln L_{it} - \Delta ln N_{it} + (1 - \alpha) \theta \Delta s_{it}$$
(23)

Where, $\Delta ln\tilde{y}_{it}$ - the growth rate of GDP per-capita, s_{it-1} - the lagged level of human capital and Δs_{it} - change in human capital, Δlnk_{it} - growth rate of physical capital per-worker, ΔlnN_{it} - growth rate of total population, ΔlnL_{it} - the growth rate of total labor force, $\frac{L_{it-1}}{WAP_{it-1}}$ - lagged labor force participation ratio, $\frac{WAP_{it}-1}{N_{it-1}}$ - lagged working-age population share of total population.

According to this model, GDP per capita for a given country or region i at time t is influenced by several factors. These include the growth rate of capital per worker, the growth rate of the labor force and population growth. Notably, a positive sign for the labor force growth rate and a negative sign for population growth suggest that changes in the labor force share affect income per capita only through the accounting mechanism, without influencing productivity.

To explore the effects of the demographic dividend, the model incorporates the share of the working-age population and the participation rate, whose parameters are of the same magnitude but opposite in sign to the initial income level. This implies that changes in the participation rate and working age share impact economic development exclusively through the accounting channel.

Human capital also significantly influences economic growth. The model includes the lagged level of human capital, with a coefficient ρ that reflects the impact of prior human capital levels—such as education and skills—on current economic growth. This highlights the delayed effects of investments in human capital on the economy. Additionally, economic growth is affected by changes in human capital, adjusted by coefficients (1- α) and θ , emphasizing the continuous influence of evolving human capital levels, such as improvements in education and workforce skillsets.

It is common to estimate the effect of demographic change, coupled with human capital, on economic growth by deriving a regression equation using the above-described model. We will review those empirical studies in the "Dimensions of demographic dividend" section.

2.3.2. Demographic-growth relationship in empirical studies

Growth in GDP per capita is positively correlated with the growing proportion of the working-age population, according to empirical estimates from various research studies (Eastwood & Lipton, 2011; Kelley & Schmidt, 2005; Misra, 2015). These studies can be categorized into two groups: those that analyse this relationship on a regional and global level, and those that focus on a single-country case. In Table 2, we provide a summary of selected papers addressing this relationship through econometric models. The table is organized as follows: The first column lists the references for the papers; the second column contains the most important demographic variable in the model influencing GDP growth; the third column shows the level of GDP growth; and the last column contains the geographic area and time period for which the calculations were conducted (Berde & Kurbanova, 2020).

As Table 2 shows, the demographic transition has played an important and positive role in economic development, as evidenced by various studies (Bloom et al., 2010; Cruz & Ahmed, 2018; Lee & Mason, 2010a; Mason & Lee, 2007). However, the degree of success between national population dynamics and global economic growth has varied by country and has depended heavily on the demographic and economic policies implemented (Berde & Kurbanova, 2020).
Study	The main demographic variable in the model influencing GDP	Actual growth in GDP	Geographic area and time frame
	growth		
		Regional and global level	
Bloom and Williamson (1998)	the share of the working-age population	an increase of 1.4–2 percentage points in the GDP growth rate	East Asian countries (1965-1990 years)
Bloom and Canning (2004)	the share of the working-age population	an increase of 1.4 percentage points in income per capita growth	A panel of countries observed every 10 years over 1960–90
Kelley and Schmidt (2005)	youth dependency ratio	an increase of 20 percentage points in per capita output growth	South America, Europe, and Asian countries (1960-1995 years)
Kinugasa and Mason (2007)	the contribution of the first demographic dividend	explains between 9.2 and 15.5 percent of per capita economic growth over the	A wide sample of countries for the 1960–2000 period
Bloom and Finlay (2009)	A 1% higher growth rate of the labor force	is associated with an increase of 1.665% in the growth rate of GDP per capita	World (1965-2005 years)
Song (2013)	growth rates of working-age population	an increase of 1.26 percentage points in GDP per capita growth	13 Asian countries (1965-2009 with a 5-year interval)
Manyika et al. (2015)	the declining working-age population share	could reduce the global average income per capita by 20 percent	over 2015-65
Maliszewska et al. (2016)	the share of the working-age population	an increase of 0.5-0.8 percentage points in annual GDP per capita growth	In pre- and early-dividend countries over 2015–2030, given the right enabling conditions
Cruz and Ahmed (2016)	a 1 percentage point change in the working-age population share	 An increase of 1.5 percentage points in GDP per capita growth An increase of 0.8 percentage points in the savings share of GDP A reduce by 0.76 percentage points the poverty headcount 	180 countries using five-year averages for the 1950-2010 period
Ahmed, Cruz, Go, et al. (2016)	the demographic dividend	could account for 11– 15% of gross domestic product (GDP) volume growth by 2030	for Sub-Saharan Africa as a whole for the 2011-2030 years
Cruz and Ahmed (2018)	the share of the working-age population	an increase of 1.6 percentage points in GDP per capita growth	180 countries (1950- 2010 years)

Table 2: Impact of demographic shifts on development outcomes

Ahmad and Khan	the share of the working-age	Has a positive contribution to economic growth with	67 developing counties (1960-2014
(2019)	population	varying magnitudes in different model specifications	with a 5-year interval)
Jafrin et al. (2021)	1% increase in the share of the	improves the economic growth of the selected	five selected South Asia Association
	working-age population	countries by 0.176%	for Regional Cooperation (SAARC)
			countries for the 1990–2017 period
Apella (2021)	Support ratio	1.06% increase in GDP per capita	16 Latin American countries (1970-
			2014)
		Country level	
Choudhry and	Demographic variables: child	The combined positive effect of demographic	China, India and Pakistan (1963–
Elhorst (2010)	dependency ratio, the growth	variables on annual GDP growth:	2003)
	differential between the working-	In China 46%,	
	age population and the total	In India 39%	
	population, and old-age	In Pakistan 25%	
	dependency ratio		
Aiyar and Mody	The share of the working-age	2 percentage points per annum to India's per capita	22 states of India, with data at ten-
(2013)	population	GDP growth over the next two decades	year intervals from 1961 to 2001
Liu and Hu (2013)	decrease in the birth rate	The annual per capita GDP growth rate increased to	China provincial panel data (1983-
		1.19	2008)
	the increase in the share of the	The annual per capita GDP growth rate increased by	
	working-age population	0.73	
Oliveira (2022)	The share of the working-age	Positively correlated with GDP	Portugal regions (2001-2011)
	population		
1			

Source: The author's collection from the cited papers

A wide range of empirical studies have used cross-section analysis to investigate the demographic-growth relationship. For instance, while investigating the panel data, Ahmad and Khan (2018) found that the share of the working-age population and also human capital development indicators have a beneficial impact on economic growth, although their magnitude differs across countries. Sánchez-Romero et al. (2018) analysed the contribution of demographic indicators to economic growth in the case of Western European countries for the 1850-2000 years. Using a model of overlapping generations with households that vary in their educational attainment, they found that 17% of the increase in per-capita income was due to the demographic shift. Similarly, Misra (2015), through analysing BRICS countries during 1990-2015, concluded that in these countries there is a positive relationship between GDP growth and demographic transition. However, the pace of ageing is faster in some countries.

Interestingly, the study of Butt et al. (2019) reveals that the share of the working-age population has an insignificant effect on GDP per capita growth after controlling for endogeneity in a sample of the ten most populated countries for the period 1960-2017. However, they concluded that the share of working-age individuals can be productive in cases where they are engaged in the labor market. It's worth noting that the study's outcomes might be influenced by the inclusion of countries like Japan and Russia, which are not in the demographic dividend stage but rather in an aging phase.

Single-country evidence has also been explored in prior studies. For example, the study by Jain and Goli (2022) assessed the potential demographic dividend of India from 2001 to 2061 by constructing a macro-simulation model. According to the study results, a window of opportunity opened during 2011-2041 in this country, and it can be reaped through the right demographic and socio-economic policies, such as investment in human capital and decent job opportunities. The study used two scenarios: the "demographic-emphasis scenario" and the "demographic-as-usual scenario". Real GDP per capita would expand nine times between 2001 and 2061 under the Demographic-As-Usual Scenario, which assumes the same demographic environment as in the base year of 2001 and ongoing investment in socioeconomic programs. The Demographic-Emphasis Scenario says that the real GDP per capita would grow by 12.8 times between 2001 and 2061. This is based on the idea that the population will grow according to UN (2019) medium variation fertility projections and that the perfect social and economic conditions will be in place by that year. The study confirms that an additional value to GDP per capita could be added through the right policy implications.

Farid and Mostari (2022) focused on the case of Bangladesh, conducted similar research. According to their estimation, the window of demographic opportunity for Bangladesh is available from 1984 to 2037. Their findings suggest that during this period, the country should effectively accumulate human capital, reduce gender disparities in education and employment, address unemployment, and increase savings.

Zobeiri (2021) examined the impact of demographic shifts on GDP per capita in resource-rich countries, using Iran as an example from 1978 to 2017. The results suggest that rising oil prices restrict the economy's capacity to efficiently consolidate young people's transition into the labor force. They explained that it may be caused by the "Dutch disease" effect, in which resource rents crowd out the more active manufacturing sector and leave young people with low-paying jobs or unemployment. In the same vein, Polyzos et al. (2022) analyzed how natural resources influence the relationship between the working-age population and economic growth by investigating 19 countries in the MENA (Middle East and North Africa) region from 1992 to 2014. They determined the threshold (16% of resource rents as a share of total GDP) of resource rent at which a unit addition of the working-age population has a negative impact on economic growth. The major factors contributing to the adverse impact of population change can be a decreasing labor force participation rate, inadequate private sector growth, and poor labor market policy, which, on the other hand, are challenges of the "Dutch disease".

The most recent studies also focus on the impact of COVID-19 on the demographic dividend. For instance, Alam and Tonny (2022) analysed the sudden shocks, such as COVID-19's impact, on the possibility of reaping the demographic dividend using the example of Bangladesh. The authors chose three main categories of youth: final-year tertiary students, recent graduates, and job seekers, and investigated how the pandemic impacted their potential employee sector. The results highlighted that the high level of depression due to COVID-19 caused being inactive in the job market, especially for recent graduates. In addition, most of the employees lost their jobs due to the coronavirus and are still struggling to get one. Thus, this situation creates great challenges for not accumulating the potential of youth and active age groups into economic growth, which is the crucial point of harnessing the demographic dividend. The abovementioned studies highlight that changes in age structure alone cannot ensure inclusive gains. In the next section, we will focus on the factors that contribute to stimulating the demographic dividend.

2.3.3. Dimensions of the demographic dividend

In fact, population change is a powerful developmental element that affects society in a number of ways. There are a wide range of mediators that convert this bonus into economic growth. Figure 1 outlines the key contributors to the demographic dividend as perceived from our standpoint.





Source: own research

Countries at a stage of demographic transition should establish a demographic dividend model capable of quantifying the impact of specific policy issues on the model's output. Researchers have incorporated several variables into their estimations to derive appropriate policy implications. It is very important that a "bridge" between the policy issue and that variable be "constructed" in order to comprehend how it might affect the demographic dividend. In particular, the government is responsible for implementing effective policies that provide the large and youthful population with quality healthcare, appropriate education, effective governance, and other economic possibilities that will significantly impact the nature of the dividend (Zaman & Sarker, 2021).

In Table 3, we compile studies that empirically demonstrate the essential nature of specific variables in accelerating economic growth amid demographic transitions through various channels. We categorize the variables into groups, including human capital, the labor market, women's empowerment, institutions, savings, migration, and environmental sustainability.

Table 3: Channels of Demographic Dividends Impacting Economic Growth:

Groups	Subgroups	Variables and the studies that used them
		Mean years of schooling (Bloom et al., 2021; Cohen & Soto, 2007; Cruz
		& Ahmed, 2018; de la Fuente & Doménech, 2006; Hanushek &
		Woessmann, 2012; Lutz et al., 2008) ¹⁸ ;
	Education	Pre-primary education (Lomborg, 2018)
		<i>Primary education</i> (Lin, 2006; Luy & Köppen, 2018; Petrakis & Stamatakis, 2002);
		Post-primary education (Lutz et al., 2019)
		Secondary education (Babatunde & Adefabi, 2005; Bawazir et al., 2020; Bidisha et al., 2020; Dufrénot, 2018; Gebrehiwot, 2014; Mejía et al., 2008;
		Song, 2013);
Human		& Elhorst, 2010; Pasara et al., 2020; Rizk, 2019; Zivengwa et al., 2013);
capital		PISA test score (Hanushek & Woessmann, 2012) ¹⁹
		Literacy rate (Dufrénot, 2018; Iqbal et al., 2015; Joe et al., 2018)
		<i>Education expenditure</i> (Bawazir et al., 2020; Bidisha et al., 2020; Wako, 2012)
		Life expectancy (Aghion et al., 2011; Ahmad & Khan, 2018; Avc1 &
		Çalışkan, 2022; Bloom et al., 2014; Bloom et al., 2004, 2021; Cervellati &
		Sunde, 2011; Osobase et al., 2021; Pasara et al., 2020) ²⁰
	Health	<i>Adult survival rates</i> (Bloom et al., 2018; Mason & Kinugasa, 2008; Well, 2007) ²¹
		Health expenditure (Atems, 2019; Chen et al., 2022; Dufrénot, 2018; Esen
		& Celik Kecili, 2022; Piabuo & Tieguhong, 2017; Qingyuan et al., 2020; Wu et al. 2021; Yang 2020)
		Labor force participation rate (Dufrénot 2018: Kazbekova 2018: Saleh
Lab	or market	& Yusuf, 2022; Sarker et al., 2016; Wako, 2012);
		Unemployment (Clydesdale, 2018; De Beer et al., 2011)
		Female labor force participation rate (Dufrénot, 2018; Harkat &
		Driouchi, 2017);
		Women's education (Abu-Ghaida & Klasen, 2004; Angrisani et al., 2020;
Women	empowerment	Klasen, 2002, 2018)
		Women's health: such as iodine supplementation and HPV vaccination
		(Bloom et al., 2015; Field et al., 2009)
		Women unemployment (Harkat & Driouchi, 2017)
Institutions		Bureaucratic quality (Bloom, 2010)
		Quality of institutions (Song, 2013)
		Rule of law (Bawazir et al., 2020)
		Regulatory quality (Bawazir et al., 2020)

¹⁸ Each additional year of schooling increase: the annual GDP per capita growth (ranges from 0.2 to 12.5%) by: 0.574 - 1.151% (de la Fuente & Doménech, 2006); 1.05 - 1.26% (Cohen & Soto, 2007), 0.2-12.5% (Lutz et al., 2008); personal income growth by 10% (Bloom et al., 2021).

¹⁹ A 25-point improvement in PISA score rises annual GDP per capita growth by 0.5% (Hanushek & Woessmann, 2012)

²⁰ A 1-year increase in life expectancy increases per capita income (ranges from 1.9 to 15%) by: 5-15% (Bloom et al., 2014); 4% (Bloom et al., 2004); 2.88-9.46% (Aghion et al., 2011); 1.94-4.14% (Cervellati & Sunde, 2011);

²¹ A 10% increase in adult survival rates raises labor productivity (ranges from 6.7 to 9.1%) by: 9.1% (Bloom et al., 2018); 6.7% (Well, 2007)

	Being under colony (Cruz & Ahmed, 2018)
	Gross savings (Aidi et al., 2016; Butt et al., 2019; Choudhry & Elhorst,
Savings	2010; Iqbal et al., 2015; Kim & Lee, 2008; Mehmood et al., 2012; Rizk,
	2019)
Microtion	<i>Net migration</i> (Aidi et al., 2016; Ghassan et al., 2022; Jain & Goli, 2022;
wingration	Luy & Köppen, 2018)
Environment	CO ₂ emissions (Hosan et al., 2022; Okijie & Effiong, 2021)

Source: Author's collection from the cited papers

Previous empirical studies have shown that the countries successfully capitalizing on the benefits of demographic window of opportunity have achieved this through several key factors. These include maintaining a proper level of education (Lutz et al., 2019), increasing the employment rate to absorb the capability of youth entering the labor market (Ahmad & Khan, 2019), improving the health care system (Crespo Cuaresma et al., 2014), establishing supportive policies and institutional environments for domestic entrepreneurs and encouraging foreign capital inflows (Eastwood & Lipton, 2011), and formulating and implementing state-led macroeconomic and social policies (Berde & Kurbanova, 2020; Groth et al., 2019). All of these contribute to development. Human capital development, in particular, is regarded as a crucial driver of both demographic dividends and economic growth.

"Undoubtedly, maximizing human capital increases the productivity assets of nations, enabling the labour force more flexible, and innovative, and more likely to create profitable and successful businesses (Bloom et al., 2021; Cummins, 2019; World Bank, 2018b; Young, 2019)"²². However, there are significant differences in investment in human capital between nations. Comparisons of school attendance rates and the highest grade attained by the working-age population reveal gaps that are easily seen. Moreover, when expanded indicators of human capital investments, such as test scores or health inputs and outcomes, are assessed, the gaps across nations are significantly wider than initially assumed. Children from poorer countries enter the labor market with less education and worse health compared to their counterparts in industrialized countries (Collin & Weil, 2020).

Investing in human capital is time-consuming. The study by Ahmad and Khan (2019) evidenced that accumulating human capital in the past affects economic growth in the current period. Young (2019), by analysing the case of Nigeria in 1970-2017, found that education impacts the demographic dividend through two channels: reducing fertility and increasing productivity. In the same vein, Apella (2021), through investigating 16 Latin American

²² This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023).

countries, concluded that the demographic shift could bring a bonus in the case of investment, not only in physical capital but in human capital as well, as it provides an opportunity to boost productivity in the medium and long term.

By doing further research in this area, Kotschy et al. (2020) noted that existing studies are unable to fully explore the connections between human capital and age structure because they are limited by a rigid structural framework. Thus, the authors reassessed the impact of age transition on development using an age-structured human capital endowment model in a sample of 159 countries during 1950-2015 based on. Their findings highlighted that human capital has a favourable impact on the demographic dividend if incorporated with an advantageous age structure. Thus, policy implications should be directly related to the relevance of education in order to avoid suboptimal results.

Looking at the experience of East Asian countries, we can observe that investing in human capital has made the potential of a demographic dividend a reality. An illustrative case is China, which, by implementing mandatory restrictions on having numerous children and prioritizing investments in human capital, likely accelerated its economic growth through the demographic dividend from 1980 to 2010 (Wei & Hao, 2010). However, there are a few pitfalls that China will face with challenges such as a shrinking share of the working-age population and ageing, which can pose serious challenges. Similarly, Korea, another rapidly ageing country, managed to make the benefits of its demographic window of opportunity more inclusive by investing in human capital. Kwack and Lee (2006) employed neoclassical growth models to examine the development of Korea between 1971 and 2002. They found that R&D and the development of human capital were two major drivers of the country's growth.

Obviously, one of the facilitators of human capital development is education. Without adequate education, a fall in fertility rates may cause the worsening social-economic condition of the country (Lutz et al., 2019). Empirical studies have consistently found that educational variables are always statistically significant and positively correlated with economic growth (Abío et al., 2017; Baerlocher et al., 2019; Bloom et al., 2001; Lee & Mason, 2010; Lutz et al., 2019). Different approaches are used as a measurement of education, such as, mean years of schooling, literacy rate, school enrollment rate, etc. However, the studies claim that returns on investment in education vary by stage. While reviewing the literature Psacharopoulos and Patrinos (2018), identified that investments in primary education often yield larger returns compared to secondary and tertiary education. Even in very low-income environments, investing in good pre-primary education generates a significant impact.

Health, another determinant of human capital, has been widely studied for its role in economic growth, coupled with the demographic dividend. Several variables have been used as proxies for health, with life expectancy being a commonly used metric (see Table 3). However, regression analyses have yielded contradicting results. While Hansen and Lønstrup (2015) found in their studies that life expectancy decreased the GDP per capita in the past 20th century, contrasting results were discovered in Osobase et al.'s (2021) study.

There is a direct link between human capital and the labor market. The study of Idrees et al. (2022) found by analysing selected provinces of Pakistan the ways of utilization of the working-age population. The results of regression analyses showed that labor force participation is significantly impacted by human capital formation and there is a high chance for skilled laborers to integrate into the labor market, which, in turn, increases socio-economic development. According to the study by Groth et al. (2019), it is suggested that an effective employment approach should be directed at youth before they enter the labor market with adequate skills.

Another group of researchers focuses on how to deploy women to sustain economic growth in the face of an increasing working-age population. One of the dominant drivers of the demographic dividend, as well as the economic growth of developed countries, is providing equal opportunities for self-improvement for both genders, whereas it is provided mostly for men in transition countries (Knowles et al., 2002).

In the literature, the nexus between the role of women and economic growth has been discussed from various perspectives, such as education, health, equal employment opportunities, and participation in decision-making processes. Using all the above-mentioned indicators in a single panel of data from developing countries between 1990-2017 Altuzarra et al. (2021) found that the gender gap in education hampers economic growth, while women's participation in the political arena magnifies economic growth; however, there is no evidence of a significant nexus between the female–male ratio of labor force participation and growth. The same conclusion was made in the Cabeza-García et al. (2018) study. Dohmen and Yelubayeva (2019) studied the role of human capital (adult education), mainly disaggregated by gender, on the macroeconomic growth of European countries. They concluded that female human capital is a significant predictor of GDP per capita: thus, in the case of women being inactive in the labor market, the country will face a significant social loss. In addition, Fink and Peet (2016) detected that payoffs on investment for girls' education are larger than boys', and in addition, its spillover impact could be seen in reduced fertility and healthier families.

Cabeza-García et al. (2018) first introduced the term "inclusive economic growth", which means that to advance a country's growth and development, all individuals of active age should contribute without excluding anyone, particularly women. They found different factors related to women's empowerment to explain economic growth. In the same vein, Khan (2016) investigated the contribution of female human capital to economic growth in Pakistan during the period from 1972 and 2012, applying the error correction method (ECM). The results suggest that although female human capital has minimal immediate effects on economic growth, its impact becomes more significant over a prolonged period. However, Sehravat and Giri (2017) found that female human capital has a significant and positive impact on economic growth in both the long and short terms in developing countries.

The Republic of Korea's development is a prominent example of both the social development repercussions with a gender component that may arise during the demographic transition and the significant correlation between economic growth and the demographic transition. Particularly, the rise in women's labor force participation from 28% to 54% between 1960 and 2015 was a key factor in the country's significant economic growth (Hyeok, 2021). Subsequently, this indicator continued to show improvement.

"It is not surprising that the government must be socially responsible for fulfilling the needs of their population and establishing an enabling democratic environment for improving human development, gender equity, and employment opportunities (Emara & Chiu, 2016). Moreover, it is argued that the economic outcome of the demographic dividend depends on government policy (Mason, 2005). Without a complementary economic policy, it is hard to gain economic benefits from the increasing working-age population. Governments that came up with the best policies to exploit the first dividend decided to invest in infrastructure and promote the participation of the female labor force, all of which led to significant economic growth"²³. According to Bloom et al. (2007), institutional and organizational improvements in the areas of healthcare, education, roads, and transportation are crucial for fostering human development, which can then be used to sustain higher economic growth.

The importance of institutions is highlighted in the majority of research in the field of demographic dividends. However, using variables as a governmental proxy in their empirical estimations is relatively thin. On the other hand, plenty of studies have investigated the relationship between economic development and effective governance (Chauvet & Collier, 2004; Emara & Chiu, 2016; Emara & Jhonsa, 2014; Mehanna et al., 2010). For instance,

²³ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023) and Berde and Kurbanova (2020).

Chauvet and Collier (2004) found that poor governance quality will lead to less economic development in developing countries.

There is a new direction of research regarding the link between digitization, demographic dividend, sustainable economic growth, and energy intensity. Analysing thirty emerging economies during 1995–2018, Hosan et al. (2022) found that demographic dividends, digitalization, and energy intensity could boost economic growth. According to their results, the authors suggested that utilizing technological innovation in the energy industry contributes to economic growth and, at the same time, helps realize the demographic dividend potential.

In the same direction, some researchers focused on how the change in age structure could affect the use of energy. For instance, families with a higher proportion of children or senior citizens use more energy than those with younger ones, which can influence environmental quality (Dalton et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018).

Unlike other empirical studies, Amornkitvikai et al. (2022) investigated the effect of changes in age structure on economic growth in an Asian sample during the period 1960–2020. They went beyond traditional variables by incorporating additional factors such as migration and CO2 emissions. The findings substantiate that a growing proportion of working-age individuals contribute positively to economic expansion. Furthermore, they discovered an inverted U-shaped correlation between economic growth and human capital. Also, their findings revealed a positive association between environmental degradation and economic growth, suggesting that countries should transition to low-carbon technologies to reduce CO2 emissions.

2.4. Central Asia countries in demographic dividend literature

It is notable that the demography of Central Asian countries is unique in terms of rapid population growth in the post-communist world, and this region remains poorly studied (Spoorenberg, 2017). Due to the lack of data spread over the years and the inaccuracy of some existing statistics, these countries have been neglected from analysis to date, whereas some other countries in Asia and developing countries have been described in a detailed way as we have seen in the previous sections (Ahmad & Khan, 2019; Bloom & Finlay, 2009; Ha & Lee, 2016). However, some literature has still emerged that has leaned on scarce demographic data, drawn from before and after the collapse of the Soviet Union (Berde & Kurbanova, 2023).

For instance, Sidorenko (2019) analysed how the demographic transition affects the national security of post-Soviet countries. In addition, according to demographic characteristics, he divided these countries into two groups: demographically "younger" or "in

the earlier stages of demographic transition" and demographically "older" or "in the later stages of demographic transition" countries, and all Central Asian countries are included in the first group. In the long and short terms, the increase in population and real GDP per capita have a positive and substantial link, according to Savaş (2008), who also discovered that Granger causality is bidirectional in Central Asia.

Other groups of researchers focused on single data points. Rakhmetova and Abenova (2013) divided Kazakhstan's demographic development into six stages for the last hundred years and identified the distinctive qualities of each stage in relation to the original nation. In addition, they conducted a correlation analysis to ascertain the causal linkages between the birth rate and several characteristics, such as population below the poverty rate, employed men, and men's salaries. The findings demonstrated that the average male salary and the rate of poverty have an impact on the birth rate. In the same vein, Rakhmetova and Kaliyeva (2022) clustered the regions of Kazakhstan according to their demographic development. Using multivariate statistical and mathematical methods, they divided cities into three clusters by total mortality, infant mortality, demographic load, proportion of triplets, nuptiality, and frequency of abortions. The results showed that all clusters except the last one will experience depopulation. Work by Zhankubayev et al. (2021) documented the sources of demographic decline in Kazakhstan, such as the high mortality rate of the male working-age population and infants. Therefore, they suggested that to achieve the demographic development goals, efforts needed to be made to not only promote fertility but also increase the general happiness and optimism of the population.

Analyzing the demographic stages of countries, Jasku\la (2019) reported that Uzbekistan and Kazakhstan are in between the 2nd and 3rd stages, which are defined by reduced death rates and considerable decline in birth rates. It indicates that the governments of the countries have already made important advancements in infrastructure for food and sanitation, healthcare, and education. However, the fertility rate is dropping in both nations, resulting in slower population growth projected until 2035. According to the outcome of the research, it is suggested to sustain the global economy in order to address the demographic challenges. On the other hand, Nyoni et al. (2021) attempted to predict the TFR of Turkmenistan for the period of 2019 - 30 using an Artificial Neural Network (ANN) approach. Their findings indicate that the country will still enjoy a medium-rate fertility rate (3.2-3.0) during the analysed period, and they recommended that policies be directed to enhance resources and slow population growth.

It is widely acknowledged that reaping the benefits of the first demographic dividend becomes challenging, if not impossible, without a sufficiently skilled young population (Ustavshchikova, 2017). Gender inequality also poses a significant hurdle (Chen & Yip, 2018; Khitarishvili, 2016; Pignatti, 2020), as does the emigration of skilled workers from the country, a current issue for Central Asian nations (Ustavshchikova, 2017). If improved education is also a part of the demographic transition, Osotimehin and Director (2015) claim that it can increase per capita GDP in Eastern Europe and Central Asia. The same results can be found in Isaeva et al.'s (2021) research, which investigated the connection between economic progress, innovation, and the knowledge economy in Central Asia. The results revealed that human capital is one of the main contributors to GDP in the region. Therefore, investing in human capital is essential, especially considering the high share of youth in the region. The authors suggested promoting the popularization of science and information technology in schools and universities. In a related study, Yormirzoev (2021) analysed total productivity growth in Central Asian countries from 1990 to 2017 and the influence of the labour force on it. He pointed to the very important role of labour in the development of the region, except for Uzbekistan. He explained this difference by treating the labour force as a homogeneous unit. Ultimately, he came to the conclusion that a highly educated workforce is primarily responsible for economic growth in all of the region's countries (Berde & Kurbanova, 2023).

Focusing on the case of Tajikistan, O'Brien (2020) determined the consequences of the civil war (1992-1997) on gendered human capital and compared whether school-aged children in a period of transition to independence and war had a lower education level compared to their peers in the Soviet Union and after transition. The results suggest that an unpeaceful condition negatively affects educational attainment, with the boys' education being most affected.

Jia et al. (2021) investigated the relationship between economic growth, demography, and environmental sustainability in the region. Their findings revealed that CO2 emissions increased with rising economic output and population growth. In a similar vein, research by Batmunkh et al. (2022) showed how traditional agricultural technologies harm the environment (Berde & Kurbanova, 2023). The same direction of study has been explored in Chi et al.'s (2020) research, which examined the relationship between agricultural production (crops and livestock) and climate change and rapid demographic changes in Kyrgyzstan during 1990-2014 using the OLS technique. The results indicate that demographic factors, especially TFR, have a negative association with livestock production. However, strong linkages between socioeconomic, climatic, and demographic factors made it difficult to distinguish how each one contributed to changes in agricultural production. The study also highlighted that approximately one-third of the employable population in Kyrgyzstan emigrates, diminishing the local labor supply. This exodus could potentially be channelled to either increase agricultural production

or reduce the demand for agricultural labor. However, the infusion of remittances further complicated agricultural operations.

As we highlighted above, one of the main causes of demographic transition is migration. There is a wide range of research on this topic. For instance, according to Djoldasheva (2018), emigration from Central Asia was pushed by the region's rising working-age population share as well as high unemployment rates, particularly among the young. In addition, Morozova et al. (2021) found that the main causes of immigration are increased population, inappropriate economic growth and income, and unmatched job vacancies compared to the working-age population in Uzbekistan and Tajikistan. The same thoughts can be found in the Topolin (2000) studies, while Abduraxmanov (2020) mentioned the growing demographic pressure on the labor market.

Djoldosheva (2019) conducted a statistical analysis of population changes and the demographic dividend in the Kyrgyz Republic and the Russian Federation between 1950 and 2015. She mentioned that in both countries, the share of the working-age population increased during the analyzed period; in Russia, it started to decrease, but Kyrgyzstan is still enjoying a favourable age structure. However, due to the scarcity of employment opportunities, the number of labor immigrants from Kyrgyzstan to Russia increased so that both countries could benefit. On the other hand, emigrating educated and working-age people to Russia makes a particular economic contribution to the host nation. In the same vein, Nurzhanova et al. (2020) examined the role of demographic and migration processes on the labor potential of rural areas in Kazakhstan using linear trend models. The findings show that both domestic and international migration are to blame for the country's declining labor force, but practically speaking, village labor force productivity is unaffected. In addition, according to their estimation, the country will not experience a significant change in internal and external migration as well as the size of the urban and rural populations. However, from my point of view, the results could be different if was used an appropriate methodology.

Some other studies have also attempted to analyze the demographic transition of Central Asian countries, but some of their results are not convincing. For example, Bekturganova et al. (2022) analyzed the nexus between demographic transition and demographic dividend factors in Kazakhstan from 2007 to 2020. They developed four hypotheses based on rural and urban areas, and the results highlight that the death rate in the rural area and the fertility rate in the urban area have a significant impact on the working-age population. Moreover, the lower share of men in the working-age population in rural areas harms the labor force. In fact, the unemployment rate of men in rural areas remained unchanged over the years, while the

employment rate of urban men increased. On the other hand, the women's share of the workingage population does not affect the labor force. The authors explained these results by pointing out that most of the women are self-employed. The research findings could give better results with a longer time period and a more sophisticated empirical method.

A closer look at the literature on demography reveals a number of questions regarding the demographic dividend and its impact on economic growth that remain to be addressed. Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, no earlier research has used empirical estimating to investigate the region as a whole. Thus, in our study, we aim to expand the scarce literature on the relationship between demography and economic growth, poverty, and inequality in Central Asia. We wish to show that, despite the problems affecting the labour market, there is a positive relationship between demographic transition and economic growth in Central Asia.

2.5. Poverty and demographic dividend

As we have discussed above, the demographic transition provides socio-economic opportunities as well as challenges (Bloom & Williamson, 1998; Gómez & De Cos, 2008; Navaneetham & Dharmalingam, 2012; Pool, 2004). Therefore, it is crucial to prioritize an understanding of demographic challenges. A significant challenge arises when an expanding labor force encounters a lack of job opportunities, potentially leading to increased poverty and inequality in society. "Inequality could be observed in a country at a stage of demographic transition, having different economic lifecycle schedules among various age groups (De La Croix & Doepke, 2003; Orbeta Jr, 2005). Consequently, for people living below the poverty line, it is difficult to get loans from formal lending centers to invest in their education and health. Moreover, parents' illiteracy makes it harder for their children to study in a better environment (Banerjee & Duflo, 2007; Khitakhunov, 2020b). This condition makes it difficult to harness the demographic dividend, as this opportunity could be beneficial in a condition of investing in human capital (Abrigo et al., 2016)"²⁴. In addition, the demographic dividend requires an urgent need to escape the "poverty trap", as its consequences are quite challenging, especially for developing economies.

Narayana (2022) studied the nexus between inequality and the NTA-based First Demographic Dividend Model in India during the period of 2005-2050. The results showed that for the realization of the first demographic dividend, economic inequality plays an important

²⁴ This part is based on Kurbanova (2022)

role, especially income inequality, which has a greater impact on reducing the demographic dividend than consumption inequality. On the other hand, Andrianarison et al. (2022) pointed out in their research that, in order to harness the demographic dividend in Cameroon, inequality should be addressed and poverty reduced through structural transformation of the economy.

However, the demographic bonus might serve as a catalyst to reduce poverty. In this section, we will discuss in-depth the studies that focused on investigating the channels of the demographic dividend for reducing poverty.

2.5.1. Poverty-growth-inequality triangle

From the previous sections, it is clear that the demographic dividend has an encouraging effect on economic growth. Hence, growth is considered one of the main determinants of poverty, establishing a direct connection between poverty, economic growth, and demography. In the literature addressing poverty and growth, inequality is commonly intertwined with these factors, encapsulated in the well-known "poverty-growth-inequality triangle" (PGI). This phenomenon is often explored in research. The PGI was originally developed by Bourguignon (2003) and is based on the arithmetic relationship between poverty, growth, and inequality. The argument emphasizes that if growth and inequality reduction go hand in hand, poverty alleviation will happen more quickly (Wietzke, 2020). Additionally, a wide range of empirical studies could prove this point of view (Bluhm et al., 2018; Fosu, 2017; Kalwij & Verschoor, 2007; Kraay, 2006; Lopez & Servén, 2006). These publications yield comparable conclusions despite the diverse specifications employed to approach the relationship. The main factor in reducing poverty has been an increase in mean incomes, while decreased inequality has a significant role in the direct impact on poverty as well as the indirect impact on the growth elasticity of poverty reduction (Bergstrom, 2022). However, other groups of researchers argue that there is no link between increasing economic growth and reducing poverty (Deininger & Squire, 1998; Fosu, 2009), while others highlight that inequality is one of the main intermediation factors in the PGI triangle (Agyemang, 2014; Kalwij & Verschoor, 2007). To represent this relationship, various models have been utilized. One technique involves determining poverty separately for various Gini coefficients (Adams, 2004) so that a model incorporates the combination of growth with initial inequality (Easterly, 2001; Fosu, 2009). Other models to capture the elasticity of income and inequality apply the logarithmic form of income and the Gini coefficient (Fosu, 2010a, 2010b).

Recent studies have focused on the poverty–growth–inequality (PGI) triangle, examining it across diverse country groups. For instance, Bergstrom (2022) re-examined the role of income inequality in poverty reduction using data from 135 countries during 1974-2018. The results showed that a 1% decrease in inequality—as determined by the standard deviation of log income - causes a greater eradication of poverty than a 1% rise in mean income. The same results were obtained while forecasting headcount poverty from 2020 to 2030 under several speculative scenarios. Thus, they concluded that a decrease in inequality can be a significant factor in lowering future poverty, even though recent poverty reductions have largely been a result of economic growth. In addition, the author suggested adding an additional "Policy" channel to the "PGI triangle" that helps to create the most effective anti-poverty measures.

Lakner et al. (2022) also estimated how inequality and income affect poverty. Their results reveal that a 1% reduction in the Gini index will reduce poverty by 6.3% in 2030, and its impact is greater than the 1% annual increase in income growth.

Despite research efforts to predict outcomes, unforeseen events, such as the global pandemic that began in 2019, can disrupt expectations. Government measures aimed at safeguarding citizens during the pandemic have contributed to the deterioration of socioeconomic conditions for the population. Scholars have explored the consequences of the pandemic, particularly its impact on increased inequality and poverty. For instance, Alfani (2022) highlighted that COVID might affect the poor negatively in two ways: by ruining their health and by causing them to suffer more immediate economic harm, like large salary reductions or unemployment.

Lakner et al. (2022) investigated the impact of COVID-19 on poverty and found out that the pandemic may have caused 60 million people to live in extreme poverty in 2020. Additionally, over 90 million people may have fallen into extreme poverty in 2020 if the epidemic had raised the Gini index by 2% globally.

2.5.2. Multiple dimensions of poverty

A variety of factors affect and complicate poverty dimensions. The most significant variables that could affect poverty will be highlighted in this part, with an emphasis on the interconnection between demographic changes and economic growth.

Theoretically, population, economic growth, poverty, and inequality are connected to each other in such a way that changes in one indicator affect others, as discussed in the previous section (Imimole, 2021). Malthusians believed that high fertility was one of the causes of

poverty. However, later on, a group of researchers found out that declining fertility follows an increase in the working-age population and leads to economic growth and poverty reduction (Cruz & Ahmed, 2018).

The link between fertility and poverty is the Kuznets-type effect, or the so-called inverted U-shape of the relationship. The impact of declining fertility on poverty through the growth channel is described in Figure 2. The initial step (1) of the relationship is characterized by high fertility, leading to low-income growth and a high rate of poverty, which is known as the "Malthusian trap". Later on, in the demographic transition stage, where birth rates start to decrease slowly, increasing the share of the working-age population leads to higher economic growth and reduces poverty (2). The next step indicates when the fertility rate falls below the replacement level (2.1 children per woman) and the population starts to age (3), which leads to a decreasing effect of fertility on poverty alleviation. It is evident in imperial estimation by having a significant positive coefficient for fertility and a negative coefficient for squared fertility (Wietzke, 2020).





Source: based on Wietzke (2020), p.75

The nexus between demography and poverty is an old debate focusing on population growth: however, analyzing poverty by age structure is relatively new, and only a few studies have focused on this relationship so far (Ahmed, Cruz, Go, et al., 2016; Ahmed et al., 2014; Mason & Lee, 2004). "In the literature, it is suggested that there are several mechanisms by which demographic transition will lead to poverty alleviation. Initial findings show that there is a direct connection between perceptions of poverty and major economic factors (Gallie & Paugam, 2003; Sidorenko-Stephenson et al., 1999), especially the demographic dividend,

which is expected to improve the economy and alleviate poverty (Dollar et al., 2015; Dollar & Kraay, 2002; Kua & Piyachart, 2016). Moreover, as a result of the reduction of non-earning members, the consumption per capita of the household will decrease, which will cause a lower poverty rate (Cruz & Ahmed, 2018). The next steps related to the second demographic dividend are that demographic transition in a dimension of education reduces poverty, especially in a condition of lower fertility rates, where families invest more in children's education (Kua & Piyachart, 2016), and when females become more educated and have fewer children, they will be active in the job market (Bloom et al., 2009; Klepinger et al., 1999), which leads to more income-earners in the household and increased living standards. Moreover, increasing the number of workers will contribute more to the economy, and the government will devote additional resources to low-income families (Cruz & Ahmed, 2018)²⁵.

Taking into account that poverty is a multidimensional approach, the "PGI triangle" was augmented by adding additional drivers of poverty reduction aside from the abovementioned ones. They could be institutional, macroeconomic, household-specific, or environmental factors. The quality of human capital, population density, and unemployment are among the macroeconomic dimensions. Institutional factors, such as effective governance, corruption, the rule of law, and terrorism, play a pivotal role in translating economic growth into poverty reduction by addressing inequalities (Bourguignon, 2003; Klasen & Nowak-Lehmann, 2008; Ravallion, 2006). Household-specific drivers involve family size, education, and age, while environmental factors encompass carbon emissions, the use of renewable energy, and more.

In fact, the empirical literature on the link between poverty alleviation and its impact channels is very broad. Researchers have employed various indicators to their poverty estimators, such as economic variables (Dollar & Kraay, 2002), financial development variables (Dewi et al., 2018; Majid et al., 2019), sociocultural variables (Menezes-Filho & Vasconcellos, 2007; Muhammad et al., 2011; Ravallion, 2002), and demographic variables (Wietzke, 2020), All of these have been shown to help reduce poverty. Numerous other variables also contribute to poverty alleviation, though in Figure 3, we have highlighted one of the main factors based on our perspective.

²⁵ This part is based on Kurbanova (2022)



Figure 3: Factors influencing poverty

Source: Own research

Scholars have become interested in the causes of poverty and have identified that one of the key elements influencing it is economic-related indicators. Economic growth is considered among the major factors that has been discussed above. Moreover, economic openness is also related to poverty. It's interesting to note that opinions on trade openness and poverty vary throughout the literature. It is argued that due to the lack of good governance and widespread corruption in the region (Neaime & Gaysset, 2018), poor households are less likely to get benefits from trade (El Ghak, 2018).

Numerous authors have discussed the connection between financial development and poverty reduction in the literature. However, the results are controversial. Neaime and Gaysset (2018), for example, calculated how financial inclusion affected poverty and income disparity in a sample of eight MENA nations. Their empirical results highlight that financial inclusion has a positive effect on reducing income inequality but has no effect on alleviating poverty. Similar results could be found in Quinonez et al.'s (2018) study, which discovered foreign direct investment (FDI) is not strongly linked to the eradication of poverty in Latin America, while on the contrary, human capital development, macroeconomic stability, infrastructure, and financial development show significant impacts on poverty reduction. Their findings are in line with those of other scholars (Bharadwaj, 2014; Dhrifi et al., 2020; Jalilian & Weiss, 2002; Sarisoy & Selcuk, 2012). On the other hand, a group of researchers has found that FDI contributes positively to poverty reduction (Calvo & Hernandez, 2006; Fowowe & Shuaibu, 2014).

Poverty is strongly tied to many aspects of a person's life, despite the common assumption that it only refers to a lack of material resources. Reducing poverty is positively impacted by the urbanization process. Results support the claim of Chen et al. (2019) that increasing the share of the urban population decreases the poverty rate. Indeed, properly

managed urbanization can eradicate poverty and inequality by improving the quality of life, providing job opportunities, and improving access to health and education services (UN-Habitat, 2016). Interestingly, while investigating the factors behind youth poverty in Morocco, Yassine and Bakass (2022) found that access to a job can ensure a satisfactory level of well-being. However, they highlighted that urbanization matters for reducing poverty.

As discussed above, there is a strong link between poverty reduction and demography. Also, the large body of literature highlights the role of international migration and remittances. However, the empirical findings are controversial. The majority of the research came to the conclusion that there is a statistically significant and negative correlation between remittances and poverty. For instance, Adams Jr and Page (2005) found that when the share of remittances in a country's GDP rises by 10%, it results in a 1.6% decrease in the number of people living in poverty. Similar results could be found in a number of other studies (Azam, Shahbaz, et al., 2016; López Córdova, 2018; Taylor et al., 2005). On the other hand, remittances also increase inequality in the country (Adams Jr, 2011; Lubambu, 2014).

Political factors play a central role in explaining poverty. Thus, the majority of empirical studies could prove that the quality of institutions and complementary policies do matter for poverty alleviation through many channels (Duncan & Quang, 2003; Kakwani & Silber, 2008; Majeed, 2017; Mitra, 2016; Perera & Lee, 2013). Ullah and Majeed (2022) investigated the impacts of institutional quality on multidimensional poverty and human development in Pakistan's districts. The results confirm that institutional quality, tertiary education, and demographic factors influence multidimensional poverty, both directly and indirectly.

Tackling poverty may have negative consequences, such as harming the environment. Thus, another group of researchers investigated whether millions of people could be lifted out of poverty while controlling carbon emissions. For instance, Bruckner et al. (2022) investigated 116 countries' cases and found that moving more than a billion people out of poverty could cause only modest relative gains in global carbon emissions, of 1.6-2.1% or less. However, poverty reduction could cause double damage in sub-Saharan Africa's low- and lower-middle-income countries. Thus, the authors suggest that high-emitting countries should decrease their emissions for poverty eradication in order to exceed climate targets.

Investing in human capital is intricately tied to income per person, and the poor health and education of workers contribute significantly to the poverty of many nations, resulting in lower labor input (Alkire et al., 2017; Duclos et al., 2006). Therefore, Rashid et al. (2022) analyzed the nexus between poverty alleviation and human capital, in particular, health, in the short and long run for Pakistan from 1985 to 2021. Their findings demonstrated that a rise in GDP per capita (taken as proxy of poverty), which in turn could have an impact on increased longevity and lower infant mortality, could reduce poverty. In addition, health indicators impact positively on education. However, from our point of view, considering only GDP per capita as a proxy of poverty reduction could be spurious, as it is a weak representative of poverty.

On the other hand, Collin and Weil (2020) investigated quantitatively how income and poverty dynamically responded to such increased investment in human capital. To do this, they examined different scenarios to see the role of human capital in poverty reduction. They compared a baseline scenario where investment in human capital remains unchanged with a "typical" scenario where the country experiences a growth rate in human capital investment. According to the findings, the usual scenario's worldwide poverty rate of \$1.90 is 0.7 percentage points lower than the baseline scenarios. However, it was highlighted that the time dimension is crucial due to the extremely long reproductive cycles associated with the effects of increased human capital investment. Other imperial research has produced similar findings (Amar & Aimon, 2021; Li & Bai, 2022; Olopade et al., 2019). Bloom et al. (2021) also pointed out that investment in physical capital alone is not able to tackle poverty, while investment in human capital is more promising.

Women's empowerment needs to be a focus as a matter of urgency, as it is one of the dominant drivers of boosting economic growth, reducing poverty and inequality (Ngom, 2021). For example, Awan and Malik (2020) measured the effect of women's education on poverty in Pakistan, and the results showed there is a positive relationship between female education and poverty alleviation.

2.5.3. Poverty measurement

Usually, two approaches to measuring poverty are commonly used in empirical analysis: direct and indirect. The direct approach lies in the standard of living, such as having clean water or access to electricity. Income is considered an indirect approach, which is most commonly used to measure poverty (Jha & Dang, 2009; Kua & Piyachart, 2016). Traditionally, poverty is measured by the number of people living below the international poverty threshold. Indeed, internationally comparable estimates of poverty are provided by the World Bank, which uses a uniform standard to determine the extent of extreme poverty and sets a poverty threshold that

reflects the same real quality of living in each country to differentiate levels of poverty across nations. Poverty is considered the dollar-a-day line, which was set at \$1.25 in 2005 but changed to \$1.90 a day in 2011 (World Bank, 2020). Since 2017, the World Bank has begun to monitor the poverty level of \$3.20 per day for lower-middle-income countries and \$5.50 per day for upper-middle-income countries (World Bank, 2018a).

Countries also use their own national poverty line, which are financial thresholds that indicate the lowest amount of money required to satisfy fundamental necessities. These cutoff points establish the minimum amount that people are considered incapable of meeting their most basic needs. The national poverty line varies by country, as it is based on the unique economic and social conditions of each nation, reflecting what is considered appropriate to be classified as not poor locally (World Bank, 2018a). Making comparisons of poverty across borders is difficult conceptually and practically because poverty is defined and assessed differently between nations.

There are also poverty indexes that are provided by international organizations. Usually, empirical papers use the global MPI index as a measurement of poverty, which is calculated on a household basis. However, Burchi et al. (2022), unlike other scholars, used two new indices of multidimensional poverty: the Global Correlation Sensitive Poverty Index (G-CSPI) and the Global M0 (called G-M0). These indicators incorporate three different types of deprivations: decent work, education, and health, and are computed at the individual level, focusing on the 15-65 age group. Moreover, G-M0 is sensitive to poverty incidence and intensity, while G-CSPI takes account of inequality among the poor as well. The authors examined the evolution of multidimensional poverty in a sample of 54 low- and middle-income countries. As health indicators, they used access to safe, drinkable water and basic sanitation: the number of years spent in school served as a proxy for education. Decent work was calculated based on labor (whether an individual is unemployed, employed, or not in the labor force) and employment status (paid employee, non-paid employee, employer, self-employed, and other types of workers). The results highlight that all three dimensions of poverty improved, while employment had the least improvement among them. Therefore, they suggest paying attention to the functioning of the labor market. In addition, they found that in comparison to multidimensional poverty, income poverty has greatly decreased, meaning it has been two to six times lower compared to income poverty. Thus, the conclusion was that the non-monetary dimensions of poverty reduction are not as remarkable as they seem and that additional efforts are needed to combat the various forms of poverty.

2.6. Poverty in Central Asia

"From a regional perspective, evidence from Central Asia shows that these countries are still challenged by poverty (Jha & Dang, 2009). During the Soviet Union, income inequality was limited by a high level of social expenditure and low wage differentials (Atkinson & Micklewright, 1992). However, after the Soviet Union, the transition from centrally planned to market economies increased poverty and changed its nature (Alam et al., 2005; Habibov, 2011; Habibov & Fan, 2007; Klugman, 1997; Klugman et al., 2002; Milanovic & Ersado, 2008). In the Soviet era, only selected categories like single mothers, the disabled, and old-age pensioners were vulnerable to poverty, which changed after independence in post-communist countries (Habibov et al., 2016). Moreover, a higher poverty rate is observed in the more densely populated areas of each region's countries (Seitz, 2019)"²⁶.

Some authors provided information about the background of the problem by studying poverty, its factors, and its vulnerability to poverty in the context of Central Asia. For instance, Hasselman (2021) estimated the effect of trade liberalization on poverty alleviation in 43 countries, including Central Asia, during the period 1992-2018. Interestingly, the findings showed that trade liberalization increases poverty in Central and South Asia. Bierbaum and Gassmann (2012) identified that low levels of human capital and a lack of job opportunities are the main factors contributing to chronic poverty in Kyrgyzstan, while Howie et al. (2021) highlighted that poverty in Kazakhstan is due to corruption, low wages, inefficient governance, and inefficient market labor policies. Kudebayeva (2018) recommended through her analysis, that investment in human capital is needed to tackle poverty in Kazakh society. Another thing that is thought to be a factor in the region's poverty is gender disparity. Applying the multinominal logit models, Strokova and Ajwad (2017) found that, compared to males, women are around 23 percentage points less likely to have a job and 12 percentage points less likely than males to be wage workers in the private sector.

The channels for reducing poverty in Central Asia were analyzed by Seitz (2019), who found that labor migrants significantly contribute to the poorest areas through remittances and investment. According to their survey, about 19 percent of families have at least one migrant abroad in Central Asia. Murodova (2018), using unique household survey data from the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan, investigated the effect of international migration and remittances on poverty reduction. The findings showed that it has a significant positive impact on alleviating poverty in these countries except in Kyrgyzstan, where the magnitude is small.

²⁶ This part is based on Kurbanova (2022)

However, in Tajikistan, having remittances could reduce the poverty headcount by 38%. In the same vein, a number of studies have also found that it does matter for poverty (Azam, Haseeb, et al., 2016; Batsaikhan & Dabrowski, 2017; Ulrika, 2020). On the other hand, Kayani (2021) found through his empirical estimation that remittances do not have any impact on poverty alleviation in Kyrgyzstan.

Another channel for reducing poverty in the region was analyzed by Falkingham (2005), who mentioned that priority should be given to the youth education system and providing the labor market with the demanded skills. Moreover, effective governance, especially strengthening the public administration system and involving the community in the decision-making process, will be guaranteed to improve material conditions and the capabilities of the poor (Falkingham, 2005). Besides, an increase in GDP significantly reduces the structural attribution of poverty in Central Asia (Habibov et al., 2016).

In essence, previous studies have focused on poverty at individual and country levels, exploring its factors and impact within Central Asia (Kurbanova, 2022). However, no previous studies have emphasized the effect of changes in age structure on poverty, particularly through empirical estimation. Therefore, some questions regarding the importance of demographic factors for alleviating poverty remain to be addressed in the case of Central Asia. Addressing these questions requires a more systematic and empirical approach, focusing on the multidimensional nature of poverty at the regional level, especially considering that these countries are currently positioned to benefit from demographic tailwinds that may not last indefinitely. The increasing proportion of older individuals and the impending aging of the population in the region further underline the importance of this topic. Thus, our dissertation focuses on the examination of how changes in age structure, among other determinants, could influence poverty alleviation at a regional level (see Section 6). By exploring this effect, we aim to inform appropriate policies, specifically in terms of enhancing the share of the working-age population and contributing to filling the gaps in the existing literature.

3. Overview of the Central Asian countries

3.1. Brief history of Central Asian countries

In the literature review part, we explored studies related to Central Asian countries. However, it is worth highlighting information in connection with their history, background, and development paths before proceeding with the empirical estimation of our empiric models, which will be discussed in the following sections. We wish to provide some preliminary insights about these countries and ease the interpretation of the results that will be given in the next sections of this research.

"The term "Central Asia" represents five landlocked countries: Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan. These countries have struggled in the past due to being conquered by various empires, divided politically, and debilitated by conflict and internal discord. For a long time, the area was in decline following the bright era of the Timurid Empire in the 14th century. During this period, several empires tried to conquer parts of Central Asian territory, and from the 18th century onwards, Russian influence became the most prevalent (Zhussipbek, 2017). Meanwhile, much of the area was inhabited by nomadic peoples, with virtually no country borders. The identity of the population was belonging to different tribes. Despite this nomadic lifestyle, one of the defining elements of the economy was vibrant trade and being part of the Great Silk Road. The area was constantly characterized by warfare, with different ethnic groups initiating numerous attempts at self-realization and independence (Christoph, 2018).

The Bolshevik Revolution of 1917 radically altered the area's life. Those various ethnic groups were coerced into forming the five Soviet republics, which are now the five independent nation-states"²⁷. Previously, these countries had never achieved statehood (Utomo, 2017). Soviet power brought about a level of economic development in the region, allocated huge financial resources, helped in the construction of factories, significantly increased the education of the population, and formally introduced equality for women by substituting the contemporary state for the region's traditional khanate system (Dagiev, 2013; O'Brien, 2020). Especially targeting women was part of the Soviet objective of developing the ideal "socialist person" through standardized education and removing conventional Islamic madrasas (Deyoung, 2006; Edgar, 2006; O'Brien, 2020). The Soviet educational system had a strong focus on maintaining

²⁷ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

Soviet dominance while at the same time increasing the literacy rate of Central Asia to 90% by 1965 (Froese, 2008; Niyozov & Bahry, 2006; O'Brien, 2020). The Soviet Union governed these countries by establishing relevant social policies and unified languages, such as Russian, which is still commonly spoken today (Delanty & Kumar, 2006; Utomo, 2017).

The Central Asian republics played a secondary role in comparison with the primary republics of the Soviet Union, and their economic life was fundamentally characterized by dependence on those other republics (Zhussipbek, 2017). These republics were directed to specialize in a narrow range of products, functioning as suppliers of raw materials to the industrial centers of the Soviet Union. For example, Tajikistan for supplying aluminium, Uzbekistan for cotton, and Kazakhstan for producing wheat. As a result, after the collapse of the union, these countries found themselves unprepared to navigate the transition from authoritarian to democratic societies. Lacking experience in self-governance and enduring the challenges of achieving independence, they became some of the poorest countries in Asia (VOA, 2009). However, over the past 20 years, there have been tremendous changes, and each country has followed a different pathway of economic, political, and institutional development. Despite significant industrialization processes, agriculture continued to play a major role in the economic lives of the five republics. In terms of political stability, Kazakhstan has maintained a relatively stable government, while Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan have faced challenges. Kyrgyzstan, for instance, experienced three revolutions (in 2005, 2010, and 2020) and transitioned to a presidential system of government in 2021 (Frost, 2018; Lee-Jones, 2021; Omelicheva, 2021). Unlike other Central Asian countries, Tajikistan had to overcome two difficulties: first, it had to establish itself as a sovereign nation following the dissolution of the Soviet Union in 1991, and then there was the civil war from 1992 to 1997. This disorder distorted people's lives and economic development, as well as being reflected in other aspects of life, such as dropping the amount of GDP almost 70% below its 1991 level, growing the unemployment rate, and increasing immigration (Amir & Berry, 2013; O'Brien, 2020). In contrast, Turkmenistan's government is widely regarded as one of the world's last remaining totalitarian autocracies (VOA, 2009). Uzbekistan has witnessed some reforms, referred to as the Uzbek Spring, starting in 2016 (Frost, 2018).

Generally speaking, these countries differ from one another in terms of population size, geographical characteristics, and ethnic diversity. Uzbekistan boasts the largest population in the region, constituting 45% of the total population, and possesses the highest population density (Aytmagambetova, 2009). Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan are less populous countries, and

only 10% of their territories are appropriate for agricultural and human settlement due to the presence of mountains. Kazakhstan has the largest area compared to other Central Asian countries, the second largest population, but the lowest population density. Turkmenistan is considered an unpopulated country because of its low population. The region's ethnic variety is reflected in its linguistic and religious heterogeneity. All the countries' languages belong to the Turkic group, while only Tajik is Persian. Islam is the most common religion in Central Asia, but other religions are also practiced there, such as Russian Orthodox Christianity and others (Nedoluzhko, 2021).

In addition, these countries also vary through nationalism. Turkmenistan is classified as one of the most autocratic nations in the world, which it achieved through its homogeneous demographic composition. This homogeneity of the population (Turkmen represent 73% of the population) allowed Turkmenistan to be a stable country. On the contrary, multi-ethnic Kyrgyzstanis is considered the representatives of a "hybrid regime" that has displayed a comparatively higher level of plurality compared to its neighbours, especially in its initial year of independence (Economist, 2015; Utomo, 2017). Only 52% of the population was Kyrgyz, compared to 22% and 13% for Russians and Uzbeks in 1995, respectively (Utomo, 2017). In the same vein, the population of Kazakhstan is also considered multi-ethnic, and its demographic policy has its own features, such as promoting fertility. In contrast, Uzbekistan, has worked to slow population growth (Nedoluzhko, 2021). These various policies have reflected their development. In the next chapter, we will discuss the different demographic and economic potential of these countries, the degree of stability and efficiency of the state, and the size and structure of national economies.

3.2. Recent demographic trends

Demographically, the area was characterized by high fertility rates and falling death rates. Migration from other Soviet republics, mainly Russia, also plays an important role in increasing the population. "During and immediately after World War II, large numbers of deportees of other nationalities arrived in the Central Asian region (Islamov, 2000).

In the last years of the Soviet Union, the fertility rate of the Central Asian republics had already fallen sharply but was still around 4.0 in 1990 (Worldometer, 2021). For the first time in their histories, the five republics embarked on an independent development path in 1991 after the break-up of the Soviet Union. They were allowed to realize their national identity (Connors, 1998). This seems to have been achieved so far, with varying degrees of success. After an initial economic downturn, all five countries embarked on a path of economic growth, but their growth rates are quite different (Stark & Ahrens, 2012). The region is a heterogeneous group with natural resource-exporting countries (Kazakhstan and Turkmenistan), agriculturally-based small countries (Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan), and more industrialized countries (such as Uzbekistan) (Asian Development Bank, 2010; ESCAP, 2019).

The demographic backgrounds of economic growth in the five independent countries have been very similar, despite the different economic characteristics of these countries. Although there had been an increase in the region's population over the last half-century, starting in the last few years, the growth has slowed down. In the middle of the 21st century, demographic transitions began with a decline in the total fertility rate (TFR) in all the countries following 1960 (Figure 4). It is noteworthy that, despite increases in the TFR in some years, it may, upon projection, quickly realign with the replacement level"²⁸.





Even though the TFR is decreasing, the population of the region is predicted to grow to 88.6 million by 2050 (UN, 2015). In 1950, Kazakhstan was the leader of the region in terms of population, slightly outstripping Uzbekistan (Figure 5). The highest rates of population growth and birth rates are noted in the Republic of Tajikistan. On the whole territory, except for Kazakhstan, there is an outflow of population. The rapid increase in population might cause a shortage of living space due to its unique geographical features, especially in Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan. On the other hand, it will also negatively affect the environment (UNFPA, 2021a).

Source: Department of Economic and Social Affairs database, UN (Medium projections)²⁹

²⁸ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

²⁹ https://population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/MostUsed/ assessed 17.11.2023





Source: Department of Economic and Social Affairs database, UN (Medium projections)³⁰

The demographic conditions across these countries exhibit similarities, characterized by a generally low average old-dependency ratio, predominantly below 7%, except for Kazakhstan. The overall trend indicates a decreasing young-dependency ratio for the entire sample. The decline in the fertility rate, accompanied by demographic aging, is evident through a slight increase in the share of the population of retirement age in these countries, coupled with a significant rise in life expectancy, particularly post-independence (refer to Figure 6b). However, this ageing trend is more prominent in Kazakhstan, positioning the country to parallel Western nations with a growing proportion of older citizens. The dependency ratio in Kazakhstan is projected to rise from 11.3% in 2010 to 20.8% in 2040, marking a transition to an aging nation (Izekenova et al., 2015).

In response to this demographic shift, Kazakhstan initiated preparations for an aging population in 2018 by incrementally raising the official retirement age for women (UNFPA, 2019). As per the updated regulations, the retirement age will increase by six months annually, aligning with the age for men, set to be 63 years by 2027 (UNFPA, 2021b). As of 2023, women in Kazakhstan can retire at the age of 61. Conversely, other Central Asian countries have different retirement age policies. Uzbekistan maintains the lowest retirement age, with men retiring at 60 and women at 55, unchanged since the Soviet Union's dissolution. In Turkmenistan, men retire at 62 and women at 57. Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan have retirement ages set at 63 for men and 58 for women (Makhanov, 2023). On the contrary, Tajikistan will still enjoy a relatively low proportion of older people, and their share will only grow to 5.3% by 2030 (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017). The median age is also expected to increase further, though it is still considered low compared with industrialized countries (Figure 6a).

³⁰ <u>https://population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/MostUsed/</u> assessed 17.11.2023



Figure 6: Median age and life expectancy in Central Asian countries

a) 'Median Age, as of 1 July (years)
 b) Life Expectancy at Birth, both sexes (years)
 Source: Department of Economic and Social Affairs database, UN (Medium projections)³¹

These nations exhibit a more advantageous demographic balance than the situation in 1991, characterized by a decreased share of dependents, thanks to a favorable age distribution. Throughout the examined period, approximately 60% of the population falls within the active age group (15–64 years old), around 30% are below the age of 14, and 10% are above the age of 65 (Figure 7). Projecting forward over the next two decades, particularly from 2023 to 2036, a notably high percentage of the population will theoretically be eligible for employment (IMF, 2018), with a subsequent gradual decline expected in Kazakhstan (UNFPA, 2019).



Figure 7: Age distribution in Central Asian countries

Source: World development indicators, 2023

³¹ https://population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/MostUsed/ accessed 17.11.2023

Consequently, the first demographic dividend window has opened in each country, presenting an opportunity for economic growth through an increased share of the working-age population. We categorized Central Asian countries based on the Demographic Transition Theory, summarizing their demographic conditions in Table 4 to highlight their current demographic states. In our literature review, we initially adopted the World Bank's four-level categorization of demographic dividends (World Bank & International Monetary Fund, 2016). However, for our analysis, we found UNICEF's five-level categorization more suitable, incorporating a mid-dividend level aligned with the five stages of demographic transition (UNICEF, 2019b), and thus, we employed it.

Demographic transition	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5
Birth rate	High	High	Rapid fall	Low	Very low
Death rate	High	Rapid fall	Slow fall	Low	Low
Population	Stable	Rapid growth	Slow increase	Slow increase	Stabilizing
		Central Asian o	countries		
		Tajikistan* Turkmenistan* Uzbekistan*		Kazakhstan* Kyrgyz Republic*	
Demographic dividend	Pre-dividend	Early-dividend	Mid- dividend	Late-dividend	Post-dividend

 Table 4: Central Asian countries in the phase of demographic transition and

 demographic dividend

*Classified by the World Bank³²

Source: Made by author based on UNICEF (2018)

Key factors for stage two, or the early dividend, include an increasing total population, a high birth rate, and a decreasing death rate, indicating the presence of an open demographic window of opportunity. Presently, the region exhibits a declining fertility rate and a slow decrease in the death rate, positioning it between the second and third stages of demographic transition, equivalent to the early and mid-dividend stages. This situation provides a favorable

³² https://data.worldbank.org/country/early-demographic-dividend and https://data.worldbank.org/country/late-demographic-dividend

backdrop for leveraging the demographic bonus. Contrary to this, the World Bank classifies Kazakhstan and the Kyrgyz Republic as late-dividend countries, characterized by decreasing trends in the share of the working-age population, mortality, and fertility rates. However, these countries do not fully align with the characteristics of late-dividend nations. Hence, we believe they still have an opportunity to reap the benefits, albeit within a relatively short timeframe.

The demographic window of opportunity is transitional, so identifying the time of its occurrence is essential. As we discussed in the literature review part, there are different typologies to define it. We applied them to determine the time period for the Central Asian countries (Figure 8).



Figure 8: The period of Demographic Bonus in Central Asian countries based on different approaches

Source: calculated by author based on WPP, 2017 estimation

These estimated findings highlight variations in the time frame and duration of the demographic advantage across these countries. Moreover, the outcomes differ significantly depending on the calculations applied. According to our calculations, it can be asserted that most of these countries are currently experiencing this demographic bonus, although, in Kazakhstan, it is expected to end in the next decade. As emphasized in the literature review section, these methodologies come with certain implications; nonetheless, they provide insights into the time frame during which Central Asian countries need to take immediate action. The direction of these actions will be discerned after the empirical estimation of our model, which will be presented in the fifth and sixth chapters. However, before focusing on that, it is crucial to spotlight the current socio-economic conditions of these countries.

3.3. Background to economic development

"As highlighted in the introduction, our objective is to identify variables contributing to economic growth and poverty reduction in the context of the demographic transition in Central Asian countries. An essential question arises concerning whether these countries can equally harness the demographic dividend and foster an environment conducive to human capital development. In many countries, the underdevelopment of socio-economic and institutional indicators often hinders the realization of the demographic dividend. We intend to discover whether this statement is true in the case of Central Asian countries. Our focus revolves around education, female labor force participation rates, and institutional indicators, considering them key contributors to economic growth"³³.

To comprehend the demographic drivers in Central Asian countries, a deeper understanding of their economic background and demographic development is crucial. Examining their development path reveals that, after the collapse of the Soviet Union, these countries experienced a significant decline in their economies and overall living conditions (Batmunkh et al., 2022; Nedoluzhko, 2021). Consequently, they exhibit significant heterogeneity in socio-economic processes, with a widening development gap over the years. Additionally, natural wealth distribution differs across these nations. With the highest GDP per capita density, Kazakhstan is the wealthiest country in the area, making up over 51% of the total GDP, the majority of which comes from oil. With significant energy reserves, particularly in natural gas, Turkmenistan is a desert country that accounts for 16% of the region's GDP. These countries could mitigate the transition challenges due to their hydrocarbon exports (Nedoluzhko, 2021; Vakulchuk & Overland, 2021). However, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan do not have it, and Uzbekistan does not have enough of this natural resource. Tajikistan, less developed, follows an agrarian-transit model, while Kyrgyzstan, a small mountainous country, relies on water, hydropower, and some gold, constituting 5% of the regional economy (Aytmagambetova, 2009).

This economic divergence has led to substantial disparities in GDP per capita between the two subgroups of Central Asian countries (Batsaikhan & Dabrowski, 2017). "The first subgroup comprises Kazakhstan and Turkmenistan, where hydrocarbons contribute over 15% to GDP and more than 50% to exports, rendering them less dependent on remittances. In contrast, Uzbekistan, with an eclectic export portfolio but insufficient oil and gas resources, relies on remittances, constituting 10-20% of its GDP. Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan, in the second

³³ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

group, heavily depend on remittances, which account for over 20% of their GDP (Vercueil, 2018)"³⁴. Figure 9 clearly illustrates that Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan have experienced minimal growth in GDP per capita since 1990, despite the boost from expanding natural gas resources. In contrast, Uzbekistan has seen moderate growth; however, this trend was impacted by the pandemic in recent years and is anticipated to decline further due to the consequences of the Russia-Ukraine war.



Figure 9: GDP per capita (constant 2015 US\$) in Central Asian countries

Source: World development indicators by the World Bank, 2023

"All five Central Asian countries have unfavourable geographical locations because they are landlocked. Landlocking challenges and underdeveloped transport infrastructure cause problems for their integration into the world economy (Batsaikhan & Dabrowski, 2017). However, their location is favourable for agriculture. Turkmenistan and Kyrgyzstan were the main "agricultural baskets" for the Soviet Union (Abazov, 1999). The agricultural sector was restructured from state-owned farms to small-scale individuals (Batmunkh et al., 2022). The most important agricultural products of Central Asia are wheat, barley, maize, potatoes, oilseeds, and a range of vegetable and fruit crops, as well as animal husbandry, including sheep, goats, cows, and horses (Batmunkh et al., 2022). The world's major cotton exporters are Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan (Mukhitidinova, 2015)"³⁵.

Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan have tried to make their industrial and service sectors more efficient, but they have not been really successful (Batsaikhan & Dabrowski,

³⁴ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

³⁵ The same

2017). Agriculture also has a serious environmental impact due to its high water use, which is almost 60% of the region's total water consumption (Aminova & Abdullayev, 2009; Batmunkh et al., 2022; Qin et al., 2022).

All five Central Asian countries are rich in gold. Uzbekistan and Kazakhstan are the main gold exporters in the region (Mukhitidinova, 2015). In addition, the Central Asian countries have significant amounts of other valuable mineral resources, like manganese, chromium, lead, zinc, titanium, aluminium, copper, cobalt, and molybdenum (Vakulchuk & Overland, 2021).

3.4. Social development and public policy

In this section, we will analyse the social developments, such as employment, education, the role of women in society, immigration, and the quality of institutional performances, that are all crucial to reaping the demographic dividend. We will also use some of these indicators in our empirical analysis.

Figure 10: Labor force participation rate in Central Asian countries, total (% of total population ages 15-64)



Source: World development indicators by the World Bank, 2023

The employment policy situation in Central Asian countries is unfavorable. Since gaining independence, these nations have struggled to create sufficient jobs to absorb their growing working-age population. Previous initiatives had limited success in generating enough
jobs or boosting living conditions to meet the national objectives (IMF, 2018). This condition leads to the underutilization of human capital for economic growth and poverty reduction. In some Central Asian countries, including Kyrgyzstan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan, almost half of the active population is not employed. In Tajikistan, this number is even lower (Figure 10). Additionally, there is a noticeable challenge of unemployment among recent graduates, attributed to a skills gap between market demands and the available workforce.

The employment situation is particularly dire among the region's youth (aged 15-24), constituting a substantial portion of the population. Of particular concern are those not engaged in employment, education, or training (as indicated by the NEET indicator), posing a significant challenge for the country. The prevalence of such youth is conspicuous in Central Asian countries, particularly in Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan, where 40% and 21% of the youth, respectively, fall into this category (World Bank, 2021). This figure might be higher due to a substantial portion of unemployed youth not being registered, categorization as seasonal workers or self-employed individuals, and engagement in illegal labor migration abroad. Recent studies suggest that such youths impede a nation from fully capitalizing on the demographic window of opportunity, contribute to the perpetuation of intergenerational inequality, and elevate crime and violence rates (De Hoyos et al., 2016). Urgent attention is needed to address this issue.

	Agriculture			Industry			Services					
	1991	2000	2010	2021	1991	2000	2010	2021	1991	2000	2010	2021
Kazakhstan	36	36	28	15	18	16	19	21	46	48	53	64
Kyrgyzstan	35	53	32	17	27	11	21	26	38	36	47	57
Tajikistan	55	60	52	43	23	16	16	20	22	24	32	37
Turkmenistan	37	36	32	23	29	27	28	34	34	37	40	43
Uzbekistan	40	38	27	24	23	20	23	25	37	42	50	51

Table 5: The share of workers in economic sectors (% of total employment)

Source: World development indicators by the World Bank, 2023

Another impediment hindering the development of the country's social sphere is low labor productivity. In Central Asian countries, labor productivity is insufficient, and structural reform is progressing too slowly, notably in the agricultural and service sectors. This issue is especially pronounced in Tajikistan, where nearly half of the workforce is involved in agriculture (Table 5), and improvements have been minimal due to a lack of economic structural transformation (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017). Additionally, the increase in labor productivity has been negatively impacted by the inefficient relocation of workers between industries. Another reason for these countries' low labor productivity is an inefficient urban population, where there is little opportunity to invest in human capital. The human development gap is reflected in the level of social processes in these countries, which are rapidly fragmenting in terms of living standards, quality of social services, education, and access to infrastructure. The urbanization of these countries is extremely unbalanced. Kazakhstan has a substantial urban population, whereas Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan are characterized by a prevalence of rural communities, with nearly two-thirds of their populations residing in rural areas (Table 6). The urbanization tendency has not improved much since independence, even though the majority of people from rural areas have migrated abroad (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017).

 Table 6: The share of urban population in Central Asian countries

Countries	1991	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2021	
Kazakhstan	56	55.9	56.0	56.4	56.8	57.1	58	
Kyrgyzstan	37	36.3	35.2	35.2	35.3	35.7	37	
Tajikistan	31	28.8	26.5	26.5	26.5	26.7	28	
Turkmenistan	45	44.7	45.9	47.0	48.4	50.3	53	
Uzbekistan	42	43.7	46.1	48.5	50.9	50.7	50	

Source: World development indicators by the World Bank, 2023

Inadequate levels of urbanization, limited access to basic necessities, and a lack of jobs compelled the majority of the active population to seek employment abroad. Therefore, it has become common for some young people to take up temporary or permanent jobs abroad for better pay, especially in Russia. Since dual citizenship is not permitted in the majority of the region's countries, most people who work permanently in Russia are still citizens of their home countries. Therefore, it is very difficult to determine the exact number of people from the region who have migrated from their country. The majority of these emigrants are from rural areas and are relatively young married men with only a secondary education who work in agriculture, maintenance, housing, and trade (Ajwad, Abdulloev, et al., 2014; Ajwad, de Laat, et al., 2014; Ajwad, Hut, et al., 2014; Strokova & Ajwad, 2017).

Remittances sent home significantly support the economy. Moreover, it is well known that the country reduces unemployment by exporting its excess workforce and benefiting from remittance inflows, both of which contribute to GDP and alleviate poverty (World Migration Report, 2020). This process has helped to exploit at least some of the potential of the first demographic dividend. For instance, in Tajikistan, poverty has dramatically decreased from 65 percent in 2003 to 23.5 percent in 2009 due to rising remittances (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017).

Over the past ten years, the significance of labor migration has increased, making some Central Asian countries (Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, and in some extant Uzbekistan) the most remittance-dependent nations across the globe, with remittances making up 27%, 31%, and 12% of GDP, respectively, in 2020 (World Bank, 2020a) (Table 7). As a result, the economy is vulnerable to external shocks, particularly changes in the Russian Federation, and has a limited export base.

For instance, the ongoing pandemic and the conflict in Ukraine have exacerbated matters. The region's remittance-dependent countries experienced a significant decline in remittance inflows in 2020. The pandemic forced Russia to restrict movement and introduce lockdowns. As a result, many emigrants were forced to take unpaid leave, thereby incurring significant cuts in salary or, even worse, losing their jobs (World Migration Report, 2020). While these countries are still working on mitigating the consequences of the pandemic in general, the latest conflict between Russia and Ukraine may further worsen the situation and represent an obstacle to materializing the first demographic dividend of Central Asian countries, which instead could face a demographic disaster.

Country	Remittance inflows, 2020	Remittance inflows, % of GDP,	Remittance inflows, % of exports	Share of remittances from Russia	Originally projected growth rate,	Revised projection of the growth
	(current, \$ mn)	2020	2020	remittance receipts), 2021 Q1-Q3	2022	
Kazakhstan	374	0.2%	0.7%	51%	7%	-17%
Kyrgyzstan	2,423	31.3%	99.5%	83%	3%	-33%
Tajikistan	2,187	26.7%	155.2%	58%	2%	-22%
Uzbekistan	6,980	11.6%	48.0%	55%	3%	-21%

Table 7: Remittance Data for Central Asian Countries

Source: based on Ratha and Kim (2022)

First of all, the situation has initially impacted emigrants' chances of earning and transferring money home. Thus, the financial inflow of remittances from Russia was expected to decrease dramatically. For example, due to the economic situation in Russia, the volume of remittances to Uzbekistan from labor migrants in 2022 may decrease by 21% instead of growing at the expected 3% rate, according to the predictions of World Bank experts (Ratha & Kim, 2022) (Table 7). Moreover, Russia's disconnection from SWIFT has further complicated the transfer of remittances.

Second, as the rouble depreciates, many families in Central Asian countries that depend economically on remittances from Russia are already feeling the adverse effects. A weaker rouble means smaller transfers. According to the surveys, a significant amount of this money was spent on children's education, which has become impossible in the present circumstances (Seitz, 2019a; UNICEF, 2019a). Thus, a lack of remittances directly decreases investment in human capital. During demographic transition, sustained investment in human capital is needed. However, the recent situation clearly indicates that these countries will suffer and maybe unable to benefit from demographic tailwinds due to a lower level of human capital.

Skills and education are crucial factors in determining job outcomes, and studies have also found that there is a positive correlation between employment rates and educational achievement (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017). Education is considered one of the main accelerators for enhancing human capital. There are many proxy measures used to measure education. In our research, we represent education by the mean length of years of schooling. "The region's countries have about 11 years of schooling. People from Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan studied for more than 11.5 years, as is almost true in Kyrgyzstan, while in the remaining two countries of the region, it is 11.3 years (Table 8). The relatively high numbers come from universal intermediate education as a result of the Soviet era, but higher education enrolment is still low"³⁶.

	Maan			Education enrolment rate (% gross)						
Country	Country Mean years of schooling		Gene	ral seconda	ary (15-18 years)	Te	Tertiary (19-24 years)			
	2000	2010	2020	2000	2010	2020	2000	2010	2020	
Kazakhstan	9.7	11.1	12.3	91	N/A	94	32	47	65	
Kyrgyzstan	10.3	11.0	11.4	81	87	93	35	41	46	
Tajikistan	10.8	11.2	11.3	72	85	N/A	17	23	31*	
Turkmenistan	8.5	11.0	11.3	N/A	N/A	88	N/A	N/A	14	
Uzbekistan	10.0	11.0	11.9	87	91	91	13	9	16	
*2017										

Table 8: Education indicators in Central Asian countries

Source: the data about mean years of schooling is sourced from the UNDP, Human development index database, the remainder from the World Bank database.

Note: N/A – not available

"The region's countries are facing problems related to higher education level and the insufficient quality of human capital. The majority of the population has access to general secondary education, which is guaranteed in the legal framework of all countries. However, due to limited access to tertiary education, employers face challenges such as an acute shortage of qualified specialists, especially among the young. In general, the higher education systems of Central Asian countries are at different stages of development, with notable variations in

³⁶ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

enrolment and completion rates. The enrolment rate in tertiary education differs across the region, from 65% in Kazakhstan to 14% in Turkmenistan (Table 8ftgvb). This variation is even more noticeable in the gender imbalance, both in accessing and completing higher education. The most significant gender inequality gap is in Tajikistan, where the completion rate is more than two times higher for men than for women (29% vs. 13%) (UNESCO, 2021). Access to higher education for women is much lower in Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan than in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan (Table 9). According to studies, the primary cause of this disparity is that most families prioritize the education of their sons over that of their daughters. They believe that the benefits of a son's education are generally higher than a daughter's since sons are expected to support their parents financially while daughters are expected to support the families of their husbands (World Bank, 2021)³⁷.

Country	Completion rate, upper secondary education, female (%)			School enrolment, tertiary, female (%, gross)			Female labour force participation ratio (% of female population ages 15+)		
	2000	2019	2020	2000	2019	2020	2000	2019	2020
Kazakhstan	82.1	96.1	96.5	34.6	68.4	78	65.71	64.01	63.62
Kyrgyzstan	71.8	84.7	85.3	35.8	47.4	52	55.72	43.97	41.56
Tajikistan	50.06	59.9	60.7	11.1	26.9*	n/a	31.27	30.8	30.39
Turkmenistan	93.6	95.7	95.8	N/A	12.8	15	44.5	37.44	36.84
Uzbekistan	72.51	90.4	91	11.9	11.4	15	56.24	46.66	44.84
*2017				•			•		

Table 9: Female development indicators in Cent	al Asian	i countries
--	----------	-------------

Source: the data about secondary education is sourced from the UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS) database, the tertiary education from the World Development Indicators of the World Bank and labor force participation rate from the global economy database³⁸.

"There are several reasons behind gender inequality at the national level. The most significant is a lack of legislative commitment and insufficient policy implementation to ensure equal rights (UNESCO, 2021). The effects of these factors, combined with gender stereotyping, manifest as unequal acceptance of women in the labour market. Notably the gender employment gap in Central Asia is wide, and women still face problems integrating into the labour market (Gebel, 2020). The female labour force participation rate has tended to decline over the last two decades in all the region's countries. The latest trend indicates that almost half of working-age women are not engaged in income-related activities. The situation is most worrying in Tajikistan, where more than two-thirds of women are not joining the workforce (Table 9).

³⁷ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

³⁸ https://www.theglobaleconomy.com/rankings/female labor force participation/Asia/

The reasons behind a fall in the employment rate among women could be personal, cultural, social, religious, or marriage-related factors (Brück et al., 2014). Notably, the fertility rate is still high in Central Asia compared with developed countries (in Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan, the TFR is 3.6 and 3.3, respectively). Furthermore, the absence of appropriate institutions for child daycare and insufficient early childhood education creates barriers for women to be active in the labour market³⁹. Like many other nations, gender stereotypes and attitudes that demand women be in charge of childcare and housework chores put an unequal burden on women (World Bank, 2021). Male migration is another cause of the low level of female employment. On the one hand, the influx of remittances discourages women from seeking employment and engaging in money-making activities. On the other hand, they have to shoulder additional obligations outside of their own, which ban them from working even after completing their education (World Bank, 2021).

Additionally, employers are less likely to hire women who have a dual responsibility between work and family, making it more difficult for women to enter the labour market (Spierings et al., 2009). On the other hand, ESCAP (2019) emphasized that women in Central Asia are more inclined to work in the informal agriculture sector. This sector typically does not demand extensive educational qualifications and tends to offer lower wages. The informal sector is particularly large in rural areas and in agriculture, where unpaid family workers are very common (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017). On the other hand, there is a significant gender wage gap in these countries. The chronic gender wage gap and occupational segregation are caused by gender inequalities in the disciplines of study. Sectors with a higher proportion of women, like education, typically pay less than those with a higher proportion of men, including finance, business, construction, and transportation. For example, in Tajikistan, women's earned income is 4.5 times lower than men's (World Bank, 2021). Also, a greater gender gap could be noticed in government and political decision-making, where due to cultural norms and gender stereotypes, women are less likely to be involved in these activities (UNFPA, 2019; World Bank, 2021).

"Women have many legal rights in Central Asia; however, upon closer examination of family institutions, education, and the labor market, it becomes evident that, in practice, these rights are often constrained by traditional mindsets (Moniruzzaman & Farzana, 2019). The question of how much attention policymakers have paid to women remains crucial. It

³⁹ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

encourages us to emphasise the importance of ensuring that women-related policies work and are implemented more effectively, where institutional factors play a relevant role.

The development level of institutional factors also varies between countries. For analysis, we take the Political Corruption Index and Egalitarian Democracy Index, which are composite measurements of governance effectiveness. The Political Corruption Index covers different areas and levels of corruption in the political realm. It is derived from four scale indicators: the executive corruption index, the public sector corruption index, the indicator for judicial corruption, and the indicator for legislative corruption. The index is measured as the sum of the average level of each indicator. It ranges from less corrupt (zero) to more corrupt (one) (Coppedge et al., 2021).

The Egalitarian Democracy Index is generated from sub-component indicators such as "equal protection" and "equal distribution of resources" among citizens. "Equal protection" will be achieved when the government grants and assures individuals' rights and freedom. On the other hand, an equal distribution of resources means that residents have all the basic necessities, such as equal education and health. The sum of these indicators demonstrates how individuals in a particular country have equal political rights and freedoms and the ability to influence political processes (Lindberg, 2015). It ranks from less democracy (zero) to high democracy (one) (see these indices in Coppedge et al., 2021). In terms of the Egalitarian Democracy Index, all five countries are experiencing fluctuations. Immediately following the collapse of the Soviet Union, the index scores were better, as everything was distributed equally and the rate of inequality among citizens was low (Figure 11a). However, the score has deteriorated as the countries have gained independence and built their own models. The development of the Egalitarian Democracy Index shows that Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan are performing better concerning democratisation compared with the other Central Asian countries, although they are still lagging behind developed countries. Theoretically, this indicates that political decisions are being reached through a deliberative process in these countries, and the people have more influence over political and governing processes. In the past, the situation has been better, but on the surface, it seems people are still more equal in these two countries than in other Central Asian countries. Paradoxically, this could be the cause of recent strikes in Kazakhstan: people know what they stand to lose if strict regulation is introduced⁴⁰.

⁴⁰ The recent situation of massive anti-government protests in Kazakhstan in January 2022 started with a spike in fuel prices and developed into serious political unrest after a long period of stability in the country. Some experts accuse protestors of being part of a foreign terrorist plot and assume 'outside power' is behind the unrest (Human



Figure 11: Egalitarian Democracy Index and Political Corruption Index in Central Asian countries*

a) Egalitarian Democracy Index



b) Political Corruption Index

* Source: University of Gothenburg database

The Egalitarian Democracy Index in Uzbekistan is at the Central Asian average, scoring 0.4. This means efforts still need to be made to improve the protection of individuals under the law and their influence over policymaking across different groups. The situation is critical in Tajikistan and Turkmenistan. Both of these countries still have much progress in achieving

Rights Watch, 2021; Turak, 2022). These situations can illustrate that improvement in democracy is still needed in the country, even though the Egalitarian Democracy Index highlights relatively better results.

democracy, scoring around 0.2 points (Figure 11a). Low political empowerment, restrictions on civil liberties, poor quality healthcare and education, and the low social status of women are some of the obstacles to achieving democracy in these countries"⁴¹. Especially, in Tajikistan, the situation is very problematic. The country trails many of its regional neighbours in terms of institutional reforms due to the civil and political turmoil in the early years of independence, as well as the slow pace of reform implementation (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017). Thus, the country is categorized as a "late modernizer" country (Arias et al., 2014).

"The situation concerning corruption is also not favourable for the entire region. The Political Corruption Index is above 0.7 in all countries (Figure 11b). The higher value indicates that access to public service and political power depends on bribery and corrupt methods. As a result, these become the norm rather than disallowed practices. The situation is not helpful for development: hence, policymakers need to combat corruption as a matter of urgency to use their human resources more efficiently and achieve rapid growth.

In a nutshell, insufficient development of human capital, underutilisation of women, low levels of democratisation, and high levels of corruption are some of the major contributors to Central Asian countries' low GDP. Conversely, in the case of Kazakhstan, it can be observed that the country has a relatively enabling environment in terms of materialising the demographic dividend. If the issues behind the above-analysed indicators are addressed, they could be a catalyst for reaping a demographic benefit in these countries^{*42}.

3.5. Trends in poverty and inequality in Central Asia

In the literature review, we explored claims by researchers that a rise in the active population's share and limited job opportunities could potentially lead to increased poverty and inequality in a country. Conversely, with effective policies, this scenario could be transformed into a means of poverty alleviation. We plan to empirically assess this in the context of Central Asian countries in the sixth chapter of our dissertation. However, we believe it is essential to first highlight the present state of poverty and inequality in Central Asia before moving to the calculations. This preliminary examination may offer initial insights into the poverty and inequality conditions in these countries.

⁴¹ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

⁴² The same

Poverty is one of the major economic problems in Central Asian countries. Following the attainment of independence in 1991, poverty has increased (Jha & Dang, 2009a; Keller & Heller, 2011). Only since the 2000s have these nations witnessed a substantial decline in poverty rates, primarily attributed to remittance-driven prosperity. Despite this improvement, poverty levels still remain high. Strong economic growth over the past ten years has not been the consequence of structural changes that can sustainably raise living standards. Jobs have been generated, but they tend to be in low-productivity occupations that are frequently in the informal sector. Additionally, there are different socio-economic outcomes in the job market among areas and population groups (Strokova & Ajwad, 2017). The trends in poverty reduction also vary between these countries; some of them have succeed in lifting the majority of people out of poverty, while others are still struggling to catch up (Khitakhunov, 2020a; Seitz, 2019).

Figure 12: Poverty line (1.90%/day) in Central Asian countries, headcount (%)



Source: Poverty and Inequality Platform, World Bank

The most noticeable reduction was observed in Kazakhstan through macroeconomic reforms and anti-inflation policies (Jha & Dang, 2009). The country's extreme poverty rate is almost zero. On the other hand, extreme poverty is still high in Uzbekistan, even though there was a precipitous reduction, which fell from 60% in 2000 to 10% in 2019 (Figure 12).

There is clear evidence that poverty declined over the years (Figure 12). However, the tendency to alleviate poverty varies across countries. The poverty reduction rate was significant until 2009, with an average 7 percentage point decline annually from 2002 to 2009, in both the Kyrgyz Republic and Tajikistan. However, after that period, the rate of poverty reduction has

fallen more slowly. Among Central Asian countries, only Kazakhstan could eliminate poverty, which is measured by 3.20 USD of income per day (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Poverty reduction rates in Central Asian countries (3.2 \$ per day)

It is noteworthy to mention that a high level of poverty remains in remote and rural areas, where there is a lack of employment opportunities and close integration with urban growth centers (World Bank, 2020a). In remote areas of Tajikistan and the Kyrgyz Republic, where 73% and 64% of people live, the poverty rate is above 40%. This indicates that poverty in Central Asia is largely a rural phenomenon.

Another indicator of poverty in the region is the proportion of employed people who are poor, also known as the working poor. This indicator identifies the proportion of the employed population who are poor because, despite having a job, their income is insufficient to cover basic living expenses. Surprisingly, countries' international poverty rates and the working poor indicators do not vary significantly from each other (Gammarano, 2019).

Table 10: Share of employment by economic class (%, ILO modeled estimates, 2022)

Country	Extremely poor	Moderately poor	Near poor
Kazakhstan	0	0	2
Kyrgyzstan	0	12	45
Tajikistan	2	7	23
Turkmenistan	1	4	19
Uzbekistan	7	22	38

Note: Extremely poor: less than \$1.90 a day, moderately poor: \$1.90 to \$3.20 a day, near poor: \$3.20-\$5.50 a day (using 2011 PPPs) **Source:** ILO modeled estimates, ILOSTAT

83

According to data on the working poor, the situation in Uzbekistan is also not as favorable as that of other Central Asian countries. As of 2022, the share of the extremely poor in Uzbekistan is 7%, meaning that despite being employed, seven percent of all workers live in extreme poverty (Table 10). The main causes of poverty include unemployed workers, inefficient workers, and the lower wages of rural residents, whose incomes are only half those of the average citizen (UNFPA, 2019).

In addition to poverty, inequality creates a significant challenge for Central Asian countries, contributing to social tension and economic instability. Historically, levels of inequality were lower during the Soviet Union era when access to public services such as healthcare, education, and utilities, as well as a source of income, were promised to every individual. However, gender equality in labor market participation was also mandated (UNESCAP, 2018). After the collapse of the Soviet Union and transition to market economies, income inequality, including variations in earnings and profits, surged (RICA, 2019). In some Central Asian countries, the coefficient of Gini, a measure of income inequality, doubled from pre-transition levels (Bandara et al., 2006). For instance, during the 1987-90 period, income inequality levels were comparable to Scandinavian countries, with a Gini coefficient of 0.25. However, in the first decade of independence, particularly in Turkmenistan and Tajikistan, it soared to 0.5, aligning with global high-income inequality levels (Müller, 2003).



Figure 14: Pre-tax national income (Gini coefficient) in Central Asian countries

Source: World inequality platform - https://wid.world/data/

In the past decade, the Gini coefficient based on pre-tax national income has remained persistently high across Central Asian countries, except for Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan. In other countries in the region, it exceeds 0.5 and even reaches 0.6 (see figure 14).

The Gini coefficient based on after-tax income varies. In 2022, Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan had an indicator of about 0.29, while in 2023, Uzbekistan's stood at 0.35, indicating moderate inequality (Knight et al., 2024; World Bank, 2023).

The other most widely used measure of income distribution by demographic group is the total income of the richest tenth decile. The wealthiest segments of each nation's population have their incomes concentrated in the tenth decile, which also best captures the characteristics of inequality: the status of elites and their ingrained interests (the "mentality" of high society) (RICA, 2019). Greater income disparity within a population is indicated by a higher income share owned by the top 10% of earners. It implies that a comparatively small percentage of people or families control a substantial part of the nation's income.

Countries	1991	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2020
Kazakhstan	0.3529	0.3861	0.4321	0.4201	0.4138	0.3730	0.4120
Kyrgyzstan	0.4335	0.4335	0.3791	0.4241	0.4032	0.3968	0.4327
Tajikistan	0.3812	0.3812	0.3915	0.4232	0.4086	0.4072	0.4223
Turkmenistan	0.4799	0.4799	0.4807	0.4838	0.4878	0.4818	0.4889
Uzbekistan	0.4830	0.4830	0.4550	0.4547	0.4547	0.4547	0.4553

Table 11: The share of total income of 10 of the richest*

*Pre-tax national income

Source: World inequality platform - https://wid.world/data/

Recent trends indicate that in Central Asian countries, the income of the richest 10th decile has increased over the last few years (Table 11). For instance, in Uzbekistan during 2022-2023 the incomes of the bottom 10% increased by 6%, while the incomes of the wealthiest 10% grew by more than 30 % (Knight et al., 2024).

Another interesting point is identifying whether an optimal level of inequality exists for this region, as it provides an opportunity to create a more balanced and sustainable socioeconomic environment. However, defining the optimal level of inequality in Central Asia is challenging, as previous scientific works have not calculated it precisely. The literature offers specific solutions rather than a general theory for estimating the optimal level of inequality (Charles-Coll, 2010; Khatun & Saadat, 2022). In the Central Asian context, the optimal level of inequality depends on the specific goal: if the aim is to increase the average GDP per capita, a different level of inequality might be optimal compared to increasing the average educational level. Therefore, establishing a well-founded methodology to estimate it precisely is essential and will be a focus of our future research.

4. Research methodology

4.1. Research design

In this section, we will describe the procedures and strategies for collecting, evaluating, and interpreting our data. It should be noted that this methodology is relevant for the next parts of the thesis (sections five and six), which is why it is included here. However, to avoid confusion the description of the models (growth, poverty and inequality) and the explanation of the data will be provided in their respective empirical sections.

We used secondary time-series panel data from international organizations in this study, indicating a quantitative approach. Our sample comprises yearly data from five Central Asian countries, forming a panel dataset.

In panel data analysis, it is typical to use random effects and fixed effects models. These two models differ in how they treat dummy variables. In a fixed effects model, the parameter estimate of a dummy variable is integrated into the intercept, while in a random effects model, it becomes part of the error term. In both types of models, the slopes remain consistent regardless of the group or time period (Park, 2011). Below, model one and model two represent the functional forms of fixed (1) and random effect (2) models respectively:

$$y_{it} = (a + u_i) + X'_{it}\beta + v_{it}$$
(1)
$$y_{it} = a + X'_{it}\beta + (u_i + v_{it})$$
(2)

A fixed effects model assumes uniform variance and consistent slopes across all groups in order to investigate the variations in intercepts between individuals. In this model, the individual-specific effect, u_i, can be associated with other variables in the model since each individual's distinct characteristic is constant over time and is integrated into the intercept (Park, 2011).

On the other hand, in random effect model, the error variance is estimated which is unique to each group or times, presuming that heterogeneity is uncorrelated with any of the regressors. Thus, the individual-specific effect, represented by u_i, is either part of the composite error term or a single, particular random heterogeneity. For this reason, an error component model is another name for a random effect model. In this model, the intercept and slopes of the regressors remain consistent across individuals, while the variability between individuals (or time periods) is due to their unique error components, not differences in their intercepts (Park, 2011).

To determine whether the fixed or random effects method is more appropriate, there is a test designed to help make that choice. This test, known as the Hausman (1978) specification test, compares the two models, with the null hypothesis asserting that individual effects are not correlated with any of the regressors in the model (Park, 2011).

In our case, we used the Hausman (1978) specification test to select the applicable estimation method. Table 12 presents the test results for each model from our two empirical sections. The test results indicated that the null hypothesis of no correlation between the individual-specific effects and the regressors is rejected at a 10% significance level, suggesting that the fixed effects model is more suitable. Thus, we opted to use the fixed effects approach for our regression models.

	Models									
Empirical		1a	1b		2a		2b			
part 1: Economic	Statistics	Probability (Prob.)	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.		
growth	115.46	0.000***	111.4	0.000***	111.4	0.000***	106.2	0.000***		
Empirical	M	odel 1	Moo	del 2	Moo	lel 3	Moo	iel 4		

Prob.

0.00***

Statistics

49.21

Prob.

0.00***

Statistics

36.5

Table 12: Hausman test results

Prob.

0.00***

Statistics

61.57

Source: own estimation

part 2:

Poverty

and

inequality

4.2. Diagnostic tests

Statistics

47.48

Prob.

0.00***

In regression equations, it is essential to conduct a series of mandatory diagnostic tests to avoid spurious results and ensure the selection of the appropriate method. One important test is to detect cross-sectional dependence. If this issue exists, it can lead to biased results. Various techniques can determine if the issue is relevant. One such technique is the Pesaran (2004) Cross-Sectional Dependence (CD) test, which is a useful method for detecting this problem using the following estimation:

$$CD = \sqrt{\left(\frac{2}{N(N-1)}\right)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{N} \sqrt{T_{ij}\hat{p}_{ij}}\right)$$
(3)

Where, T represents the time dimension, and N represents the cross-sectional dimensions of the panel. The term \hat{p}_{ij} is the residual coefficient for pairwise cross-sectional correlation.

		Models							
Empirical part	1:	a	11)	2:	a	21)	
1: Economic growth	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.	
Pesaran CD	1.43	0.15	1.81	0.07	1.67	0.09	1.76	0.07	
Breusch-Pagan LM test (CD)	65.63	0.00***	60.47	0.00***	18.94	0.04**	17.89	0.05**	
Serial Correlation	200.9	0.00***	173.9	0.00***	118.2	0.00***	103.1	0.00***	
Heteroscedasticity Modified Wald test for groupwise heteroskedasticity in fixed effect regression model	139.98	0.00***	63.58	0.00***	29.94	0.00***	35.64	0.00***	
Breusch-Pagan / Cook-Weisberg test for heteroskedasticity	8.68	0.00***	5.75	0.02**	0.58	0.4	0.73	0.4	
Empirical part	Mod	el 1	Model 2		Model 3		Mod	el 4	
2: Poverty and inequality	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.	Statistics	Prob.	
Pesaran CD	0.07	0.9383	0.28	0.7750	1.99	0.0466	1.29	0.1957	
Breusch-Pagan LM test (CD)	28.48	0.00***	50.67	0.00***	30.02	0.00***	14.30	0.16	
Serial Correlation	117.8	0.00***	133.0	0.00***	3.65	0.12	3.51	0.13	
Heteroscedasticity Modified Wald test for groupwise heteroskedasticity in fixed effect regression model	4.29	0.5	4.52	0.47	43.63	0.00***	124.5	0.00***	
Breusch-Pagan / Cook-Weisberg test for heteroskedasticity	0.05**	0.83	0.35	0.55	8.58	0.00***	16.04	0.00***	

Table 13: Diagnostic Test Results

Source: own estimation

Another technique to detect cross-sectional dependence is the Breusch and Pagan (1980) LM test, which is more appropriate when T is greater than N. However, if N is larger or approximately equal to T, this test may yield biased results. The test calculates through the following equation (4):

$$LM = T \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{N} \hat{p}_{ij}^2 \qquad (4)$$

Where, \hat{p}_{ij} represents the correlation coefficient of residuals between cross-sectional units i and j; T denotes the time dimension.

For our panel data, we applied both the Pesaran (2004) Cross-Sectional Dependence test and Breuch-Pagan LM test to all our sample equations. The results indicate that most of the regression residuals show evidence of cross-sectional dependence (Table 13).

The next step is to address the issue of autocorrelation. Its presence can lead to inefficient estimates and violates the assumption that errors are independent. To ensure the accuracy of the model, detecting autocorrelation is essential. Although several tests have been suggested for serial correlation in panel-data models, Wooldridge (2002) highlighted a novel test that is particularly appealing because it is simple to perform and needs relatively few assumptions (Drukker, 2003; Khosropour, 2017). We performed the Wooldridge (2002) test for autocorrelation on our models, and the results indicated that autocorrelation is a relevant concern across our cases (Table 13).

Detecting heteroscedasticity is also critical. If heteroscedasticity is present, standard errors computed under the assumption of homoscedasticity are likely to be inaccurate, potentially leading to unreliable confidence intervals and hypothesis tests. As a result, incorrect inferences regarding the importance of coefficients may be drawn. To address this, estimating robust standard errors is recommended to account for potential heteroscedasticity.

Various techniques can be used to identify heteroscedasticity, including the Modified Wald test for groupwise heteroscedasticity (Greene, 2002) and the Breusch-Pagan / Cook-Weisberg test. We applied both tests, and the results showed that heteroscedasticity is present in our models (Table 13).

4.3. The chosen methodology

The next crucial step is to choose an appropriate regression technique for our models. In order to tackle above mentioned issues, multiple strategies exist. The choice of method depends on the characteristics of the panel data. As we have mentioned in the introduction, for our case with a long time period (T=28 years) and fewer countries (N=5 countries), it is recommended to use a panel fixed-effects model with DriscolleKraay corrected robust standard errors. Driscoll and Kraay (1998) provide a non-parametric covariance matrix estimator that yields standard errors that are resistant to a variety of spatial and temporal dependency patterns and consistent with heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation (Hoechle, 2007).

Given that the Hausman test indicates that the fixed-effects model is appropriate, the Driscoll-Kraay estimators with fixed effects (DKFE) will be used. The technique works as follows: Initially, all the variables in Equation (5) must be within-transformed, then using the within-transformed variables to perform an Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) estimation on Equation (6) (Hoechle, 2007).

$$\check{z}_{it} = z_{it} - \bar{z}_{it} + \bar{z} \tag{5}$$

Where, $\bar{z}_i = T_i^{-1} \sum_{t=t_{i1}}^{T_1} Z_{it}$ and $\check{z} = (\sum T_i)^{-1}$

$$\check{y}_{it} = \tilde{x}'_{it}\theta + \check{\epsilon}_{it} \tag{6}$$

 $\check{\epsilon}_{it}$ is covariance-matrix of the Driscoll-Kraay, that is stable regardless of cross-sectional dependencies throughout the panel because it depends on cross-sectional averages.

4.4. Validation and reliability

To ensure the reliability and robustness of the findings, a variety of alternative techniques can be used. It's crucial to ensure that these methods are appropriate for the characteristics of the data.

	Hetero- scedastic	autocorrelation	contemporaneously cross-sectionally correlated
Fixed or random effects with 'robust' option for standard errors	+		
Fixed or random effects with 'cluster' option for standard errors	+	+	
Fixed- and random-effects linear models with an AR(1) disturbance		+	
Regression with Newey-West standard errors	+	+	
Feasible Generalized Least Squares	+	+	+
Linear Regression with Panel- Corrected Standard Errors	+	+	+

Table 14: Estimation techniques for addressing issues in linear panel models

Source: based on Hoechle, (2007).

Our preliminary diagnostic tests revealed certain issues in the dataset, indicating that besides Driscoll-Kraay estimators with fixed effects, other techniques might be necessary. Researchers recommend fixed or random effects with 'robust' or 'cluster' standard errors, regression with Newey-West standard errors, linear regression with panel-corrected standard errors, and Feasible Generalized Least Squares (Hoechle, 2007). Table 14 outlines the methods used to address certain issues.

To validate the results of our hypothesis testing, we applied alternative techniques, such as Feasible Generalized Least Squares (FGLS) and Linear Regression with Panel-Corrected Standard Errors (PCSE), to some sections of our empirical analysis.

5. The impact of demographic transition on economic growth of Central Asia: empirical analysis

This chapter is based on a paper published in the Post-Communist Economies journal⁴³.

5.1. Methodological framework and hypothesis

After presenting the main elements of the economic and social situations in the Central Asian countries in the previous section, we will also examine the drivers of development through our growth model. Our modelling tool is based on a version of the post-neoclassical growth model that takes into account demographic developments.

In neoclassical growth models, only population growth took place as a demographic variable. However, the approach has become more differentiated in the literature, where the first demographic dividend is modelled. These models explore the returns to the working-age population and the GDP-increasing effect of the first demographic dividend. In this regard, the idea that an increasing working-age population can boost economic growth and that this potential is dependent on labour policies, macroeconomic management, and education policies is essential (Choudhry & Elhorst, 2010). A detailed explanation of the economic and demographic background was given in the third chapter.

Therefore, in empirical estimations of the demographic dividend, economic growth is explained by the standard explanatory variables, which we will call "core" explanatory variables. These variables are the working-age share of the population, demographic and human development indicators, and economic and socio-cultural variables. With respect to these variables, we refer to these models as "core- models". Figure 15 illustrates the most important variables of the "core-models". We refer to the models where democracy and corruption indicators are also taken as explanatory variables as "Core-plus" models in the present paper. We have used the Egalitarian Democracy Index and the Political Corruption Index to represent these factors.

⁴³ Berde, É., & Kurbanova, M. (2023). Does the demographic dividend with human capital development yield an economic dividend? Evidence from Central Asia. Post-Communist Economies, 35(2), 154-178.

Figure 15: Model Structure for Describing the First Demographic Dividend



Source: own research

In this research, we have used "Core models" and "Core plus models" to describe how the first demographic dividend evolved. We are testing the following two hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1: The same demographic and economic variables that have influenced the first demographic dividend in other countries are also crucial in Central Asia.

Hypothesis 2: In the Central Asian countries, where there are many contradictory economic forces, other variables like the level of democracy and the level of corruption also play a vital role in determining whether the first demographic dividend can exert its effect.

5.2. Data description

For this study, the data is combined from different data sources covering 1991-2018 for each of the five countries. We have mainly used data from World Development Indicators published by the World Bank. The UNDP's Human Development Report serves as the source for the average year of schooling. The data for the quality of government, the Political Corruption Index, and the Egalitarian Democracy Index are being used from the University of Gothenburg database. The sample selection and the time period are partly based on data availability. Table 15 provides information about the data, including sources and measurement units.

Table 15: Data and sources for economic growth estimation

	Indicator	Source of data			
loggdppc	Log of GDP per capita (constant 2010 US\$)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
WAP	The working-age share of the population (population aged 15-64, % of the total population)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
CS	Gross capital formation (% of GDP)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
AG	Employment in agriculture (% of total employment) (modelled ILO estimate)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
SR	Employment in services (% of total employment) (modelled ILO estimate)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
FL	Female labour force participation rate (% of female population ages 15+) (modelled ILO estimate)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
ODR	Old dependency ratio (% of working-age population)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
YDR	Young dependency ratio (% of working-age population)	World development indicators by the World Bank			
$g_{\mathrm{L}_{\mathrm{it}}}$	Growth of life expectancy	World development indicators by the World Bank			
Х	Mean years of schooling (years)	Human development report by the UNDP			
$g_{U_{it}}$	Growth of urban population	World development indicators by the World Bank			
CR	Political corruption index	University of Gothenburg database			
GI	Egalitarian Democracy Index	University of Gothenburg database			

Source: edited by the author

Most of the variables are standard economic categories and do not need further explanation. The Political Corruption Index and the Egalitarian Democracy Index are taken as proxies for governance effectiveness. The meaning of these two variables has already been explained in Section 3.

The descriptive statistics for all the variables are calculated and provided in Table 16. According to this, the region's average GDP per capita during the analysis period was around \$2700. The average share of the working-age population (people aged 15 to 64 as a percentage of the total population) is 61.5%. However, the female labor participation rate is low, accounting for more than half of the working-age women who do not work. In addition, the region's countries have about 10 years of schooling on average. Section 3 contains in-depth analyses of the other variables.

Variable	Mean	Std. dev.	Min.	Max.	Obs.
Gdppc - GDP per-capita	2771.242	2869.541	366.9354	11165.54	140
WAP _{it}	61.57	4.71	51.74	69.13	140
The working-age share of the population					
CS	26.10	9.01	9.01	51.93	140
Gross capital formation					
FL _{it}	49.95	11.32	29.17	65.66	140
Female labour force participation rate					
AG _{it}	37.32	11.54	16.26	61.35	140
Employment in agriculture					
SR _{it}	39.58	9.07	22.8	63.30	140
Employment in services					
$g_{L_{it}}$	0.32	0.60	-1.74	2.33	140
Growth of life expectancy					
X _{it}	10.04	1.03	8.1	11.8	140
Mean year of schooling					
$g_{U_{it}}$	1.51327	1.17	-1.71	3.77	140
Growth of urban population					
CR _{it}	0.86	0.05	0.72	0.94	140
Political corruption index					
GI _{it}	0.47	0.13	0.23	0.70	140
Egalitarian Democracy Index					
ODR _{it}	7.89	1.76	4.81	11.52	140
old dependency ratio					
YDR _{it}	55.49	13.44	34.65	85.73	140
Young dependency ratio					

Table 16: Descriptive statistics of economic growth estimation variables

Source: own elaboration

5.3. Model specification

First, we estimate economic growth by the standard explanatory variables ("Core model"), which are given in equation (1a).

$$loggdppc_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 WAP_{it} + \beta_2 CS_{it} + \beta_3 AG_{it} + \beta_4 FL_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(1a)

Where, i = 1, 2, ..., 5 represents the cross-sectional units and t = 1, 2, ..., 28 is the time period and ε_{it} is the error term. The description of the data is given in table 16 above.

The alternate (b) version of the first equation, equation (1b), will also be used to examine different age groups' effects.

$$loggdppc_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 ODR_{it} + \beta_2 YDR + \beta_3 CS_{it} + \beta_4 AG_{it} + \beta_5 FL_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(1b)

The working-age share of the population (WAP) has been swapped out for the old-age dependency ratio (ODR) and the young-age dependency ratio (YDR). This makes model (1b)

different from its simpler predecessor (1a). The remaining portion of the equation is identical to that in (1a).

In addition to the first model, we have added a set of relevant indicators that help us to determine other key components of the demographic transition in economic growth estimation (the "Core plus model") in a more general way. These potential contributing indicators contain not only governance effectiveness indicators but also human development indicators. This specification is expressed as follows:

$$loggdppc_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 WAP_{it} + \beta_2 AG_{it} + \beta_3 SR_{it} + \beta_4 FL_{it} + \beta_5 g_{L_{it}} + \beta_6 X_{it-2} + \beta_7 g_{U_{it}} + \beta_8 CS_{it} + \beta_9 CR_{it} + \beta_{10} GI_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2a)

The increasing working-age share of the population embedded in human capital is a crucial component of the demographic dividend. It increases workers' productivity (Cruz & Ahmed, 2018) and is a key channel for transforming unskilled workers into skilled ones (Golley & Tyers, 2012). Therefore, we use the mean years of schooling as a proxy for human capital in our estimation. It is noteworthy that the previous year's capital accumulation affects economic growth in the current year. Hence, adding education with a lag seemed reasonable in our estimation, and the choice of lag in the model (2a) was based on achieving the highest significant delay. Moreover, health as a measure of human capital could be a sensible inclusion in the analysis, as the literature suggests (Ahmad & Khan, 2018; Ogundari & Awokuse, 2018). Therefore, the growth rate of life expectancy has been included in the estimation. It is assumed that having a better healthcare system causes an increase in the population's life expectancy.

Also, urbanisation is considered to be one of the main components of human capital development. In fact, infrastructure is developed in urban areas, and people are more likely to have better access to education and health. This allows them to improve the living standards of the population and increase workers' productivity (Dao, 2012). In addition, in the endogenous growth model, labor plays a significant role in driving growth and transformation; therefore, urbanization must be taken into account in order to draw accurate conclusions (Haldar & Sethi, 2022). Hence, the growth rate of the urban population was added to our estimation as a proxy for living standards. To exploit the demographic dividend fully, well-established institutions are required. Hence, the Political Corruption Index and the Egalitarian Democracy Index were included in our model as proxies for governance effectiveness or institutional indicators.

$$loggdppc_{it} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}AG_{it} + \beta_{2}SR_{it} + \beta_{3}FL_{it} + \beta_{4}g_{L_{it}} + \beta_{5}X_{it-2} + \beta_{6}g_{U_{it}} + \beta_{7}CS_{it} + \beta_{8}CR_{it} + \beta_{9}GI_{it} + \beta_{10}ODR_{it} + \beta_{11}YDR_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2b)

In model specification (2b), we focus on how the dependency ratio and additional explanatory variables impact economic growth. The principal difference in the model (2b) from its simpler predecessor (2a) is that it replaces the working-age share of the population with the old-age dependency ratio and young-age dependency ratio (henceforth the old dependency ratio and young dependency ratio, respectively). We have previously used the same practice in models (1a) and (1b). The remaining portion of equation (2b) is the same as that in the model (2a).

5.4. Empirical results and discussion

The common phase of the first demographic dividend in the five Central Asian countries allows us to identify the main drivers of growth by examining data from these countries in a single panel estimate. Panel data estimation has several advantages, such as obtaining better estimates through a larger sample, controlling unobservable variables, accounting for heterogeneity, and tackling the omitted variable bias problem (Ahmad & Khan, 2019). This approach is also useful in our case, as the time-series data that available for the region is not long enough to calculate the relationships separately in each Central Asian country.

To choose an appropriate method, a set of diagnostic tests needs to be implemented. A detailed explanation of each diagnostic test and their results is provided step-by-step in the fourth section, "Research Methodology." Therefore, we will proceed directly to our estimation results.

As mentioned in the methodology section, we classified our models into two groups: "Core models" and "Core models plus". Here, "Core models" are represented by models (1a) and (1b), and "Core plus" models by (2a) and (2b). For our curiosity, we separately tested the impact of different age groups (young and old dependency ratios) on economic well-being in the 'b' version of both models.

The empirical estimation of all four model specifications (1a/b, and 2a/b) is expressed in Table 17. Stata-16 software was used to perform the estimation.

Table 17: Results of fixed effect estimation

Mariahla	Mo	odel 1	Model 2		
variable	a	b	а	b	
Constant	5.18 [0.97]***	6.60 [0.60]***	1.98 [1.26]	4.06 [1.17]***	
WAP _{it}	0.018		0.020		
The working-age share of the population	[0.01]*		[0.008]***		
ĊŚ	0.007	0.008	0.003	0.003	
Gross capital formation	[0.002]***	[0.002]***	[0.001]*	[0.001]**	
FL _{it}	0.045	0.043	0.059	0.059	
Female labour force	[0.01]***	[0.01]***	[0.006]***	[0.006]***	
participation rate	. .				
AG _{it}	-0.035	-0.037	-0.010	-0.015	
Employment in agriculture	[0.004]***	[0.003]***	[0.011]	[0.011]	
SR _{it}			0.015	0.012	
Employment in services			[0.014]	[0.014]	
$g_{L_{it}}$ Growth of life expectancy			-0.067 [0.017]***	-0.058 [0.018]***	
X_{it-2} Mean year of schooling			0.134 [0.02]***	0.130 [0.025]***	
a _n			0.091	0.093	
Growth of urban population			[0.016]***	[0.018]***	
CR _{it}			-1.034	-1.283	
Political corruption index			[0.51]**	[0.55]**	
GI _{it}			0.816	0.727	
Egalitarian Democracy Index			[0.242]***	[0.231]***	
ODR _{it}		0.036		0.025	
old dependency ratio		[0.19]		[0.018]	
YDR _{it}		-0.008		-0.009	
Young dependency ratio		[0.004]**		[0.003]***	
R-squared	0.81	0.82	0.92	0.92	

Dependent variable: log of GDP per-capita

Driscoll-Kraay standard errors are in parenthesis

Note: *, **, *** represents Significance level at 10%,5% and 1% respectively.

According to the results aggregating five countries in both model specifications (1a) and (2a), the coefficient of the working-age share of the population is positive and highly significant. This confirms the theory that demographic transition is a driver of economic growth in transition economies (Aiyar & Mody, 2013; Bloom et al., 2001). It provides evidence that Central Asia still has an opportunity to translate today's demographic realities into tomorrow's economic prosperity, even if they have not applied every possible measure in the past.

Interestingly, even if some economic and political hardships distort the opportunity for GDP growth in some Central Asian countries (Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan), the contribution of the demographic dividend to economic growth can still be seen in our estimation results. Similar results were shown by Abdulloev et al. (2014) and Denisenko et al. (2020). Besides, the coefficient of the working-age share of the population is larger in the model (2a) compared to (1a) (1.8% and 2.0%, respectively). This supports the claim that the impact of demographic transition will be more powerful in a condition of improved human capital, in well-established government institutions, and corruption-free societies.

The coefficient of capital stock is positive and significant, highlighting that higher capital formation encourages economic growth. This result is consistent with the findings of Ahmad and Khan (2018, 2019).

The magnitude of the demographic benefit is determined by the economy's ability to absorb an additional labour force. It can be maximised by providing job opportunities for the upcoming bulk of the economically active population, particularly the female labour force (Ahmad & Khan, 2019; Aiyar & Mody, 2013; Bloom et al., 2009). All models' results show a positive and significant coefficient for female labour force participation, indicating its importance in the labour market. As a result of increased female labour force participation, living standards rise, economic growth accelerates, and national income rises. In addition, it provides an opportunity for the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), particularly SDG 5 ("Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls").

On the other hand, the share of employees in the agriculture sector exhibits a negative effect, which is consistent with the results of Joe, Kumar, and Rajpal (2018). They found that the labour force should be shifted from low-productivity agricultural to high-productivity sectors. Hence, job opportunities for the upcoming young labour force should be created in more appropriate sectors of the economy. Agriculture is still one of the dominant sectors employing people in Central Asia; it ranges from 16% in Kazakhstan to 45% in Tajikistan (World Bank, 2020).

In model specifications (1b) and (2b), we tested whether economic growth can be boosted by reducing the number of dependents according to the demographic dividend hypothesis. As expected, the effect of the young dependency ratio is negative and significant in both the regression results summarised in Table 17. This means that a decrease in the young dependency ratio is one of the biggest drivers of economic growth in Central Asian countries. The result is consistent with the findings of Cruz and Ahmed (2018), indicating that a decrease in the young dependency ratio leads to economic growth.

The old-age dependency ratio has a positive sign, which seems strange at first thought. This is probably the consequence of the fact that GDP per capita and the share of older people are both increasing. Moreover, the share of older people is still not very high in Central Asian countries. The positive coefficient does not indicate causation and does not represent an important part of equations (1b) and (2b), which can be seen from the fact that it is not statistically significant. These findings are consistent with the studies by Bloom, Canning, and Finlay (2010) and Choudhry and Elhorst (2010). They found that the old-age dependency ratio does not impact economic growth over the interval where it is still not very high. Moreover, Lee and Shin's (2019) findings highlight that the old-age share of the population will be impacted negatively when it reaches a certain level. In our case, the lack of impact can be explained by the fact that none of the countries in question have yet completed their demographic transition. They have a relatively low share of people aged 65 and above compared with countries experiencing ageing populations. In 'aged' countries, the proportion of people aged 65 and up exceeds 20%.

When more control variables were added to the model specifications (2a) and (2b), the results fully confirmed previous researchers' and our hypothesis that human capital, female labour force participation, and governance effectiveness significantly impact the economic growth of the Central Asian region. Human capital formation is considered one of the most important pathways for describing the impact of demographic changes on economic growth. In the current analysis, the education variable is positive and statistically significant. The lagged form of the variable indicates that previously investing in human capital affects economic growth in the current period and increases productivity. Similar results are found in Ahmad and Khan (2019) and Crespo Cuaresma et al. (2014). Conversely, technology adaptation when people have less human capital is shallow. In other words, demographic dividends can turn into economic dividends only in a highly educated society (Lutz et al., 2019).

The coefficient of the growing share of the urban population is positive and statistically significant, verifying the empirical findings of Fox and Dyson (2008) and Dao (2012). The urbanisation process is considered one of the main factors in human capital development. Thus, compared to their rural counterparts, urban societies benefit more from high-quality education, healthcare, and sanitation and have a higher life expectancy (Dao, 2012).

The growth in life expectancy has a significant negative impact on GDP per capita, which confirms the findings of previous scholars (Acemoglu & Johnson, 2007; Barro et al., 2010; Kunze, 2014; Sunde & Cervellati, 2012). The negative impact can be explained by the fact that increasing life expectancy requires additional resources for social care and pensions. This leads to a decrease in investment in children's education and other necessities (Kunze, 2014).

As has been argued, the demographic dividend is policy-dependent, meaning that the government plays an important role. A government that is socially accountable in delivering services and responsive to the needs of its citizens will ultimately create a democratic environment conducive to inclusive growth and human development (Emara & Chiu, 2016).

Our second hypothesis is based on testing the vital role of "other variables", such as the level of democracy and corruption. Our hypothesis is fully confirmed by our estimation results. Turning to our main variables of interest, the results of the (2a) and (2b) models have shown that the coefficient of the Egalitarian Democracy Index is significant. This demonstrates that governance effectiveness is an important determinant of the economic growth of developing economies. The positive sign of the coefficient shows that without effective governance and policies, the demographic gains will not be as powerful. In general, the importance of institutional factors in stimulating economic growth has been confirmed in the empirical literature and also proven in our model (Emara & Chiu, 2016; Emara & Jhonsa, 2014; Mehanna et al., 2010).

Regarding the other political variable, our results reveal a negative relationship between the Political Corruption Index and economic growth. Therefore, economic growth would be affected by the high level of corruption in the country. Corruption prevents efficient production and innovation and leads to decreased economic growth. The empirical evidence suggests that corruption reduces economic growth, especially in countries with low investment rates and lowquality governance (Aidt et al., 2008; Gründler & Potrafke, 2019; Tsanana et al., 2016). Since the Political Corruption Index is high among all Central Asian countries, they face many more difficulties in terms of economic development. Thus, this issue needs to be addressed urgently.

5.5. Conclusion

In this section, we have investigated the effect of changes in age structure on economic growth using the econometric model. We employed two models for our analysis. The first model included the standard demographic variables commonly used by scholars, while the second model, extended by us, incorporated additional variables that could influence the realization of the demographic dividend.

The results from both models affirm our hypotheses that the increasing share of the working-age population serves as a catalyst for accelerating economic growth. However, it is important to note that this demographic factor alone cannot guarantee sustained growth. Additional measures are required, such as providing adequate education to the active population, creating job opportunities, and empowering women. Moreover, as previously mentioned, the realization of the demographic dividend is contingent upon well-established policy frameworks. Effective governance can ensure that the gains from demographic changes are more inclusive, whereas corruption may undermine these gains.

6. Determinants of Socio Economic and Demographic Characteristics of Poverty and inequality in Central Asian countries

6.1. Theoretical framework and hypothesis development

In the previous section, we discussed the potential of Central Asian countries to harness the demographic window of opportunity for economic growth. In this section, we focus on the impact of the demographic dividend, with a specific emphasis on its relationship with poverty and inequality. While some scholars have attempted to analyse the effects of demographic changes, particularly changes in age structure, on poverty (Cruz & Ahmed, 2018; Kua & Piyachart, 2016), this area of research remains relatively limited in recent debates. However, for our study, the Poverty-Growth-Inequality (P-G-I) trilemma, which has been extensively studied by Bourguignon (2003), Breunig and Majeed (2020), Labidi et al. (2023), and Wietzke (2020), provides a theoretical framework that highlights these dynamics.

According to this trilemma, when a country experiences economic growth, it often leads to poverty reduction by increasing income levels, generating employment opportunities, and improving access to essential services. However, the inclusion of income inequality complicates the situation. High-income inequality can lead to social tensions and, importantly, can limit overall economic progress by concentrating wealth among a select few. This, in turn, can exacerbate poverty as it hampers marginalized and vulnerable groups' access to resources and opportunities (Bourguignon, 2003; Cerra et al., 2021).

However, due to the complexity of this trilemma, previous studies have indicated that the dynamics of this trilemma can vary significantly among different income groups and regional contexts (Adeleye et al., 2020; Gründler & Scheuermeyer, 2018; Labidi et al., 2023). Given the lack of prior analyses specific to the Central Asian context, this presents a unique opportunity and motivation for our study to investigate these dynamics.

The intriguing question pertains to the current state of the relationship within this trilemma in Central Asia. As we have previously mentioned, these countries, particularly Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan, and Turkmenistan, have witnessed substantial economic growth, primarily driven by natural resource exports such as oil, gas, and minerals. Theoretically, this economic growth should have contributed to poverty reduction. However, despite economic

expansion, income inequality remains a significant challenge in Central Asian countries. Highincome inequality prevents the equitable distribution of the benefits of economic growth to all segments of the population, ultimately exacerbating poverty, particularly in rural areas, as observed in Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan (Haquette, 2022; Seitz, 2019b).

Then the question arises: why is this trilemma not working as expected? Some scholars argue that there should be other factors that ensure this relationship works effectively. For instance, Labidi et al. (2023) highlighted that while growth is typically required to raise the population's standard of living, it cannot guarantee the intended improvement in everyone's well-being or the eradication of poverty on its own. Even though a variety of policies and programs are introduced to address poverty and inequality issues, their efficiency often falls short (Negin et al., 2010). A contributing factor to this is the prevalence of bribery and corruption within a country. The concept of corruption is widely defined as when elected officials utilize their position of power to further their own interests by stealing and bribing money from public coffers (Kaufmann et al., 2010).

For instance, corruption is considered a major contributor to the low rate of African economic growth and the poorest region in the world (Jain et al., 2014; Usenata, 2022). Scholars argue that the economic potential of Africa can be unlocked only by finishing the cancer of corruption (Acemoglu & Robinson, 2015). Latin American countries are also suffering from high rates of corruption (Borja, 2020). Theoretically, higher growth rates are expected to reduce poverty, but bribery impedes the reduction of poverty by slowing down economic growth (Nel, 2020), decreasing wealth and national income, and raising government costs (Chaudhry et al., 2006). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that growth is negatively impacted by income inequality, and if corruption exacerbates this issue, growth will be hindered as well, creating a barrier to the elimination of poverty (Maeda & Ziegfeld, 2015). Therefore, corruption contributes to poverty's self-reinforcing nature, particularly in low-income nations. Moreover, it limits the nation's political stability (Slijepčević et al., 2020). Hence, we can assert that bribery is a key element within this trilemma problem.

One may wonder how the bribery is linked to the demographic dividend. We assume that bribery has a particular effect on demographic dividend-related factors related to the demographic dividend. It can hinder the effects of demographic changes on poverty, growth, and inequality. Thus, the widely accepted theory of corruption in the economic literature forms the foundation for this study. There are many forms of corruption, such as theft, nepotism, embezzlement, and wastage of public money (UNODC, 2020), but bribery is a widespread form

of corruption that has an everyday impact on the lives of millions of people (Nel, 2020). Therefore, we extend the Poverty-Growth-Inequality framework by introducing the dimension of bribery within the context of demographic dividends and propose the Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery (P-G-I-B) Quadrangle (Figure 16).



Figure 16: Proposed P-G-I-B Quadrangle framework

Source: made by author

Proven relationship in the literature, -----> Proposed relationship

We assume that the relationships within the quadrangle are as follows: Bribery has a direct effect on growth as it deters foreign investments, infrastructure development, and job creation. As a result, it hinders the effective utilization of the working-age population for economic growth, thereby affecting the demographic dividend's potential. Moreover, bribery can divert resources away from investments in education and healthcare, which are the main components of the demographic dividend, hindering human capital formation and limiting potential poverty reduction (Usenata, 2022). Additionally, bribery can contribute to income inequality by creating unequal access to opportunities, meaning that the benefits arising from

the demographic dividend may not reach all segments of the population equally, exacerbating income disparities.

Following our theoretical framework, we have developed the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1: A higher share of the working-age population will lead to a reduction in poverty rates.

Hypothesis 2: An increasing share of the working-age population will initially reduce income inequality.

Hypothesis 3: Bribery will be positively correlated with higher poverty rates and income inequality.

It's important to note that, as highlighted by Acemoglu and Robinson (2015), "corruption is a symptom and not the main disease". To effectively address this issue, strong institutions and effective governance are needed to ensure that the benefits of the demographic dividend reach those who need them most. Thus, effective government plays a crucial role in mediating the relationship within the P-G-I-B framework in the context of the demographic dividend (Girishankar et al., 2001; Sittha, 2012).

Thus, through our study, we also aim to investigate whether good governance can enable the reduction of poverty and inequality, and we have developed the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 4: Good governance can reduce poverty and inequality.

All of our hypotheses will be examined within the Central Asian context. In our empirical analysis, we mainly focus on poverty and inequality. Details regarding our methodology and data description will be provided in the following section.

6.2. Data selection and description

Our study employs a panel of five heterogeneous Central Asian countries during the period from 1991 to 2020.

To gain a greater insight into the effects of demographic dividends on two crucial issues—poverty and inequality—our study uses two dependent variables. The selection of suitable variables to represent these two indicators is particularly challenging, especially given

the scarcity of longitudinal data in the context of Central Asian countries. Consequently, our choice of indicators is driven by data availability as well as previous studies.

In this study, poverty is used as a dependent variable. Empirical analyses commonly employ two approaches to measure poverty: direct and indirect. Income is considered an indirect approach and is the most widely used to measure poverty (Jha & Dang, 2009b; Kua & Piyachart, 2016). Traditionally, poverty is measured by the number of people living below international poverty threshold. The World Bank provides internationally comparable estimates of poverty, with the poverty line set at \$1.25 in 2005 and adjusted to \$1.90 a day in 2011 (World Bank, 2020b). Moreover, the international practice uses income-class-specific poverty lines, defined at \$3.2 for lower-middle-income countries and \$5.5 for upper-middle-income countries. Conversely, the direct approach lies in the standard of living, such as having clean water or access to electricity (Kurbanova, 2022). In our study, we adopt an indirect approach, specifically the absolute poverty rate. This rate is calculated as the percentage of people residing in families whose consumption or income falls below the international poverty level of 1.9 dollars per day at 2011 international prices.

For the measurement of inequality, we utilize the Gini index, a widely employed metric in the literature (Wan et al., 2021; Wietzke, 2020). A higher Gini index value signifies a more unequal income distribution within society.

As a growth variable, the log of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) per capita (in constant 2015 prices) was taken to examine how poverty and inequality are influenced by the level of economic development.

To model the Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery nexus, it is essential to include a variable representing bribery. To address this, we employed executive bribery and corrupt exchange data sourced from the Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem) project. It is a comprehensive international initiative known for its country-year ratings generated from firsthand information provided by at least five experts in respective countries (Wong, 2023). These estimates are derived from multiple evaluations submitted by experts in each country, with considerations made for discrepancies and measurement errors in the data (Teorell et al., 2019). The executive bribery and corrupt exchanges data measures the frequency with which executive branch officials, including heads of state, government leaders, and cabinet ministers, or their representatives, engage in favoritism in exchange for bribes, kickbacks, or other tangible incentives (Coppedge et al., 2021). The indicator is based on the survey where respondents

answered the question on a scale ranging from zero to four. A score of zero signified frequent or consistent executive corruption, while a score of four indicated an absence or near absence of executive corruption (Fish et al., 2015). This indicator has been employed in recent studies due to its disaggregated corruption measures (Lindberg et al., 2022; Martins et al., 2023; Wong, 2023; Zhang, 2023).

To gain a comprehensive understanding of poverty, it is advisable to explore the interrelationships among poverty and other socio-economic indicators in multidimensional poverty analysis (Kakwani & Silber, 2008). This approach provides a broader perspective on poverty (Gammarano, 2019) and informs more targeted policy interventions. Therefore, in alignment with previous research, we have introduced a set of variables into our estimation.

As we are particularly interested in the effect of demographic dividends, we include the share of the population aged 15-64 in our model. This variable serves as an indicator of demographic transition and enables us to assess whether a connection exists between demographic dividend, poverty, and inequality. We also consider population growth as an important demographic indicator.

Additionally, we incorporate data on population characteristics related to education and health variables. The body of research indicates that improving health and education can help one escape poverty. (Barro & Sala-i-Martin, 2003). As we have mentioned above, due to the scarcity of data, we were only able to obtain mean years of education and life expectancy at birth for these countries, which we have used as a proxy of education and health variables.

Most countries in the region heavily rely on remittances, making data regarding their characteristics crucial for the poverty-inequality model. For instance, in 2022, remittance receipts as a share of GDP for Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan were 51.1%, 31.3%, and 20.8%, respectively (Kim, 2023). Usually, in empirical studies of the nexus between poverty, inequality, and migration, most scholars use remittance inflow, its share in GDP, and per capita remittance as key indicators (Arapi-Gjini et al., 2020; Azizi, 2021; Vacaflores, 2018). However, this specific data is unavailable for each year of the considered time period in our sample. Consequently, we opted to use the net migration rate, which also reflects the trend of outmigration, in our estimation. This data is calculated by deducting out-migrants from in-migrants.

Also, we added people outside the labor force to our model. This category encompasses all persons of working age who, during the specified reference period, were neither employed
nor unemployed (ILO, 2023). This variable helps us to capture a more comprehensive understanding of labor market dynamics and the extent to which individuals are economically inactive, focusing on the hidden complexities of poverty and inequality within the population. Also, it accommodates individuals typically omitted from employment statistics, offering insights into their roles in shaping the economic landscape, including informal work, caregiving responsibilities, and unique circumstances influencing their vulnerability to poverty and inequality.

Women comprise half of the Central Asian population, and converting this resource into poverty reduction is encouraged as it can lead to women's economic empowerment. This can be achieved through various channels, such as improving women's access to employment opportunities, enhancing their participation in politics, addressing gender disparities, and so on (Altuzarra et al., 2021; Jamil et al., 2022; Khanie, 2019; Opoku et al., 2021). Surprisingly, many previous studies investigating poverty and inequality in the region have overlooked the role of women in parliamentary representation. Yet, increasing women's representation in parliament is often seen as a measure to promote gender equality and empower women. When women have a stronger presence in decision-making bodies, there is a better chance of policies and legislation being developed to address gender-based disparities, which can contribute to reducing poverty and inequality, particularly among women (Baskaran & Hessami, 2022; Lerch et al., 2022; Opoku et al., 2021). Given the significance of women's involvement in political decision-making, our study aims to investigate the potential impact of increasing the proportion of women in political roles on poverty and inequality within the Central Asian context.

One of the main concerns among scholars is how to manage environmental degradation in addition to poverty and income disparity. Environmental degradation, poverty, and income inequality have all been subjects of extensive debate and research. Empirical evidence on the same topic is mixed. Scholars have proposed various perspectives on their interrelationship: some argue that poverty and income inequality are significant contributors to environmental pollution (Khan et al., 2022), others find a mixed relationship (Masud et al., 2020), and still others suggest a positive link between them (Islam & Abdul Ghani, 2018).

Moreover, environmental degradation may affect poverty through the growth channel. In the literature, it is argued that economic growth and environmental pollution may follow the same trajectory, signifying that increased growth leads to higher pollution. This phenomenon is termed the "pollution dividend", and is especially prevalent in middle- and low-income countries (Ansari, 2022; Berde & Mengesha, 2023). As a result, it may reduce poverty. However, the relationship between these factors is complex and multifaceted. This complexity becomes particularly crucial as the share of the working-age population increases, leading to greater demands for manufacturing and resource consumption to meet their needs.

As our primary emphasis lies on the demographic aspects of poverty and inequality, we will only concentrate on one of the tiny facets of the environmental issue. We acknowledge the broad scope of the topic, recognizing the need for a more comprehensive investigation.

While previous studies have explored the relationship between poverty, inequality, and environmental pollution using variables such as carbon emissions (CO2), our study takes a different approach by incorporating material footprint per capita into our estimations. Material footprint per capita goes beyond just carbon emissions and considers various environmental impacts associated with the extraction and utilization of natural resources. This approach provides a more comprehensive understanding of the environmental consequences of economic activities (Baloch et al., 2020; Khan et al., 2022). Essentially, material footprint per capita measures the quantity of natural resources consumed by individuals or groups of people. High material use can lead to resource depletion, a critical concern in a world with finite natural resources. By including material footprint per capita in our poverty and inequality estimations, policymakers gain valuable insights into how resource scarcity affects vulnerable populations, particularly in regions where resource shortages are a significant issue.

Most of the literature argues that to achieve the demographic dividend, well-established governance is required, and improving governance practices is an essential component of any comprehensive poverty reduction strategy, growth, and development. This encompasses facets like fostering access to high-quality employment and education opportunities, as well as fostering collaboration among civil societies, governments, and communities to establish laws promoting transparency and accountability across executive and administrative operations (Martin, 2006). This becomes particularly pertinent for Central Asian countries, which, having spent decades under Soviet rule, may face challenges in independently establishing robust governance practices. Hence, we investigate the potential impact of effective governance on our poverty and inequality estimation.

We use the governance indicators in two distinct ways: as individual variables and in constructing composite indexes. While composite indexes are not without their limitations and inherent subjectivity, they serve to condense various dimensions of governance into a single metric, thus helping to mitigate multicollinearity issues and align with the multidimensional

nature of governance (Datta & Singh, 2019; Polloni-Silva et al., 2021). Following the definition of the World Bank's Worldwide Governance Indicators, we select the component indicators (the appendix provides the list of component indicators) and source data from the University of Gothenburg's Quality of Governance database⁴⁴.

To streamline our good governance composite index and minimize information loss, we employ principal component analysis (PCA) (Jolliffe & Cadima, 2016; Spada et al., 2023). PCA transforms a set of correlated variables into a set of uncorrelated variables, or Principal Components (PC), preserving only common factors with eigenvalues exceeding one or the mean (Ceopedia, 2024; Jollife, 2002; Kaiser, 1974). To create the index, we initially standardize all variables. This step is crucial because PCA aims to maximize variance and is sensitive to the relative scales of the original variables. Normalization prevents any single variable from dominating the others, ensuring that the data analysis method treats all variables equitably (Akande et al., 2019). Then we constructed a Good Governance index through a varimax rotation of the principal components. The principal components (PCs) are linear combinations of the original variables and are ordered by their importance or influence on the dataset. Each principal component displayed in the table signifies the most influential one, determined by the eigenvector linked to the largest eigenvalue of the correlation matrix. This pattern holds true for the subsequent components as well (Zhong & Enke, 2017).

Our newly constructed Good Governance Index effectively encapsulates the majority of the information present in the original dataset, which comprises six governance indicators. Conducting a PCA yields a total of six components. Table 18 provides insight into the proportion of variance attributed to each principal component. The first principal component accounts for the largest share of the total variance in our data. As we move further from the first principal component, PC1, the subsequent component sexplain progressively less of the total variance. For instance, the first principal component factor accounts for 72% of the standardized variance, while the second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth factors of the principal component contribute 15.8%, 5.0%, 3.7%, 2.2%, and 1.5%, respectively. However, our focus is primarily on the first principal component, as it possesses eigenvalues exceeding one, following Kaiser's

⁴⁴ Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem) is a novel approach to conceptualizing and measuring democracy. It provides a multidimensional and disaggregated dataset that reflects the complexity of the concept of democracy as a system of rule that goes beyond the simple presence of elections. The V-Dem project distinguishes between five highlevel principles of democracy: electoral, liberal, participatory, deliberative, and egalitarian, and collects data to measure these principles.

criterion (1960). Also, this factor accounts for approximately 72% of the variability, representing the most substantial portion among all the factors. This implies that the first principal component offers superior explanatory power for the variations and is, therefore, the more robust measure of good governance in this particular context.

Variables	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6
DCI*	0.4514	0.0654	-0.2898	-0.0974	0.8035	0.2299
ECI*	0.4403	0.0240	-0.2857	0.7236	-0.3459	0.2841
EgCI*	0.4190	-0.1343	0.8580	-0.0120	0.0078	0.2647
LCI*	0.4624	0.0917	0.0596	0.0901	0.0155	-0.8751
PCI*	0.4031	0.4282	-0.1879	-0.6187	-0.4538	0.1734
PcorrI*	-0.2244	0.8862	0.2437	0.2754	0.1689	0.0223
Eigenvalue	4.2959	0.9482	0.3016	0.2257	0.1365	0.0919
Proporsion (%	0.7160	0.1580	0.0503	0.0376	0.228	0.0153
of variance)						
Cumulative	0.7160	0.8740	0.9243	0.9619	0.9847	1.0000

 Table 18: Principal component analysis: factor loading, eigenvalue, and variance

 explained

*DCI- Deliberative component index, ECI-Electoral component index, EgCI-Egalitarian component index, LCI-Liberal component index, PCI-Participatory component index, PCorrI-Political corruption index

Source: own elaboration

Another group of researchers analysed the effect of governance on poverty estimation by including the variables separately in the analysis (Jamil et al., 2022; Marrero & Servén, 2022). Following the previous studies, we have also tested one of the governance indicators separately. Thus, as a proxy for good governance, we use the Liberal Democracy Index. It sums up the essential liberal component of democracy and assesses the safeguarding of individual and minority rights (Ruth-Lovell et al., 2019). It considers factors like constitutional protection of civil freedoms, the strength of the legal system, the independence of the judiciary, and effective checks and balances (Coppedge et al., 2021). Incorporating an additional variable alongside the principal component introduces the need to compare the outcomes derived from these two approaches. It prompts an exploration of both the similarities and differences in the results, leading to an examination of the implications stemming from these disparities.

For our study, the data were obtained from secondary sources and databases. Poverty metrics, mean income, and inequality (presented in US\$ using 2011 PPPs) are derived from the Poverty and Inequality Platform, an online poverty measurement tool developed by the Development Research Group of the World Bank. This platform draws from an extensive compilation of household surveys, making it a widely utilized resource among researchers.

While the majority of the data originates from the World Bank, governance indicators were sourced from the University of Gothenburg's database. The source of each data point is reported in Table 19.

Symbol*	variable	Unit	Source	
poverty	Poverty headcount ratio	(% of population) (2011 PPP)	Poverty and	
Gini	GINI index	(% of population) (2011 PPP)	Inequality Platform	
NM	Net migration rate	per 1000 population	Macrotrends-the premier research platform	
X	Mean years of schooling	years	Human	
MF	Material footprint per capita	tonnes	development report	
PF	Share of seats in parliament, female	% held by women	by the UNDP	
GDPpc	GDP per capita	Constant 2015 US \$		
WAD	The share of working-age	population aged 15-64, %		
WAP	population	of the total population	World Bank	
gP	Population growth	Annual %		
LE	Life expectancy at birth	years		
OLF	Persons outside the labour force	thousands, Age: 25+	International Labor Organization	
Lib	Liberal component index	ranges from 0 (not at all democratic) to 1 (fully democratic)		
Bribe	Executive bribery and corrupt exchanges	scale ranging from zero to four. A score of zero signified frequent or consistent executive corruption, while a score of four indicated an absence or near absence of executive corruption	University of Gothenburg database	
GG	"Good governance" Composite index	Composite index for effective governance was created using principal component analysis. The components are given in Apendix1	Own estimation	

Table 19: Data and sources for poverty and inequality estimation

* Variables with natural log transformations are GDP per capita, Persons outside the labour force and mean years of schooling.

Source: edited by the author

The summary statistics are given in Table 20. In 2020, Uzbekistan had the highest absolute poverty rate (10.8%) among the region's countries. In contrast, Kazakhstan demonstrated better performance in reducing poverty, with an almost zero rate. The Gini index, which represents income inequality, is different in these countries. Turkmenistan holds the highest value (0.408), highlighting that income is not distributed equally. On the other hand, in Kyrgyzstan and Kazakhstan, the situation is better, indicating that people's incomes are somehow equal among these regions' countries. With regard to demographic indicators, the share of WAP is almost the same across all countries, with an average of 62%, while population growth is the highest in Tajikistan, with 2.2% in 2020.

Variable	Mean	Std. dev.	Min.	Max.	Obs.
Poverty	0.183	0.180	0.0002	0.606	150
Gini	0.352	0.057	0.267	0.463	150
GDP per capita	2967.388	2916.322	383.539	11402.76	150
WAP-share of working age	61.694	4.612	51.744	69.134	150
population					
X-mean years of schooling	10.717	0.826	7.619	12.347	150
PF- Share of seats in parliament,	48.548	12	28.697	66.667	150
female					
gP – population growth	1.426	0.849	-2.062	2.822	150
NM - net migration rate	-2.897	4.085	-17.868	2.212	150
LE- life expectancy	66.587	3.146	52.866	71.567	150
MF- material foot	9.745	9.358	1.47	44.26	150
Lib- Liberal component index	0.227	0.172	0.045	0.674	150
Bribe- Executive bribery and corrupt	0.423	0.303	0.146	1.661	150
exchanges					
Composite index "Good governance"	-0.007	2.071	-2.872	5.309	150

 Table 20: Descriptive statistics of poverty and inequality estimation variables

Source: own elaboration

6.3. Model formulation and estimation strategy

To test our hypothesis related to the influence of changes in age structure, socioeconomic, and demographic factors, as well as good governance indicators, on poverty and inequality reduction, we conducted regression analyses using the aforementioned indicators. Given that our analysis accounts for both regional and time effects, the models were structured as follows: Initially, we estimated the Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery (P-G-I-B) Quadrangle, with a primary focus on poverty and inequality estimation, as we have mentioned above. The first poverty estimation model, as part of the quadrangle, is presented as follows (the abbreviation of all variables and their measurement are given in Table 20):

$$poverty_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 log GDPpc_{it} + \beta_2 log GDPpc_{it}^2 + \beta_3 WAP_{it} + \beta_4 log OLF_{it} + \beta_5 log X_{it} + \beta_6 PF_{it} + \beta_7 g_{P_{it}} + \beta_8 NM_{it} + \beta_9 LE_{it} + \beta_{10} MF_{it} + \beta_{11} Gini_{it} + \beta_{12} log Lib_{it} + \beta_{13} log Bribe_{it} + \beta_{14} (log MeanIncome * log Gini_{it}) + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(1)

In the subsequent estimations, we will repeat the same procedure but replace two governance indicators, such as the liberal component index and the executive bribery and corrupt exchanges index, with a newly constructed composite index, which we named «Good Governance».

$$poverty_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 log GDPpc_{it} + \beta_2 log GDPpc_{it}^2 + \beta_3 WAP_{it} + \beta_4 log OLF_{it} + \beta_5 log X_{it} + \beta_6 PF_{it} + \beta_7 g_{P_{it}} + \beta_8 NM_{it} + \beta_9 LE_{it} + \beta_{10} MF_{it} + \beta_{11} Gini_{it} + \beta_{12} GG_{it} + \beta_{13} (log Mean Income * log Gini_{it}) + \varepsilon_{it}$$

$$(2)$$

Next, we will estimate the inequality model using the same technique as the poverty estimation.

$$Gini_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 log GDPpc_{it} + \beta_2 log GDPpc_{it}^2 + \beta_3 WAP_{it} + \beta_4 log OLF_{it} + \beta_5 log X_{it} + \beta_6 PF_{it} + \beta_7 g_{P_{it}} + \beta_8 NM_{it} + \beta_9 LE_{it} + \beta_{10} MF_{it} + \beta_{11} Gini_{it} + \beta_{12} log Lib_{it} + \beta_{13} log Bribe_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$

$$(3)$$

 $Gini_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 log GDPpc_{it} + \beta_2 log GDPpc_{it}^2 + \beta_3 WAP_{it} + \beta_4 log OLF_{it} + \beta_5 log X_{it} + \beta_6 PF_{it} + \beta_7 g_{P_{it}} + \beta_8 NM_{it} + \beta_9 LE_{it} + \beta_{10} MF_{it} + \beta_{11} Gini_{it} + \beta_{12} GG_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$ (4)

In the four above-mentioned equations, i denotes countries, while t represents time, β_0 is the intercept, β_1 to β_{14} denote the estimated coefficients for each variable, and ε is the error term.

In our estimations, besides economic growth, we included its square to capture nonlinear relationships between economic growth (as measured by GDP per capita) and poverty and inequality, following previous scholars (Blanco & Ram, 2019; Jovanovic, 2018; Wan et al., 2021). According to economic growth theory, the nexus between income and poverty is not strictly linear. In the beginning, as income increases, the reduction in poverty or inequality may be more significant, but at higher income levels, the impact may diminish. Including the squared term helps account for this non-linearity.

Additionally, we included the interaction term between income and the Gini coefficient in poverty estimation to represent that the poor in high-inequality countries benefit less from economic growth. The aim of adding this variable is to indicate the effect of domestic inequalities in income distribution on poverty (Bourguignon, 2003; Ravallion, 2006; Wietzke, 2020)

Before proceeding with our model estimation, we need to specify the appropriate paneldata estimation strategy. Detailed clarifications and steps are provided in the fourth section, "Research methodology".

6.4. Results and discussion

Being part of the same region enables us to explore the primary drivers of poverty and inequality reduction by analyzing data from all five Central Asian states within a unified panel estimation framework. Utilizing panel data estimation offers several advantages, including the ability to control for individual differences, reduce collinearity among variables, provide greater variability, and enhance degrees of freedom (Baltagi, 2008).

Table 21 presents the results of our estimations employing the fixed-effect model with Driscoll-Kraay standard errors. In the initial two models, the dependent variable is poverty, followed by the last two models, where the dependent variable is inequality.

One of the noteworthy aspects of our results is the significance of the coefficient associated with the share of the working-age population in all models. This emphasizes the importance of this demographic factor in understanding poverty and inequality dynamics. An increasing share of the working-age population can serve as a valuable asset for Central Asian countries, as it has the possibility to enhance economic productivity, thus contributing to overall economic growth and poverty reduction. These results align with the findings from prior studies (Ahmed et al., 2014; Cruz & Ahmed, 2018; Kua & Piyachart, 2016; Mason & Lee, 2004). However, it's crucial to ensure that the labor market can effectively absorb this workforce and create an enabling environment for their productive utilization.

Another noteworthy aspect is the coefficient of the share of working-age population. Although the significance of this variable is high in all models, its values vary among them. For instance, the effect of the share of working-age population is more pronounced in the poverty model than in the equality model. Specifically, a one-unit increase in the share of the working-age population is associated with a decrease of around 1.4 to 1.6 percentage points in the poverty headcount ratio, holding other variables constant. In contrast, this decrease is approximately 0.7 to 0.9 units in the equality model. This suggests that the demographic composition of the population plays a particularly influential role in determining poverty levels. This shows the importance of considering demographic factors when designing policies aimed at alleviating poverty.

variable	Dependent variable: poverty		Dependent variable: inequality			
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4		
logGDPpc	-0.932***	-0.599***	-0.585***	-0.331***		
logGDPpc ²	0.049***	0.028***	0.029***	0.014**		
WAP	-0.014***	-0.016***	-0.007***	-0.009***		
logOLF	0.033	0.046	0.043	0.061**		
Х	-0.377***	-0.177*	-0.501***	-0.263***		
PF	0.0007	0.0007	-0.0008	-0.0006		
gP	-0.021***	-0.016	-0.023**	-0.010		
NM	0.011***	0.008***	0.012***	0.006***		
LE	0.013***	0.007***	0.007**	0.001		
MF	0.003***	0.004***	-0.001	-0.001		
logLib	-0.122***		-0.064***			
logBribe	0.029***		0.020**			
Composite index "Good governance"		-0.024***		-0.022***		
Interaction logmeanincome*loggini	0.193***	0.204***				
Poverty			-0.393***	-0.337***		
Gini	-1.012***	-1.178***				
Constant		4.393***	4.001***			
Number of countries	5	5	5	5		
Number of observations	150	150	150	150		

Table 21: Regression results

Driscoll-Kraay standard errors are in parenthesis.

Note: *, **, *** represents Significance level at 10%,5% and 1% respectively.

As mentioned earlier, our models were constructed with the application of governance indicators through both direct variables and an aggregated "Good Governance" variable. The choice between models using principal components and those employing direct variables of governance in poverty and inequality estimations revolves around the approach to handling multiple indicators of governance. In models with direct variables, each governance indicator is treated as a separate variable in models with direct variables, enabling a more detailed examination of the precise influence of each indicator on poverty and inequality. This method offers a clear understanding of how different aspects of governance affect the degree of poverty. Bribery is one of these variables.

Our estimation results consistently show that in both poverty and inequality models, the coefficient associated with bribery is positive and significant, with virtually identical values across all models. This indicates that bribery increases poverty and inequality within the context of Central Asian countries undergoing demographic transition. This outcome is consistent with previous research demonstrating the adverse effects of corruption on economic development, social equity, and overall well-being (Wong, 2023). Additionally, the existing literature regarding poverty and inequality can be expanded by confirming the quadrangle relationship of Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery through our results.

It is highly concerning that bribery and poverty have a positive correlation. Our findings show that when bribery is prevalent and accepted in a community, public resources and funds are misallocated, which could otherwise be used for initiatives aimed at reducing poverty and inequality. Bribery has a regressive effect on poverty because it disproportionately impacts those who are already at the lowest end of the income distribution. Forcing individuals or households to pay bribes in order to access vital services or job opportunities increases their financial burden and exacerbates poverty. Marginalized and underprivileged groups often lack the means and connections to navigate corrupt systems, making their situation even more dire.

If we look at the case of Central Asian countries, we can observe that the prevalence of corruption and unfavorable business environments in these countries pose substantial barriers and risks for potential entrepreneurs. Additionally, the public sector may become unwieldy, resulting in limited job creation (World Bank, 2017). In addition, due to bribery, citizens are limited in their access to basic public services. For instance, in the Kyrgyz Republic, around two in five households paid bribes to access public services such as healthcare, education, etc. The situation is unfavourable in Tajikistan that every other household pays bribes. The highest bribery risk is in the police and civil courts (Pring, 2016). Effective anti-corruption measures and effective resource allocation are essential to harnessing the demographic dividend's potential for poverty reduction and economic growth.

The significant coefficient of the liberal component index in our estimation highlights the importance of governance once again. Higher democratization rates are more likely to facilitate the developmental process of governance. An intriguing aspect is the higher value of the variable in the poverty model. This suggests that the impact of liberalization on governance effectiveness may have a more pronounced effect on poverty reduction compared to its effect on inequality mitigation.

Moreover, models employing principal components aggregate information from various governance indicators into a condensed set of uncorrelated variables, termed "Good Governance." This composite measure emerges as a robust factor influencing both poverty and inequality, as its sign and value are consistent across all models, particularly within the demographic window of opportunity. For instance, a one-unit increase in good governance is associated with a decrease of around 2.4 percentage points in the poverty headcount ratio and 2.6 units in inequality, holding other variables constant. Our results indicate that an increasing share of the working-age population can lead to poverty alleviation when effectively integrated into economic growth and productivity through sound governance and strategic implementation that can also tackle bribery.

This is evidenced by the coefficient values. When comparing models that use separate governance indicators with those that use the aggregated "Good Governance" variable, the impact of the working-age population share is more significant under conditions of good governance. Specifically, in the poverty model, the decrease in the poverty headcount ratio is 1.6 percentage points with good governance, compared to 1.4 percentage points with separate indicators, holding other variables constant. This shows once more the importance of good governance in maximizing the demographic dividend and reducing poverty and inequality.

Good governance creates an enabling environment for equitable development by providing sufficient job opportunities and ensuring equitable access to education and healthcare, all of which are important for reducing poverty and inequality. Currently, evidence from Central Asian countries indicates that poor governance and bribery are the main obstacles hindering these countries from fully benefiting from social, political, and economic opportunities (Torres, 2019).

Additionally, GDP per capita exhibits a positive impact on poverty reduction, in line with the notion that as a country develops, the poverty and inequality levels tend to decrease. However, efforts need to be made to use the income properly and distribute it equally among all individuals. Otherwise, the situation may worsen, as experienced in South American countries, where increased economic growth did not guarantee a reduction in poverty but instead only increased the wealth of the ruling class. This outcome underscores the importance of economic growth as a fundamental driver of poverty reduction and improved income distribution. The experiences of developed countries supports this idea, as they typically have lower poverty levels (Dollar et al., 2015; El Ghak, 2018). According to Roswton's growth theory, an increasing GDP reflects the growth output of goods and services, which generates jobs, increases income, and ultimately leads to poverty alleviation (Ogbeide-Osaretin, 2018). Additionally, countries experiencing higher levels of economic prosperity tend to have more resources available for social safety nets, education, and healthcare, all of which contribute to lower poverty rates and reduced income inequality.

The inclusion of the square of GDP per capita in our models signifies its significant effect on poverty and inequality. It indicates that initially, economic growth decreases the level of poverty and inequality when a country reaches a certain level of development but tends to increase both poverty and inequality with further economic growth. This confirms the existence of a non-linear relationship between these variables, consistent with the previous studies (Labidi et al., 2023; Soava et al., 2020).

Increasing economic growth, which could serve to reduce poverty and inequality, is mostly associated with increasing stress on ecological processes and resources. Our poverty results also show that the significance of the coefficient associated with a material footprint in all models, emphasizing the environmental dimension of poverty and inequality. A higher material footprint per capita is linked to increased poverty rates and income inequality in our model, which is in line with previous studies (Baloch et al., 2020; Khan et al., 2022). This outcome suggests that resource-intensive consumption patterns may exacerbate economic disparities and poverty. It highlights the urgency of adopting sustainable consumption practices and responsible resource management to reduce the environmental footprint while simultaneously addressing poverty and inequality, especially during the demographic transition.

In one of our inequality estimations (table 17, the last column), an increasing number of people outside the labor force correlates with higher poverty rates. Indeed, this result highlights the existing issue in the region, where individuals outside the labor force face limited access to economic opportunities. This lack of economic participation may arise from various factors, including inadequate education, skills, or restricted job market access, all of which contribute to poverty. When individuals struggle to secure employment or engage in economic activities

while entering the labor market, poverty rates tend to rise, particularly in the context of rapidly growing labor forces.

In light of this problem, it's important to recognize that a significant portion of Central Asia's population is forced to seek employment opportunities outside their home countries. As a result, these countries are among the largest recipients of remittances, which significantly impact their economies. This is reflected in our estimation results as well, where there is a positive relation between migration and poverty reduction (please note that the net migration is negative in most cases, so we interpret its sign in reverse). Thus, countries experiencing outmigration can lower poverty rates and income inequality. This finding highlights the potential positive impact of remittances that migrants can send back to their countries of origin. Remittances can act as an important source of income for households, contributing to poverty reduction and improved living standards. However, they also signify a potential brain drain, posing a challenge to long-term development opportunities.

However, there is a special concern regarding the outmigration of Central Asia due to its main destination, which is Russia. The main reasons for choosing Russia as an emigration destination country are familiarity with the language (the majority of the Central Asian population can speak Russian), significantly higher wages than in these countries, better employment opportunities, and the low cost of money transfers. In addition, previously wellestablished migrants assist with finding affordable accommodation and work for new arrivals (World Migration Report, 2020). As a result of high outmigration, the economies of Central Asian countries are highly reliant on remittances from Russia, with particular significance for Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, and Kyrgyzstan. But the COVID-19 outbreak has altered the circumstances, and the war in Ukraine has made it even worse. Almost all three countries have experienced a significant decline in remittance inflows since 2020. This has impacted emigrants' earning potential and their ability to send money home. Consequently, the financial inflow of remittances from Russia decreased, affecting households' ability to invest in various areas, including human capital (Seitz, 2019a; UNICEF, 2019a). In a demographic transition, sustained investment in human capital is crucial, and the recent situation indicates that these countries may struggle to fully benefit from demographic tailwinds due to lower levels of human capital.

The importance of human capital, particularly education, has shown its importance in our estimation as well. However, education becomes more powerful tool for narrowing income disparities than for reducing poverty rates alone, as its impact is higher in the equality model compared to the poverty estimation. Several factors may contribute to this difference. While education is important for lowering poverty by providing individuals with the means to support themselves, its greater influence on inequality comes from its ability to create fair opportunities, promote social mobility, and raise productivity across all spheres of society. Enhanced education typically leads to better job opportunities and higher earnings for a wide range of people, not just those living in poverty.

Central Asian countries can optimize the potential of their growing working-age populations and potentially reap the benefits of their skills by addressing educational disparities and paving the way for higher-skilled employment. Education's importance is further supported by research, which shows that higher levels of education are associated with a decreased likelihood of falling into poverty (El Ghak, 2018; Zhang, 2021). Additionally, studies by Kua and Piyachart (2016) and Cruz and Ahmed (2016) have found that demographic transition, coupled with quality education, can alleviate poverty. However, challenges may arise in countries with high outmigration, as the most talented and highly educated individuals may leave, posing a threat that the demographic dividend could be realized more by host countries than the origin country. Therefore, in addition to enhancing educational levels, it is crucial to create suitable job opportunities and an enabling environment.

We also found interesting dynamics regarding life expectancy in the context of inequality and poverty in our investigation. According to our research, rising life expectancy is linked to increasing levels of inequality and poverty. Although this might initially seem counterintuitive, there are a number of factors that can help us understand this phenomenon. One possible explanation is the process of demographic transition. As countries undergo demographic transition, where birth rates decline and life expectancy increases, there is a period during which the population ages. As it is known, older individuals typically have lower earning potential and may rely on limited retirement savings or social safety nets, which can contribute to their vulnerability to poverty. Furthermore, this can strain social welfare systems and put pressure on working-age individuals to support the non-working population, potentially increasing poverty and inequality.

In a nutshell, our findings illuminate the multifaceted dynamics of poverty and inequality in Central Asian countries undergoing demographic transitions. Through our results, we confirmed all of our hypotheses. While the demographic dividend presents an opportunity for reducing poverty and inequality and fostering economic growth, the significant challenge posed by bribery, coupled with the potential increase in environmental impact, necessitates strategic interventions. Addressing these challenges requires the implementation of "Good Governance," incorporating effective anti-corruption measures, governance reforms, and sustainable resource management. In order to fully realize the demographic dividend in Central Asia, this framework is essential. Furthermore, investments in education and skill development are imperative to ensure that the workforce can meaningfully contribute to economic growth and poverty reduction.

6.5. Robustness check

To ensure the reliability and robustness of our analytical findings, we conducted a comprehensive set of robustness checks to assess the stability of the key coefficients associated with hypotheses H1, H2, H3, and H4. The primary analysis employed a fixed-effects model with Driscoll-Kraay standard errors, and to validate our results, alternative estimators were applied, including Feasible Generalized Least Squares (FGLS) and Linear Regression with Panel-Corrected Standard Errors (PCSE) methods. The rationale for selecting these methods is detailed in the "research design" section.

We replicated the same models described in the model formulation and estimation strategy section of this study. Specifically, poverty and inequality estimations were conducted using governance indicators through both direct variables (columns 2, 4, 6, 8) and an aggregated "Good Governance" variable (columns 3, 5, 7, 9). The results of these alternative estimators are presented in Table 22. We mainly focused on our variable of interest and its connection to our hypotheses.

Consistently, the findings reinforce the significance of the working-age population share in all models of both methods, revealing its substantial impact on poverty and inequality and pushing back the poverty level. The values are also almost the same as those in the main model, lending robust support to our primary analytical framework. This consistency emphasizes the significant role of demographic composition in shaping economic outcomes.

Furthermore, the outcomes consistently highlight the role of controlling bribery in poverty reduction. Lower levels of corruption are consistently associated with diminished poverty and inequality rates, reinforcing the credibility of our primary results. Once again, we confirm the quadrangle relationship of the Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery through our alternative methods.

The robustness checks also extend to the governance component. The findings pertaining to good governance remain steadfast, accentuating its crucial role in the reduction of poverty and inequality. This consistency across alternative estimators bolsters the robustness and reliability of our primary analytical approach.

Additionally, the sign and significance of education, net migration, and the Liberal component index variables align with the main findings, highlighting the importance of human capital, outmigration, and democracy in the reducing poverty and inequality.

In summary, the outcomes from these robustness checks reaffirm the stability and credibility of our primary analysis, offering robust support for the relationships explored in the context of Central Asian countries undergoing demographic transitions.

	FGLS				Linear regression with panel-corrected standard errors			
variable	Dependent variable: poverty		Dependent variable: inequality		Dependent variable: poverty		Dependent variable: inequality	
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
logGDPpc	-0.220***	-0.120**	0.080*	0.214***	-0.270***	-0.069	0.019	0.211***
logGDPpc ²	0.013***	0.010**	-0.002	-0.011***	0.016***	0.005	0.0005	-0.011***
WAP	-0.014***	-0.014***	-0.003***	-0.004***	-0.016***	-0.017***	-0.006***	-0.006***
logOLF	0.003	0.001	-0.011***	-0.024***	0.006	0.0007	-0.011**	-0.021**
X	-0.382***	-0.272***	-0.300***	-0.252***	-0.343**	-0.213*	-0.497***	-0.419***
PF	0.001**	0.001**	-0.0004	-0.0006*	0.0009	0.001	-0.001	-0.0008
gP	-0.026***	-0.020***	-0.020***	-0.018***	-0.040***	-0.030***	-0.028***	-0.021***
NM	0.008***	0.008***	0.006***	0.007***	0.009***	0.008***	0.009***	0.009***
LE	0.012***	0.009***	0.003**	0.003***	0.014***	0.013***	0.007***	0.005***
MF	0.011***	0.009***	-0.002***	-0.003***	0.010***	0.009***	-0.002***	-0.002***
logLib	-0.023***		-0.032***		-0.062***		-0.046***	
logBribe	0.008*		0.013***		0.011*		0.014**	
Composite index "Good governance"		-0.010***		-0.010***		-0.012***		-0.011***
Interaction logmeanincome*loggini	0.350***	0.374***			0.335***	0.363***		
poverty			-0.013	0.019			-0.064**	-0.016
Gini	-1.026***	-1.010***			-1.075***	1.116***		
Constant	2.822***	2.578***	0.801***	0.290	2.871***	2.085***	1.406***	0.687*
Number of countries	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5
Number of observations	150	150	150	150	150	150	150	150

Table 22: Robustness check

Source: own elaboration

6.6. Conclusion

The following section offers deeper insights into the demographic dividend, particularly its impact on poverty and inequality. We tested our hypotheses within the framework of the "poverty-growth-inequality" triangle and expanded it to include bribery, forming a "povertygrowth-inequality-bribery" quadrangle. Our primary focus was to examine the influence of changing age structures on poverty and inequality.

The estimation results reaffirm the potential of the demographic dividend to bring about macroeconomic benefits. Additionally, the findings underscore the crucial role of good governance in realizing the demographic bonus, while highlighting the detrimental effect of bribery on reaping demographic benefits. Moreover, the study reveals a U-shaped relationship between economic growth and poverty. Also, the results suggest that investing in human capital, particularly in education, can effectively address inequality and poverty.

To ensure the robustness of our estimation results, we conducted checks using alternative methods. The consistency in the signs and significance of the results across different methodologies validates the reliability of our findings.

7. CONCLUSION AND IMPLICATION

7.1. Conclusion

Many developing countries, including those in Central Asia, are currently undergoing a demographic transition, marked by a growing share of the working-age population. The change in the population age structure offers a special chance to gain macroeconomic benefits. However, our literature review highlighted that Central Asian countries are not exempt from the ongoing empirical discourse on the demographic dividend. This thesis aimed to contribute to this discourse by analysing the impact of changing age structures on economic growth and exploring its potential implications for poverty and inequality in the region.

Through a comprehensive historical overview, utilizing graphs and tables, we identified various challenges that impede the realization of the demographic dividend in Central Asia. Notably, shortcomings in employment policies pose a significant hurdle to effectively utilizing the expanding working-age population to drive economic growth and alleviate poverty. This situation has resulted in a notable outmigration trend, particularly in countries like Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan. Additionally, issues related to education quality and human capital deficiencies persist, as limited access to tertiary education contributes to a shortage of qualified specialists. The gender gap in both education and employment further compounds the challenges, alongside governance inefficiencies that hinder the effective implementation of development strategies.

To empirically investigate the impact of these challenges on economic growth and poverty during the demographic transition, we employed econometric tools. Our initial analysis focused on economic growth, utilizing panel datasets from the five Central Asian countries spanning the period between 1991 and 2018. The choice of the year 1991 was due to data availability, and it aligns with the year these countries obtained independence from the Soviet Union. Given the limited number of countries (5) and years (29) in our dataset, the fixed-effect model with Driscoll-Kraay standard errors emerged as the most suitable method for our analysis.

"Typically, in empirical studies of demographic dividends, economic growth is explained by the standard explanatory variables, which we have entitled "Core models". In addition, we have assumed that the political environment also influences demographic dividends, so there might be other factors. We selected the Egalitarian Democracy Index and Political Corruption Index, considering that they also have a significant role in the development of demographic dividends. We referred to the model with these additional factors as the "Core plus model". We have applied both models to our estimations.

Our model results have confirmed all our hypotheses. According to our first hypothesis, a direct link between demography and the economy has been demonstrated by our estimation. This indicates that the increase in the working-age share of the population is a potential source of the accelerating economic growth associated with the demographic dividend. In addition, education, which is taken as a proxy for human capital development, has a significant positive effect on economic growth. This result corroborates the human capital theory, which is based on the skills and knowledge of individuals, strengthened by education, improving their living standards. Investments in human capital increase the labour force engaged in the job market, boost productivity, and accelerate economic development. The female labour force participation rate has also been demonstrated to be one of the main elements of growth. It shows that countries can reap economic benefits from supplementary education and the empowerment of women. Finally, increasing the urban share of the population leads to economic growth.

Our calculations have also shown that the Egalitarian Democracy Index and the Political Corruption Index do matter in the growth model in the demographic transition stage. This result confirms that the demographic dividend is policy dependent, where increasing the level of egalitarian democracy accelerates economic growth, and corruption retards said growth. Thus, the greater the quality of public institutions, the more rapidly the country will develop. Our overall findings suggest and confirm our hypothesis that materialising demographic benefits do not depend only on human capital but that institutional factors also matter in the case of Central Asia³⁴⁵.

The second part of our empirical estimation focused on the effect of demographic dividends on poverty and inequality. In this part, we built our models on the "Poverty-Growth-Inequality" triangle. The time period is a bit longer than the first empirical part, precisely from 1991 to 2020. The same estimation technique as the first part was employed, with the robustness of the results validated through the alternative methods.

Our findings once again confirmed the macroeconomic benefits of the changing age structure. Indeed, the share of the working-age population, which represents the demographic dividend, highlights its possibility of reduction of poverty and inequality. However, one of the

⁴⁵ This part is based on Berde and Kurbanova (2023)

challenges in converting the demographic dividend into poverty and inequality reduction is the existence of bribery. Thus, the significant impact of bribery allows us to extend the "Poverty-Growth-Inequality" triangle into the "Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery" quadrangle. Moreover, the environmental footprint emerges as another factor that can exacerbate poverty levels, signalling the need for sustainable development practices.

An overarching theme that resonates throughout our findings is the crucial role of good governance, mirroring the observations from the first empirical part. Our analysis consistently emphasizes that effective governance, characterized by anti-corruption measures, institutional reforms, and sustainable resource management, is essential for unlocking the complete benefits of the demographic dividend. It acts as an enabling force, fostering an environment conducive to equitable development, job creation, and access to essential services.

Moreover, the research has followed recent studies by introducing additional and region-specific (Central Asia) variables to capture the multidimensional conceptualization of poverty analysis, especially connecting with the demographic dividend. When we extended our estimation by adding additional human-wellbeing representatives and other socio-economic variables, the results indicated that poverty is a multi-complex problem. The empirical results of our estimation highlight the significant role of GDP per capita, outmigration, and democracy in decreasing poverty and inequality in the region.

Furthermore, education emerges as a crucial factor in the pathway to unlocking the demographic dividend once again. Addressing educational disparities and facilitating pathways to higher-skilled employment are imperative steps for Central Asian countries. Higher levels of education not only equip the workforce with enhanced skills but also act as a deterrent against falling into poverty.

In summary, our thesis has yielded several novel scientific findings. Firstly, we have empirically demonstrated that the positive economic benefits resulting from changes in age structure are applicable to Central Asian countries. This suggests that these nations can leverage demographic shifts to achieve economic growth while also mitigating poverty and inequality.

Furthermore, our research focuses on the complex relationship between the demographic dividend and governance performance in Central Asian nations through a comprehensive analysis. We find that while economic and demographic variables are crucial in realizing the first demographic dividend, factors such as the level of democracy and corruption also significantly influence its effectiveness.

Through cross-country comparisons, our study uncovers the diverse capacities of Central Asian countries to harness the demographic dividend. Despite undergoing similar demographic transition processes, these nations exhibit varying abilities to capitalize on demographic shifts. We identify the obstacles impeding the realization of demographic dividends and propose policy implications.

Expanding upon existing research on demographic dividends, our study introduces bribery as a crucial institutional factor in the Poverty-Growth-Inequality-Bribery quadrangle. By integrating bribery into the research framework, we highlight its substantial impact on poverty rates and income inequality in Central Asian countries. This approach extends the scope of institutional economics, provides new insights into the dynamics of economic development and governance in emerging nations, and offers strategies for addressing these challenges within the broader context of development.

7.2. Policy implications

As we focus on Central Asia's experience with the demographic dividend, it becomes evident that the region has a unique opportunity to reduce poverty, promote economic growth, and address income inequality. However, realizing these benefits necessitates the implementation of effective measures.

After clarifying the existing challenges, which our estimations have confirmed, we can outline policy implications for realizing the demographic dividend's potential in the region. To harness the capabilities of the working-age population effectively, there must be a paramount focus on developing and implementing robust employment policies. These policies should accommodate the expanding working-age population and create diverse job opportunities aligned with the skills and aspirations of the workforce. Additionally, investing in educational training programs to bridge skill gaps and enhance employability is crucial. Expanding access to tertiary education ensures a steady supply of qualified specialists, contributing to economic growth and poverty reduction. Targeting the female working-age population and empowering them socially and economically will increase women's participation in the workforce, fully realizing their potential. Efforts must address cultural and societal norms hindering women's career advancement.

Mitigating outmigration challenges requires addressing the root causes, particularly in countries like Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan. Formulating policies to retain skilled labor by improving local job markets and offering competitive incentives is essential.

Implementing sustainable resource management practices to mitigate environmental challenges provides additional support.

However, these policy implications can only be effective with the establishment of a robust system for monitoring and evaluating implemented policies, achievable through ensuring good governance. It promotes transparency and enforces anti-corruption measures to combat corruption, especially bribery. Strengthening institutional systems to prevent corruption and ensuring transparency and open governance are pivotal. Moreover, efforts should be directed towards increasing democracy by granting more freedom and access to citizens to participate in decision-making processes.

By implementing these policy recommendations, Central Asian countries can position themselves to effectively harness the demographic dividend, fostering sustainable development, reducing poverty, and promoting social inclusion. This proactive approach ensures that the demographic opportunity is not squandered but rather leveraged for the region's advancement, avoiding the transformation of a demographic opportunity into a demographic burden.

However, it's crucial to recognize that although these policy implications provide a broad framework for inclusive demographic gains, unforeseen shocks can disrupt the prevailing conditions. The COVID-19 pandemic and the conflict between Russia and Ukraine serve as stark reminders of such unpredictability. For instance, the Russian-Ukrainian war introduces further uncertainty about how to navigate the demographic transition. The ongoing conflict has disrupted normal day-to-day relations with Russia, and its future trajectory remains uncertain. Nonetheless, some of the detrimental effects of these uncertainties can be lessened by solving current problems in the area.

7.3. Limitations of the research

While our study contributes insights into the impact of changing age structures on economic growth, poverty, and inequality reduction in Central Asia during the demographic transition, it is essential to acknowledge certain limitations:

Firstly, the existing dataset for these countries constrains our ability to comprehensively consider the impact of socio-economic factors. For instance, due to the absence of time series data for other education variables (such as the share of people with tertiary education, completion rates at different education levels, etc.), we were compelled to use only the mean years of schooling as a proxy for education. Employing more precise variables that better

represent education could offer a more nuanced understanding. Additionally, our analysis relies on existing datasets, and any limitations or inaccuracies in these sources could impact the accuracy of our results.

Another challenge lies in the considered time frame. As these countries recently gained independence, the available data mainly dates back to 1991. However, the demographic transition is a dynamic process, and the effects of changing age structures may continue to evolve beyond our chosen timeframe. Thus, considering a more extended time period would enable a more comprehensive understanding of the ongoing dynamics. Moreover, the lack of recent data did not allow us to capture the effects of shocks such as pandemics.

Central Asian countries exhibit unique economic, social, and political characteristics. Our analysis treats the region as a whole, potentially overlooking country-specific nuances that could affect the relationship between demographic changes and economic outcomes. A more granular examination of individual countries might provide richer insights.

Our analysis primarily focuses on internal factors within Central Asian countries. External influences, such as global economic conditions, international policies, or geopolitical events, may also play a role in shaping economic growth, poverty, and inequality. For instance, the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine introduces a significant external factor that may impact the demographic landscape and economic dynamics in the region. The current analysis does not fully account for the potential implications of this conflict for Central Asia. A more inclusive analysis incorporating external factors could enhance the study's comprehensiveness.

Acknowledging these limitations, our study lays the groundwork for further research in this critical area, emphasizing the need for a nuanced and context-specific understanding of the demographic transition's implications for Central Asian countries.

7.4. Further research

Considering the importance of the topic, several unanswered questions present promising directions for further research. Firstly, an in-depth exploration into the impact of women's empowerment on realizing the demographic dividend could highlight gender-specific aspects. Investigating how empowering women through education, workforce participation, and leadership roles contributes to economic development and poverty reduction would help identify obstacles hindering the realization of the demographic dividend.

Moreover, the role of youth is a pivotal factor in the demographic window of opportunity. Examining whether Central Asia's expanding young population can be the key to its demographic dividend and addressing the creation of job opportunities for the youth would be essential. Exploring the impact of technological advancements on the demographic dividend in Central Asia could also offer insights into how emerging technologies and digital transformations influence job creation, productivity, and economic growth.

Health is crucial for enhancing human capital, making it imperative to investigate the relationship between healthcare infrastructure and the demographic dividend. Specifically, assessing how a robust healthcare system contributes to a healthier and more productive workforce, positively impacting economic outcomes, could provide valuable insights.

For remittance-dependent Central Asian countries, researching the effects of migration policies on the demographic dividend is another intriguing avenue. Examining how policies encouraging or discouraging migration influence the utilization of human capital and economic outcomes would be crucial, considering the potential threat that a high rate of outmigration poses to Central Asia's demographic dividend to be reaped by host countries.

Additionally, examining the influence of cultural and social factors on the demographic dividend could provide valuable insights. Exploring how cultural norms, family structures, and social attitudes shape individuals' choices regarding education, employment, and family planning could uncover the cultural aspect of the demographic dividend.

Extend the study to consider longer-term demographic trends and their interplay with economic growth, poverty, and inequality in Central Asia post-resolution of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Additionally, assess the impact of external shocks, such as pandemics, on the demographic dividend and its associated socio-economic dynamics in the region.

By addressing these research areas, scholars and policymakers can gain a more nuanced understanding of the factors influencing the demographic dividend in Central Asia and develop targeted strategies for sustainable development.

References

- Abazov, R. (1999). Economic migration in post-Soviet Central Asia: The case of Kyrgyzstan. *Post-Communist Economies*, *11*(2), 237–252.
- Abdulloev, I., Gang, I. N., & Yun, M.-S. (2014). Migration, education and the gender gap in labour force participation. *The European Journal of Development Research*, 26(4), 509–526. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2450417
- Abduraxmanov, X. (2020). Dolgosrochnyye demograficheskiye riski v Respublike Uzbekistan. InterConf. (Долгосрочные демографические риски в Республике Узбекистан). InterConf.
- Abío, G., Patxot, C., Sánchez-Romero, M., & Souto, G. (2017). The welfare state and demographic dividends. *Demographic Research*, 36, 1453–1490. http://dx.doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2017.36.48
- Abrigo, M. R., Racelis, R. H., Salas, J. I., & Herrin, A. N. (2016). Decomposing economic gains from population age structure transition in the Philippines. *The Journal of the Economics of Ageing*, 8, 19–27.
- Abu-Ghaida, D., & Klasen, S. (2004). The costs of missing the Millennium Development Goal on gender equity. *World Development*, *32*(7), 1075–1107.
- Acemoglu, D., & Johnson, S. (2007). Disease and development: The effect of life expectancy on economic growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, 115(6), 925–985. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/529000
- Acemoglu, D., & Robinson, J. A. (2015). Corruption Is Just a Symptom, Not the Disease. *The Wall Street Journal*, 03/12.
- Adams Jr, R. H. (2011). Evaluating the economic impact of international remittances on developing countries using household surveys: A literature review. *Journal of Development Studies*, 47(6), 809–828.
- Adams Jr, R. H., & Page, J. (2005). Do international migration and remittances reduce poverty in developing countries? *World Development*, *33*(10), 1645–1669.
- Adams, R. (2004). Economic Growth, Inequality and Poverty: Estimating the Growth Elasticity of Poverty. *World Development*, *32*(12), 1989–2014.
- Adeleye, B. N., Gershon, O., Ogundipe, A., Owolabi, O., Ogunrinola, I., & Adediran, O. (2020). Comparative investigation of the growth-poverty-inequality trilemma in Sub-Saharan Africa and Latin American and Caribbean Countries. *Heliyon*, 6(12). https://www.cell.com/heliyon/pdf/S2405-8440(20)32474-9.pdf
- Aghion, P., Howitt, P., & Murtin, F. (2011). The Relationship Between Health and Growth: When Lucas Meets Nelson-Phelps. *Review of Economics and Institutions*, 2(1). https://econpapers.repec.org/article/piareview/v_3a2_3ay_3a2011_3ai_3a1_3an_3a1.h tm
- Agyemang, E. (2014). Economic growth, income inequality and poverty reduction: A regional comparative analysis [Thesis, Lethbridge, Alta.: University of Lethbridge, Dept. of Economics]. https://opus.uleth.ca/handle/10133/3635
- Ahituv, A. (2001). Be fruitful or multiply: On the interplay between fertility and economic development. *Journal of Population Economics*, 14(1), 51–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s001480050159
- Ahmad, M., & Khan, R. E. A. (2018). Age-structure, human capital and economic growth in developing economies: A disaggregated analysis. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences (PJCSS)*, 12(1), 229–252.

- Ahmad, M., & Khan, R. E. A. (2019). Does Demographic Transition with Human Capital Dynamics Matter for Economic Growth? A Dynamic Panel Data Approach to GMM. Social Indicators Research, 142(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-018-1928-x
- Ahmed, R. N., & Ahmad, K. (2016). Impact of population on economic growth: A case study of Pakistan. *Bulletin of Business and Economics (BBE)*, *5*(3), 162–176.
- Ahmed, S. A., Cruz, M., Go, D. S., Maliszewska, M., & Osorio-Rodarte, I. (2014). How Significant is Africa's Demographic Dividend for Its Future Growth and Poverty Reduction? World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-7134
- Ahmed, S., Cruz, M., Go, D., Maliszewska, M., & Osorio-Rodarte, I. (2016). How Significant Is Sub-Saharan Africa's Demographic Dividend for Its Future Growth and Poverty Reduction? *Review of Development Economics*, 20(4), 762–793.
- Ahmed, S., Cruz, M., Quillan, B., & Schellekens, P. (2016). Demographic change and development.
- Aidi, H. O., Emecheta, C., & Ngwudiobu, I. M. (2016). Population dynamics and economic growth in Nigeria. *Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development*, 7(15).
- Aidt, T., Dutta, J., & Sena, V. (2008). Governance regimes, corruption and growth: Theory and evidence. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 36(2), 195–220. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jce.2007.11.004
- Aiyar, S., & Mody, A. (2013). *The Demographic Dividend: Evidence from the Indian States*. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1770364
- Ajwad, M. I., Abdulloev, I., Audy, R., Hut, S., de Laat, J., Kheyfets, I., Larrison, J., Nikoloski, Z., & Torracchi, F. (2014). *The skills road: Skills for employability in Uzbekistan*. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/20389
- Ajwad, M. I., de Laat, J., Hut, S., Larrison, J., Abdulloev, I., Audy, R., Nikoloski, Z., & Torracchi, F. (2014). *The skills road: Skills for employability in the Kyrgyz Republic*. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/20387
- Ajwad, M. I., Hut, S., Abdulloev, I., Audy, R., de Laat, J., Kataoka, S., Larrison, J., Nikoloski, Z., & Torracchi, F. (2014). *The skills road: Skills for employability in Tajikistan*. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/20388
- Akande, A., Cabral, P., Gomes, P., & Casteleyn, S. (2019). The Lisbon ranking for smart sustainable cities in Europe. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 44, 475–487.
- Aksan, A.-M., & Chakraborty, S. (2014). Mortality versus morbidity in the demographic transition. *European Economic Review*, 70, 470–492.
- Alam, A., Murthi, M., Yemtsov, R., & Dudwik, N. (2005). *Growth, Poverty, and Inequality*. https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/978-0-8213-6193-1
- Alam, M. T., & Tonny, S. A. (2022). The Nexus between Demographic Dividend and COVID-19 in Bangladesh. *European Journal of Social Impact and Circular Economy*, 3(1), 16– 26.
- Alfani, G. (2022). Epidemics, Inequality, and Poverty in Preindustrial and Early Industrial Times. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 60(1), 3–40.
- Alkire, S., Roche, J. M., & Vaz, A. (2017). Changes over time in multidimensional poverty: Methodology and results for 34 countries. *World Development*, *94*, 232–249.
- Altuzarra, A., Gálvez-Gálvez, C., & González-Flores, A. (2021). Is gender inequality a barrier to economic growth? A panel data analysis of developing countries. *Sustainability*, 13(1), 367.
- Amar, S., & Aimon, H. (2021). Effect of Capital Strengthening, Education, and Health on Poverty Status in the City of Sawahlunto. Sixth Padang International Conference On Economics Education, Economics, Business and Management, Accounting and Entrepreneurship (PICEEBA 2020), 236–244.

- Aminova, M., & Abdullayev, I. (2009). Water management in a state-centered environment: Water governance analysis of Uzbekistan. *Sustainability*, 1(4), 1240–1265.
- Amir, O., & Berry, A. (2013). Challenges of transition economies: Economic reforms, emigration and employment in Tajikistan. Social Protection, Growth and Employment, 157.
- Amornkitvikai, Y., Harvie, C., & Karcharnubarn, R. (2022). The impact of demographic structure, human capital, migration and environmental degradation on economic growth in Asia. *Journal of Economic Studies*.
- Andrianarison, F., Housseini, B., & Oldiges, C. (2022). Dynamics of monetary and multidimensional poverty in Cameroon.
- Angrisani, M., Lee, J., & Meijer, E. (2020). The gender gap in education and late-life cognition: Evidence from multiple countries and birth cohorts. *The Journal of the Economics of Ageing*, *16*, 100232.
- Ansari, M. A. (2022). Re-visiting the Environmental Kuznets curve for ASEAN: A comparison between ecological footprint and carbon dioxide emissions. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *168*, 112867.
- Apella, I. (2021). Demographic Dividends and Economic Growth in Latin America: A Low and Middle-Income Trap Equilibrium. *Economica*, 67, 020–020.
- Arapi-Gjini, A., Möllers, J., & Herzfeld, T. (2020). Measuring Dynamic Effects of Remittances on Poverty and Inequality with Evidence from Kosovo. *Eastern European Economics*, 58(4), 283–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00128775.2020.1720517
- Arias, O. S., Sánchez-Páramo, C., Dávalos, M. E., Santos, I., Tiongson, E. R., Gruen, C., de Andrade Falcão, N., Saiovici, G., & Cancho, C. A. (2014). *Back to work: Growing with jobs in Europe and Central Asia*. World Bank Publications.
- Asian development Bank. (2010). Central Asia Atlas of Natural Resources. ADB, Asian Development Bank.
- Atems, B. (2019). Public health expenditures, taxation, and growth. *Health Economics*, 28(9), 1146–1150.
- Atkinson, A. B., & Micklewright, J. (1992). *Economic Transformation in Eastern Europe and the Distribution of Income*. Cambridge University Press.
- Avcı, H. C., & Çalışkan, Z. (2022). The Effect of Health on Economic Growth: A Production Function Approach for Turkey. *Panoeconomicus*, 1–27.
- Awan, A. G., & Malik, A. (2020). Impact of female education on poverty reduction: An Evidence from Pakistan. *Global Journal of Management, Social Sciences and Humanities*, 6.
- Aytmagambetova, G. T. (2009). Demographic situation in Central Asian countries at the current stage. *Bulletin of KarSU*.
- Azam, M., Haseeb, M., & Samsudin, S. (2016). The impact of foreign remittances on poverty alleviation: Global evidence. *Economics & Sociology*, 9(1), 264.
- Azam, M., Shahbaz, M., Kyophilavong, P., & Abbas, Q. (2016). External sources and economic growth-the role of foreign remittances: Evidence from Europe and Central Asia. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 367–387.
- Azizi, S. (2021). The impacts of workers' remittances on poverty and inequality in developing countries. *Empirical Economics*, 60(2), 969–991.
- Babatunde, M. A., & Adefabi, R. A. (2005). Long run relationship between education and economic growth in Nigeria: Evidence from the Johansen's cointegration approach. *Regional Conference on Education in West Africa*.
- Baerlocher, D., Parente, S. L., & Rios-Neto, E. (2019). Economic effects of demographic dividend in Brazilian regions. *The Journal of the Economics of Ageing*, 14, 100198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeoa.2019.100198

- Bailey, M. J. (2006). More power to the pill: The impact of contraceptive freedom on women's life cycle labor supply. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *121*(1), 289–320.
- Baloch, M. A., Khan, S. U.-D., & Ulucak, Z. Ş. (2020). Poverty and vulnerability of environmental degradation in Sub-Saharan African countries: What causes what? *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics*, 54, 143–149.
- Baltagi, B. H. (2005). Econometric analysis of panel data 3rd Edition England JW &Sons. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53953-5
- Baltagi, B. H. (2008). *Econometric analysis of panel data* (Vol. 4). Springer. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53953-5
- Bandara, A., Muhammad, H. M., & Gherman, E. (2006). *Poverty in countries of Central Asia*. ESCAP. https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/bulletin04-05-ch7.pdf
- Banerjee, A. V., & Duflo, E. (2007). The economic lives of the poor. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 21(1), 141–168.
- Barham, T., Kuhn, R., McCully, B. A., & Turner, P. S. (2022). *Structural Transformation and the Demographic Transition: Evidence from Bangladesh.*
- Barro, R. J., & Becker, G. S. (1989). Fertility Choice in a Model of Economic Growth. *Econometrica*, 57(2), 481–501. https://doi.org/10.2307/1912563
- Barro, R. J., Lee, J., Barro, R. J., Lee, J., & Barro, R. J. (2010). A New Data Set of Educational Attainment in the World, 1950–2010.
- Barro, R. J., & Sala-i-Martin, X. I. (2003). Economic Growth (2nd ed.). MIT Press.
- Barros, R. P., Corseuil, C., Mendonça, R., & Reis, M. C. (2000). POVERTY, INEQUALITY AND MACROECONOMIC INSTABILITY. 750, 27.
- Baskaran, T., & Hessami, Z. (2022). The gender recontest gap in elections. *European Economic Review*, 145, 104111.
- Batmunkh, A., Nugroho, A. D., Fekete-Farkas, M., & Lakner, Z. (2022). Global challenges and responses: Agriculture, economic globalization, and environmental sustainability in Central Asia. *Sustainability*, *14*(4), 2455. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042455
- Batsaikhan, U., & Dabrowski, M. (2017). Central Asia—Twenty-five years after the breakup of the USSR. *Russian Journal of Economics*, *3*(3), 296–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ruje.2017.09.005
- Bawazir, A. A. A., Aslam, M., & Osman, A. F. B. (2020). Demographic change and economic growth: Empirical evidence from the Middle East. *Economic Change and Restructuring*, 53(3), 429–450.
- Becker, G. S., & Barro, R. J. (1988). A reformulation of the economic theory of fertility. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *103*(1), 1–25.
- Bekturganova, M., Kenzhegulova, G., Jussibaliyeva, A., & Tleuberdiyeva, S. (2022). The Influence of Demographic Transition Factors on the Demographic Dividends in the Republic of Kazakhstan—Поиск в Google. Economics: The Strategy and Practice, 17(3), 169-183.
- Benhabib, J., & Spiegel, M. (2002). Human capital and technology diffusion: FRBSF Working Paper No 2003-02. *New York University and Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco*.
- Benhabib, J., & Spiegel, M. M. (1994). The role of human capital in economic development evidence from aggregate cross-country data. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 34(2), 143–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3932(94)90047-7
- Benhabib, J., & Spiegel, M. M. (2005). Human capital and technology diffusion. *Handbook of Economic Growth*, 1, 935–966.
- Berde, É., & Kurbanova, M. (2020). Üzbegisztán demográfiai osztaléka. Mit tanulhatunk Dél-Korea példájából?= The demographic dividend in Uzbekistan. What should we learn from the South Korean case? *Köz-Gazdaság*, *15*(2), 139–155.

- Berde, É., & Kurbanova, M. (2023). Does the demographic dividend with human capital development yield an economic dividend? Evidence from Central Asia. Post-Communist Economies, 35(2), 154–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/14631377.2022.2164782
- Berde, É., & Mengesha, S. T. (2023). Environmental Sustainability and the First Demographic Dividend. The Case of Four Eastern African Countries. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, 107, 133–138.
- Bergstrom, K. (2022). The Role of Income Inequality for Poverty Reduction. *The World Bank Economic Review*.
- Bharadwaj, A. (2014). Reviving the globalization and poverty debate: Effects of real and financial integration on the developing world. *Advances in Economics and Business*, 2, 42–57.
- Bidisha, S. H., Abdullah, S. M., Siddiqua, S., & Islam, M. M. (2020). How Does Dependency Ratio Affect Economic Growth In the Long Run? Evidence from Selected Asian Countries. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 54(2).
- Bierbaum, M., & Gassmann, F. (2012). *Chronic and transitory poverty in the Kyrgyz Republic: What can synthetic panels tell us?*
- Birdsall, N. (1988). *Economic approaches to population growth* (pp. 477–542) [Handbook of Development Economics]. Elsevier. https://econpapers.repec.org/bookchap/eeedevchp/1-12.htm
- Blacker, C. P. (1947). Stages in population growth. The Eugenics Review, 39(3), 88.
- Blanco, G., & Ram, R. (2019). Level of development and income inequality in the United States: Kuznets hypothesis revisited once again. *Economic Modelling*, *80*, 400–406.
- Bloom, Canning, & Finlay. (2010). Population aging and economic growth in Asia. *The Economic Consequences of Demographic Change in East Asia*, 19, 61–89. http://dx.doi.org/10.7208/chicago/9780226386881.003.0003
- Bloom, D., & Canning, D. (2004). Global Demographic Change: Dimensions and Economic Significance (w10817; p. w10817). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w10817
- Bloom, D., Canning, D., & Moore, M. (2014). Optimal Retirement with Increasing Longevity. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, *116*(3), 838–858.
- Bloom, D. E. (2010). Population Dynamics in India and Implications for Economic Growth 2011/1.
- Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., Fink, G., & Finlay, J. (2007). *Realizing the demographic dividend: Is Africa any different?* (Vol. 23).
- Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., Fink, G., & Finlay, J. E. (2009). Fertility, Female Labor Force Participation, and the Demographic Dividend. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10887-009-9039-9
- Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., Kotschy, R., Prettner, K., & Schünemann, J. (2018). *Health and Economic Growth: Reconciling the Micro and Macro Evidence* (IZA Discussion Paper 11940). Institute of Labor Economics (IZA). https://econpapers.repec.org/paper/izaizadps/dp11940.htm
- Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., & Sevilla, J. (2001). *Economic Growth and the Demographic Transition*.
- Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., & Sevilla, J. (2003). *The demographic dividend: A new perspective* on the economic consequences of population change. Rand.
- Bloom, D. E., Canning, D., & Sevilla, J. (2004). The Effect of Health on Economic Growth: A Production Function Approach. World Development, 32(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2003.07.002

- Bloom, D. E., Khoury, A., Kufenko, V., & Prettner, K. (2021). Spurring Economic Growth through Human Development: Research Results and Guidance for Policymakers. *Population and Development Review*, 47(2), 377–409. https://doi.org/10.1111/padr.12389
- Bloom, D. E., Kuhn, M., & Prettner, K. (2015). *The contribution of female health to economic development*. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Bloom, D. E., & Williamson, J. G. (1998). *Demographic Transitions and Economic Miracles in Emerging Asia*. 37. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/wber/12.3.419
- Bloom, D., & Finlay, J. (2009). Demographic Change and Economic Growth in Asia. *Asian Economic Policy Review*, 4(1), 45–64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-3131.2009.01106.x
- Bluhm, R., de Crombrugghe, D., & Szirmai, A. (2018). Poverty accounting. *European Economic Review*, 104(C), 237–255.
- Borja, K. (2020). Remittances, corruption, and human development in Latin America. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, *55*(3), 305–327.
- Boserup, E. (1981). *Population and Technological Change: A Study of Long-Term Trends* (1st edition). The University of Chicago Press.
- Bourguignon, A. J.-F. (2003). *The growth elasticity of poverty reduction: Explaining heterogeneity across countries and time periods (English)* [Text/HTML]. World Bank. https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail
- Brander, J. A., & Dowrick, S. (1994). The role of fertility and population in economic growth. *Journal of Population Economics*, 7(1), 1–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00160435
- Breunig, R., & Majeed, O. (2020). Inequality, poverty and economic growth. *International Economics*, *161*, 83–99.
- Breusch, T. S., & Pagan, A. R. (1980). The Lagrange multiplier test and its applications to model specification in econometrics. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 47(1), 239–253.
- Brück, T., Esenaliev, D., Kroeger, A., Kudebayeva, A., Mirkasimov, B., & Steiner, S. (2014). Household survey data for research on well-being and behavior in Central Asia. *Journal* of Comparative Economics, 42(3), 819–835. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jce.2013.02.003
- Bruckner, B., Hubacek, K., Shan, Y., Zhong, H., & Feng, K. (2022). Impacts of poverty alleviation on national and global carbon emissions. *Nature Sustainability*, *5*(4), 311–320.
- Burchi, F., Malerba, D., Montenegro, C. E., & Rippin, N. (2022). Assessing trends in multidimensional poverty during the MDGs. *Review of Income and Wealth*.
- Bussolo, M., Koettl, J., & Sinnott, E. (2015). *Golden aging: Prospects for healthy, active, and prosperous aging in Europe and Central Asia.* World Bank Publications.
- Butt, A., Ahmad, H. R., & Khan, A. J. (2019). Demographic Change and Economic Growth: A Policy Perspective. *Forman Journal of Economic Studies*, 15.
- Cabeza-García, L., Del Brio, E. B., & Oscanoa-Victorio, M. L. (2018). Gender factors and inclusive economic growth: The silent revolution. *Sustainability*, *10*(1), 121.
- Cai, F. (2010). Demographic transition, demographic dividend, and Lewis turning point in China. *China Economic Journal*, *3*(2), 107–119.
- Caldwell, J. C. (2006). *Demographic Transition Theory*. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-4498-4
- Calvo, C. C., & Hernandez, M. A. (2006). Foreign direct investment and poverty in Latin America. Prepared to Be Delivered at the Globalisation and Economic Policy Fifth Annual Postgraduate Conference Leverhulme Centre for Research on Globalisation and Economic Policy University of Nottingham.

- Ceopedia. (2024). *Principal component analysis*. CEOpedia | Management Online. https://ceopedia.org/index.php/Principal_component_analysis
- Cerra, M. V., Lama, M. R., & Loayza, N. (2021). Links between growth, inequality, and poverty: A survey.
- Cervellati, M., & Sunde, U. (2011). Life expectancy and economic growth: The role of the demographic transition. *Journal of Economic Growth*, *16*(2), 99–133.
- Charles-Coll, J. A. (2010). *The optimal rate of inequality: A framework for the relationship between income inequality and economic growth.* https://mpra.ub.unimuenchen.de/id/eprint/28921
- Chatterjee, S., & Vogl, T. (2018). Escaping Malthus: Economic growth and fertility change in the developing world. *American Economic Review*, *108*(6), 1440–1467.
- Chaudhry, I. S., Malik, S., & Imran, A. (2006). Urban poverty and governance: The case of Multan city. *The Pakistan Development Review*, 819–830.
- Chauvet, L., & Collier, P. (2004). Development effectiveness in fragile states: Spillovers and turnarounds. *Centre for the Study of African Economies, Department of Economics, Oxford University (Mimeo).*
- Chen, H., Singh, B., & Aru, W. S. (2022). Relationship between government expenditure and economic growth: Evidence from Vanuatu. *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy*, 27(4), 640–659.
- Chen, M., Sui, Y., Liu, W., Liu, H., & Huang, Y. (2019). Urbanization patterns and poverty reduction: A new perspective to explore the countries along the Belt and Road. *Habitat International*, *84*, 1–14.
- Chen, M., & Yip, P. S. (2018). A study on population dynamics in "Belt & Road" countries and their implications. *China Population and Development Studies*, 2(2), 158–172. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s42379-018-0007-y
- Cheung, Karen, S. L., Paul, S. E., Golini, A., & Jean-Marie Robine. (2004). "Change in Demographic Window in Low Fertility Countries. *Presented at the International Seminar on the Demographic Window and Healthy Aging: Socioeconomic Challenges and Opportunities. Beijing.*
- Cheung, S. L. K., Yip, P. S. F., Chi, I., Golini, A., & Robine, J.-M. (2004). Change in demographic window in low fertility countries. *International Seminar on the Demographic Window and Health Aging*.
- Chi, G., Gao, J., Wang, D., Hagedorn, A., Kelgenbaeva, K., Smith, M. L., & Henebry, G. M. (2020). Agricultural production at the oblast level in post-Soviet Kyrgyzstan, 1990– 2014: Implications of demographic and climate changes. *Research in Globalization*, 2, 100027.
- Choudhry, M. T., & Elhorst, J. P. (2010). Demographic transition and economic growth in China, India and Pakistan. *Economic Systems*, 34(3), 218–236. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecosys.2010.02.001
- Christoph, B. (2018). *History of Central Asia, The: 4-volume set. Bloomsbury Publishing.* https://www.perlego.com/book/964188/history-of-central-asia-the-4volume-set-pdf
- Chu, C.-P., & Yeh, K.-C. (2021). Demographic transition for economic development in Taipei, China: Literature and policy implications. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3807139
- Clark, G., & Cummins, N. (2009). Urbanization, mortality, and fertility in Malthusian England. *American Economic Review*, 99(2), 242–247.
- Clark, G., & Cummins, N. (2015). Malthus to modernity: Wealth, status, and fertility in England, 1500–1879. *Journal of Population Economics*, 28(1), 3–29.
- Clydesdale, G. (2018). Poverty, sustainability and the demographic dividend. International Journal of Business and Emerging Markets, 10(1), 3–21.

- Cohen, D., & Soto, M. (2007). Growth and human capital: Good data, good results. *Journal of Economic Growth*, *12*(1), 51–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10887-007-9011-5
- Cole, J. (2019). The demographic transition. *Planetary Health: Human Health in an Era of Global Environmental Change. CABI, Boston,* 54–57.
- Collin, M., & Weil, D. N. (2020). The effect of increasing human capital investment on economic growth and poverty: A simulation exercise. *Journal of Human Capital*, *14*(1), 43–83.
- Connors, J. (1998). Unlocking the Assets: Energy and the Future of Central Asia and the Caucasus—Main Study. 42.
- Coppedge, M., Caldwell, J., Knutsen, C., & Lindberg. (2021). Structure of V-Dem Indices, Components, and Indicators.
- Crespo Cuaresma, J., Lutz, W., & Sanderson, W. (2014a). Is the Demographic Dividend an Education Dividend? *Demography*, 51(1), 299–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-013-0245-x
- Cruz, M., & Ahmed, S. (2016). On the impact of demographic change on growth, savings, and poverty. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, 7805.
- Cruz, M., & Ahmed, S. A. (2018). On the impact of demographic change on economic growth and poverty. *World Development*, *105*, 95–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.12.018
- Cummins, M. (2019). Population Dynamics and the Demographic Dividend Potential of Eastern and Southern Africa: A Primer. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3523552
- Dagiev, D. (2013). Regime transition in Central Asia: Stateness, nationalism and political change in Tajikistan and Uzbekistan. Routledge.
- Dalton, M., Jiang, L., Pachauri, S., & O'Neill, B. C. (2007). Demographic change and future carbon emissions in China and India. Unpublished Update of the 16 March 2007 Draft Presented at the Annual Meeting of the Population Association of America, New York, NY, 29–31.
- Dao, M. Q. (2012). Population and economic growth in developing countries. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 2(1), 6.
- Darrat, A. F., & Al-Yousif, Y. K. (1999). On the long-run relationship between population and economic growth: Some time series evidence for developing countries. *Eastern Economic Journal*, 25(3), 301–313.
- Datta, S. K., & Singh, K. (2019). Variation and determinants of financial inclusion and their association with human development: A cross-country analysis. *IIMB Management Review*, *31*(4), 336–349.
- De Beer, J., Van Der Erf, R., & Huisman, C. (2011). The growth of the working age population: Differences between rural and urban regions across Europe. *The Hague: Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute (NEUJOBS Final Draft WP D. 8.1).*
- De Hoyos, R., Popova, A., & Rogers, H. (2016). Out of school and out of work.
- De La Croix, D., & Doepke, M. (2003). Inequality and growth: Why differential fertility matters. *American Economic Review*, 93(4), 1091–1113.
- de la Fuente, A., & Doménech, R. (2006). Human Capital in Growth Regressions: How Much Difference Does Data Quality Make? *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 4(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1162/jeea.2006.4.1.1
- Deininger, K., & Squire, L. (1998). New ways of looking at old issues: Inequality and growth. *Journal of Development Economics*, 57(2), 259–287.
- Delanty, G., & Kumar, K. (2006). The SAGE handbook of nations and nationalism. Sage.
- cnthal, M. J., Fernández-Villaverde, J., & Guner, N. (2021). *Demographic transitions across time and space*. National Bureau of Economic Research.

- Denisenko, M., Strozza, S., & Light, M. (2020). *Migration from the Newly Independent States:* 25 Years After the Collapse of the USSR. Societies and Political Orders in Transition. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36075-7
- Dewi, S., Majid, M. S. A., Aliasuddin, A., & Kassim, S. H. (2018). Dynamics of financial development, economic growth and poverty alleviation: The Indonesian experience. *The South East European Journal of Economics and Business*, *13*(1), 17–30.
- Deyoung, A. J. (2006). Problems and trends in education in Central Asia since 1990: The case of general secondary education in Kyrgyzstan. *Central Asian Survey*, 25(4), 499–514.
- Dhrifi, A., Jaziri, R., & Alnahdi, S. (2020). Does foreign direct investment and environmental degradation matter for poverty? Evidence from developing countries. *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics*, *52*, 13–21.
- Ding, S., & Knight, J. (2009). Can the augmented Solow model explain China's remarkable economic growth? A cross-country panel data analysis. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 37(3), 432–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jce.2009.04.006
- Djoldasheva, D. S. (2018). Samosokhranitel'noye povedeniye naseleniya kirgizskoy respubliki i sosednikh gosudarstv (Самосохранительное поведение населения киргизской республики и соседних государств). *Ekonomicheskaya Teoriya. Ekonomika Truda.* Upravleniye Personalom, 150.
- Djoldosheva, D. (2019). Demographic Trends and Dividends in the Russian Federation and the Kyrgyz Republic. *Space and Culture, India*, 7(2), 55–64.
- Doepke, M. (2005). Child mortality and fertility decline: Does the Barro-Becker model fit the facts? *Journal of Population Economics*, *18*(2), 337–366.
- Dohmen, D., & Yelubayeva, G. (2019). Economic growth and the issue of women participation in adult education.
- Dollar, D., Kleineberg, T., & Kraay, A. (2015). Growth, inequality and social welfare: Crosscountry evidence. *Economic Policy*, *30*(82), 335–377.
- Dollar, D., & Kraay, A. (2002). Growth Is Good for the Poor. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 7(3), 195–225.
- Driscoll, J. C., & Kraay, A. C. (1998). Consistent covariance matrix estimation with spatially dependent panel data. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 80(4), 549–560.
- Drukker, D. M. (2003). Testing for Serial Correlation in Linear Panel-data Models. *The Stata Journal: Promoting Communications on Statistics and Stata*, 3(2), 168–177. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X0300300206
- Duclos, J.-Y., Sahn, D. E., & Younger, S. D. (2006). Robust multidimensional poverty comparisons. *The Economic Journal*, *116*(514), 943–968.
- Dufrénot, G. (2018). *The Third Demographic Dividend: Measuring the" demographic Tax" in the Arab Countries in Transition*. CEPII.
- Duncan, R., & Quang, D. (2003). Trade liberalization, economic growth and poverty reduction strategies. *National Centre for Development Studies, The Australian National University*.
- Easterly, W. (2001). *The Effect of International Monetary Fund and World Bank Programs on Poverty*. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-2517
- Eastwood, R., & Lipton, M. (2011). Demographic transition in sub-Saharan Africa: How big will the economic dividend be? *Population Studies*, 65(1), 9–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/00324728.2010.547946
- Economist. (2015). *Democracy Index 2015: Democracy in an Age of Anxiety. 2015.* http://www.eiu.com/Handlers/WhitepaperHandler.ashx
- Edgar, A. (2006). Bolshevism, patriarchy, and the nation: The Soviet "emancipation" of Muslim women in Pan-Islamic perspective. *Slavic Review*, 65(2), 252–272.

- Ehrlich, I., & Lui, F. (1997). The problem of population and growth: A review of the literature from Malthus to contemporary models of endogenous population and endogenous growth. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 21(1), 205–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1889(95)00930-2
- El Ghak, T. (2018). Causes of Poverty Reduction: Re-Examining the Evidence. IJAMEE.
- Emara, N., & Chiu, I. (2016). The impact of governance environment on economic growth: The case of Middle Eastern and North African countries. *Journal of Economics Library*, *3*(1), 24–37.
- Emara, N., & Jhonsa, E. (2014). Governance and economic growth: The case of Middle Eastern and North African countries. *Governance and Economic Growth: The Case of Middle East and North African Countries*, 47–71.
- ESCAP, U. (2019). Examining women's economic empowerment in SPECA countries.
- Esen, E., & Celik Kecili, M. (2022). Economic growth and health expenditure analysis for Turkey: Evidence from time series. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, *13*(3), 1786– 1800.
- European Commission, Directorate-General for Communications Networks, C. and T., Worthington, H., Simmonds, P., Farla, K., & Varnai, P. (2018). *The silver economy – Final report*. Publications Office. https://doi.org/10.2759/685036
- Falkingham, J. (2005). The End of the Rollercoaster? Growth, Inequality and Poverty in Central Asia and the Caucasus—Falkingham—2005—Social Policy & amp; Administration—Wiley Online Library. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-9515.2005.00444.x
- Farid, S., & Mostari, M. (2022). Population transition and demographic dividend in Bangladesh: Extent and policy implication. *Journal of Social and Economic Development*, 1–19.
- Fernandez-Villaverde, J. (2001). Was Malthus right? Economic growth and population dynamics. *Economic Growth and Population Dynamics (November 2001)*.
- Field, E., Robles, O., & Torero, M. (2009). Iodine deficiency and schooling attainment in Tanzania. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 1(4), 140–169.
- Fink, G., & Peet, E. (2016). *Returns to education in low and middle-income countries: Evidence from the Living Standards and Measurement Surveys.* Program on the Global Demography of Aging.
- Fish, M. S., Michel, K., & Lindberg, S. I. (2015). *Legislative Powers and Executive Corruption* (SSRN Scholarly Paper 2622570). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2622570
- Fosu, A. (2010a). Does inequality constrain poverty reduction programs? Evidence from Africa. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, *32*(6), 818–827.
- Fosu, A. (2010b). The Effect of Income Distribution on the Ability of Growth to Reduce Poverty: Evidence from Rural and Urban African Economies. *The American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 69(3), 1034–1053.
- Fosu, A. K. (2009). Inequality and the Impact of Growth on Poverty: Comparative Evidence for Sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of Development Studies*, 45(5), 726–745.
- Fosu, A. K. (2017). Growth, inequality, and poverty reduction in developing countries: Recent global evidence. *Research in Economics*, *71*(2), 306–336.
- Fowowe, B., & Shuaibu, M. (2014). Is foreign direct investment good for the poor? New evidence from African countries. *Economic Change and Restructuring*, 47(4), 321–339.
- Fox, S., & Dyson, T. (2008). On the relationship between population growth and economic growth: Historical and sect oral considerations. *Unpublished Paper, London School of Economics*.
- Froese, P. (2008). *The plot to kill God: Findings from the Soviet experiment in secularization*. Univ of California Press.

- Frost, R. (2018). *Meet the Stans: An Introduction to the Former Soviet Republics of Central Asia.* The Observer. https://theobserver-qiaa.org/meet-the-stans-an-introduction-to-the-former-soviet-republics-of-central-asia
- Gallie, D., & Paugam, S. (2003). Social precarity and social integration: For the European Commission Directorate-General Employment Eurobarometer 56.1 October 2002. *Undefined*. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Social-precarity-and-socialintegration-%3A-for-the-Gallie-
 - Paugam/b6813577c25e517aaabba46f9bffa9f8e864db82
- Galor, O. (2012). The demographic transition: Causes and consequences. *Cliometrica*, 6(1), 1–28.
- Gammarano, R. (2019). The working poor or how a job is no guarantee of decent living conditions. *Spotlight Work Stat.*, *No*.
- Gebel, M. (2020). Young Women's Transition from Education to Work in the Caucasus and Central Asia. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 688(1), 137–154. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0002716220908260
- Gebrehiwot, K. (2014). *The Impact of Human Capital Development on Economic Growth in Ethiopia: Evidence from ARDL Approach to Co-Integration* (SSRN Scholarly Paper 2633154). https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2633154
- Gentile, M. (2007). Fertility, age structure and demographic transition in the former Soviet republics: The Central Asian Republics in focus. *Population, Space and Place, 13*(6), 433–454.
- Ghassan, H. B., Alhajhoj, H. R., & Balli, F. (2022). Bi-demographic and current account dynamics using SVAR model: Evidence from Saudi Arabia. *Economic Change and Restructuring*, 55(3), 1327–1363.
- Girishankar, N., Hammergren, L., Holmes, M., Knack, S., Levy, B., Litvack, J., Manning, N., Messick, R., Rinne, J., & Sutch, H. (2001). Governance and poverty reduction. *Poverty Reduction Strategy Sourcebook*. http://ftp.unpad.ac.id/orari/library/library-ref-ind/refind-1/application/poverty-reduction/prsp/SourceBook/gov0427.pdf
- Golini, A. (2004). A Domestic and an International View from a Demographic Window. Presented at the International Seminar on the Demographic Window and Healthy Aging: Socioeconomic Challenges and Opportunities, May 10–11.
- Golley, J., & Tyers, R. (2012). Demographic dividends, dependencies, and economic growth in China and India. *Asian Economic Papers*, 11(3), 1–26. http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/ASEP_a_00156
- Gómez, R., & De Cos, P. H. (2008). Does Population Ageing Promote Faster Economic Growth? *Review of Income and Wealth*, 54(3), 350–372. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4991.2008.00279.x
- Greene, W. H. (2002). Econometric Analysis (5th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Greenwood, J., & Seshadri, A. (2002). The US demographic transition. *American Economic Review*, 92(2), 153–159.
- Gribble, J. N., & Bremner, J. (2012). Achieving a Demographic Dividend. *Population Bulletin*, 16.
- Groth, H., May, J. F., & Turbat, V. (2019). Policies Needed to Capture a Demographic Dividend in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Canadian Studies in Population*, 46(1), 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42650-019-00005-8
- Gründler, K., & Potrafke, N. (2019). Corruption and economic growth: New empirical evidence. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 60, 101810. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpoleco.2019.08.001
- Gründler, K., & Scheuermeyer, P. (2018). Growth effects of inequality and redistribution: What are the transmission channels? *Journal of Macroeconomics*, *55*, 293–313.
- Ha, J., & Lee, S.-H. (2016). Demographic dividend and Asia's economic convergence towards the US. *The Journal of the Economics of Ageing*, 8, 28–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jeoa.2016.03.006
- Habibov, N. (2011). Public beliefs regarding the causes of poverty during transition: Evidence from the Caucasus, Central Asia, Russia, and Ukraine. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, *31*, 53–74. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443331111104805
- Habibov, N., & Fan, L. (2007). Social protection and poverty in Azerbaijan, a low-income country in transition: Implications of a household survey.
- Habibov, N., Fan, L., Liang, Y., & Cheung, C. H. (2016). Revisiting Welfare States. Performance in Reducing Poverty through Longitudinal Multinational Comparison. *Journal of Policy Practice*, 16, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/15588742.2016.1214944
- Haldar, A., & Sethi, N. (2022). Effect of sectoral foreign aid allocation on growth and structural transformation in sub-Saharan Africa—Analysing the roles of institutional quality and human capital. *Economic Analysis and Policy*, *76*, 1010–1026.
- Hall, R. E., & Jones, C. I. (1999). Why do Some Countries Produce So Much More Output Per Worker than Others? *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *114*(1), 83–116.
- Hansen, C. W., & Lønstrup, L. (2015). The rise in life expectancy and economic growth in the 20th century. *The Economic Journal*, *125*(584), 838–852.
- Hanushek, E. A., & Woessmann, L. (2012). Do better schools lead to more growth? Cognitive skills, economic outcomes, and causation. *Journal of Economic Growth*, *17*(4), 267–321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10887-012-9081-x
- Haquette, R. (2022). In Kyrgyzstan, one in four families lives below the poverty line. https://novastan.org/en/kyrgyzstan/in-kyrgyzstan-one-in-four-families-lives-below-the-poverty-line/
- Harkat, T., & Driouchi, A. (2017). Demographic Dividend & Economic Development in Arab Countries. *MPRA*.
- Hasselman, C. (2021). *Trading out of poverty: Cross-country evidence on the impact of trade liberalisation on poverty.*
- Hausman, J. A. (1978). Specification tests in econometrics. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, 1251–1271.
- Hayes, A. (2014). Population dynamics and sustainable development in Asia and the Pacific. *Asia-Pacific Population Journal*, 28(1), 57–83.
- Herzer, D., Strulik, H., & Vollmer, S. (2012). The long-run determinants of fertility: One century of demographic change 1900–1999. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 17(4), 357– 385. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10887-012-9085-6
- Hilbig, M., Loichinger, E., & Köppen, B. (2022). "It makes the buzz"-putting the demographic dividend under scrutiny. *Geographica Helvetica*, 77(1), 141–151.
- Hirchman, A. O. (1958). The strategy of economic development. *New Haven: Yale University Press.*, *51*, 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2016.1260251
- Hoechle, D. (2007). Robust standard errors for panel regressions with cross-sectional dependence. *The Stata Journal*, 7(3), 281–312. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1536867X0700700301
- Hosan, S., Karmaker, S. C., Rahman, M. M., Chapman, A. J., & Saha, B. B. (2022). Dynamic links among the demographic dividend, digitalization, energy intensity and sustainable economic growth: Empirical evidence from emerging economies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 330, 129858.
- Howie, P., Davletova, I., & Makhazhan, I. (2021). Kazakhstan's Workfare Program: A Multidimensional Evaluation.
- Huang, W.-H., Lin, Y.-J., & Lee, H.-F. (2019). Impact of population and workforce aging on economic growth: Case study of Taiwan. *Sustainability*, *11*(22), 6301.

Human Rights Watch. (2021). Kazakhstan: Events of 2021. In *World Report 2022*. https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2022/country-chapters/kazakhstan

Hyeok, J. (2021). Demographic Dividend with a Gender Dimension in the Republic of Korea.

- Idrees, M., Batool, Z., Ch, M. S., & Mahmood, S. (2022). Nexus between Demographic Dividend, Human Capital and socio-economic development: Mediating role of Labor force participation. Sukkur IBA Journal of Management and Business, 9(1), 74–86.
- ILO. (2023). Dataset: Persons outside the labour force by sex, age and education (thousands)— Annual. https://www.ilo.org/shinyapps/bulkexplorer6/?lang=en&id=EIP_TEIP_SEX_AGE_E

https://www.ilo.org/shinyapps/bulkexplorer6/?lang=en&id=EIP_TEIP_SEX_AGE_E DU_NB_A

- IMF. (2018). Republic of Uzbekistan: Staff Report for 2018 Article IV Consultation. IMF Staff Country Reports, 2018(117). https://doi.org/10.5089/9781484354896.002.A001
- Imimole, B. (2021). Population Growth, Economic Growth, Inequality and Poverty Reduction in Nigeria. SAU JOURNAL OF MANAGEMENT AND SOCIAL SCIENCES, 6(1), 1–12.
- Iqbal, K., Yasmin, N., & Yaseen, M. R. (2015). Impact of demographic transition on economic growth of Pakistan. *Journal of Finance and Economics*, *3*(2), 44–50.
- Isaeva, A., Ishnazarov, A., Shamsiyeva, F., Tosheva, S., & Khachaturov, A. (2021). Does Innovation Promote Regional Economic Development? Evidence for Countries in Europe and Central Asia. *The 5th International Conference on Future Networks & Distributed Systems*, 698–701. https://doi.org/10.1145/3508072.3508209
- Islam, R., & Abdul Ghani, A. B. (2018). Link among energy consumption, carbon dioxide emission, economic growth, population, poverty, and forest area: Evidence from ASEAN country. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 45(2), 275–285.
- Islamov, B. (2000). Central Asian Population in Historical Perspectives. Institute of Economic Research, Hitotsubashi University. https://www.ier.hitu.ac.jp/COE/Japanese/Newsletter/No.14.english/Islamov.htm
- Izekenova, A. K., Kumar, A. B., Abikulova, A. K., & Izekenova, A. K. (2015). Trends in ageing of the population and the life expectancy after retirement: A comparative country-based analysis. *Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, 3.
- Jafrin, N., Mahi, M., Masud, M. M., & Ghosh, D. (2021). Demographic dividend and economic growth in emerging economies: Fresh evidence from the SAARC countries. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 48(8), 1159–1174.
- Jain, A., Nundy, S., & Abbasi, K. (2014). Corruption: Medicine's dirty open secret. In *BMJ* (Vol. 348). British Medical Journal Publishing Group. https://www.bmj.com/content/348/bmj.g4184.full
- Jain, N., & Goli, S. (2022). Potential demographic dividend for India, 2001 to 2061: A macrosimulation projection using the spectrum model. *SN Social Sciences*, 2(9), 1–23.
- Jalilian, H., & Weiss, J. A. (2002). Foreign Direct Investment and Poverty Reduction in the ASEAN Region. https://bradscholars.brad.ac.uk/handle/10454/3854
- Jamil, B., Yaping, S., Ud Din, N., & Nazneen, S. (2022). Do effective public governance and gender (in) equality matter for poverty? *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 35(1), 158–174.
- Jasku\la, P. (2019). The demographic barriers of economic development in Poland, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan by 2035–the comparative analysis. *EXLIBRIS Biblioteka Gerontologii Spo\lecznej*, 1 (16)/2019 SELECTED ASPECTS OF AGING. POLISH *PERSPECTIVE*, 23–42.
- Jha, R., & Dang, T. (2009). Vulnerability to Poverty in select Central Asian Countries. *European Journal of Comparative Economics*, 6, 17–50.
- Jia, J., Lei, J., Chen, C., Song, X., & Zhong, Y. (2021). Contribution of Renewable Energy Consumption to CO 2 Emission Mitigation: A Comparative Analysis from a Global

Geographic Perspective. Sustainability, 13(7), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13073853

- Joe, W., Kumar, A., & Rajpal, S. (2018). Swimming against the tide: Economic growth and demographic dividend in India. *Asian Population Studies*, 14(2), 211–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441730.2018.1446379
- Jollife, I. (2002). Principal component analysis (2nd ed.). Springer.
- Jolliffe, I. T., & Cadima, J. (2016). Principal component analysis: A review and recent developments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 374*(2065), 20150202. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2015.0202
- Joshi, S., & Schultz, T. P. (2007). Family planning as an investment in development: Evaluation of a program's consequences in Matlab, Bangladesh. *Yale University Economic Growth Center Discussion Paper*, 951. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=962938
- Jovanovic, B. (2018). When is there a Kuznets curve? Some evidence from the ex-socialist countries. *Economic Systems*, 42(2), 248–268.
- Kaiser, H. F. (1960). The Application of Electronic Computers to Factor Analysis. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 20(1), 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000116
- Kaiser, H. F. (1974). An index of factorial simplicity. *Psychometrika*, 39(1), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02291575
- Kakwani, N., & Silber, J. (2008). Many dimensions of poverty. Springer.
- Kalwij, A., & Verschoor, A. (2007). Not by growth alone: The role of the distribution of income in regional diversity in poverty reduction. *European Economic Review*, *51*(4), 805–829.
- Kapuria-Foreman, V. (1995). Population and Growth Causality in Developing Countries. The Journal of Developing Areas 29 (4): 531–540.
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A., & Mastruzzi, M. (2010). Response to 'What do the worldwide governance indicators measure?' *The European Journal of Development Research*, 22, 55–58.
- Kayani, F. N. (2021). Role of foreign remittances in poverty reduction: A case of povertyridden Kyrgyzstan. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences (PJCSS)*, 15(3), 545–558.
- Kazbekova, Z. (2018). Impact of the demographic dividend on economic growth. *Population and Economics*, 2(4), 85–135.
- Keller, C., & Heller, P. (2011). Social Sector Reform in Transition Countries. IMF. https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2016/12/30/Social-Sector-Reform-in-Transition-Countries-4025
- Kelley, A. C., & Schmidt, R. M. (1994). *Population and income change: Recent evidence*. The World Bank. http://dx.doi.org/10.1596/0-8213-2956-1
- Kelley, A. C., & Schmidt, R. M. (2005). Evolution of recent economic-demographic modeling: A synthesis. *Journal of Population Economics*, 18(2), 275–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-005-0222-9
- Khan, K. M. (2016). Contribution of female human capital in economic growth: An empirical analysis of pakistan (1972-2012). Quality & Quantity. 50(2), 709-728. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-015-0172-6. Pdf—Поиск в Google.
- Khan, S., Yahong, W., & Zeeshan, A. (2022). Impact of poverty and income inequality on the ecological footprint in Asian developing economies: Assessment of Sustainable Development Goals. *Energy Reports*, 8, 670–679.

- Khanie, G. (2019). Education and labor market activity of women: The case of Botswana— Khanie—2019—Journal of Labor and Society—Wiley Online Library. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/wusa.12455
- Khatun, F., & Saadat, S. Y. (2022). The Optimum Level of Income Inequality in South Asia: An Econometric Analysis. *South Asia Economic Journal*, 23(1), 7–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/13915614211039087
- Khitakhunov, A. (2020). How to alleviate poverty: Lessons from the 2019 Nobel prize in economics. Вестник КазНУ. Серия Экономическая, 131(1), 26–33.
- Khitarishvili, T. (2016). Gender inequalities in labour markets in Central Asia. *Joint UNDP/ILO Conference on Employment, Trade and Human Development in Central Asia (Almaty, Kazakhstan.*
- Khosropour, A. (2017). A PANEL DATA ANALYSIS OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND EARNINGS MANAGEMNET. 2423– 2431.
- Kim, E. J. (2023, September 1). *Remittances to Europe and Central Asia post a strong growth*. https://blogs.worldbank.org/peoplemove/remittances-europe-and-central-asia-poststrong-growth
- Kim, K. S. (1991). The Korean miracle (1962-1980) revisited: Myths and realities in strategy and development. Helen Kellogg Institute for International Studies, University of Notre Dame https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/51178834.pdf
- Kim, S., & Lee, J.-W. (2008). Demographic changes, saving, and current account: An analysis based on a panel VAR model. *Japan and the World Economy*, 20(2), 236–256.
- Kinugasa, T., & Mason, A. (2007). Why countries become wealthy: The effects of adult longevity on saving. *World Development*, 35(1), 1–23.
- Kirk, D. (1996). Demographic Transition Theory. *Population Studies*, 50(3), 361–387. https://doi.org/10.1080/0032472031000149536
- Klasen, S. (2002). Low schooling for girls, slower growth for all? Cross-country evidence on the effect of gender inequality in education on economic development. *The World Bank Economic Review*, *16*(3), 345–373.
- Klasen, S. (2018). The Impact of Gender Inequality on Economic Performance in Developing Countries. *Annual Review of Resource Economics*, 10(1), 279–298.
- Klasen, S., & Nowak-Lehmann, F. (Eds.). (2008). Poverty, Inequality, and Policy in Latin America. MIT Press.
- Klepinger, D., Lundberg, S., & Plotnick, R. (1999). How Does Adolescent Fertility Affect the Human Capital and Wages of Young Women? *Journal of Human Resources*, *34*(3), 421–448.
- Klugman, J. (1997). *Poverty in Russia*. The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/0-8213-3803-X
- Klugman, J., Micklewright, J., & Redmond, G. (2002). *Poverty in the Transition: Social expenditures and the working-age poor*. UNICEF-IRC. https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/327-poverty-in-the-transition-social-expenditures-and-the-working-age-poor.html
- Knight, D., Pimhidzai, O., & Uochi, I. (2024). *Charting Uzbekistan's path to poverty reduction: Insights* from international comparisons. https://blogs.worldbank.org/en/opendata/charting-uzbekistan-s-path-to-povertyreduction--insights-from-i
- Knowles, S., Lorgelly, P. K., & Owen, P. D. (2002). Are educational gender gaps a brake on economic development? Some cross-country empirical evidence. Oxford Economic Papers, 54(1), 118–149.

- Komine, T., & Kabe, S. (2009). Long-term forecast of the demographic transition in Japan and Asia. *Asian Economic Policy Review*, 4(1), 19–38.
- Kotschy, R., Suarez Urtaza, P., & Sunde, U. (2020). The demographic dividend is more than an education dividend. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(42), 25982–25984.
- Kraay, A. (2006). *When is growth pro-poor? Evidence from a panel of countries*. Journal of Development Economics 80 (1): 198–227.
- Kua, W., & Piyachart, P. (2016). Demographic Dividend, Human Capital and Poverty Reduction* UN, 2016—Поиск в Google.
- Kudebayeva, A. (2018). Chronic Poverty in Kazakhstan. CERGE-EI Working Paper Series, 627.
- Kunze, L. (2014). Life expectancy and economic growth. *Journal of Macroeconomics*, *39*, 54–65. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jmacro.2013.12.004
- Kurbanova, M. (2022). The impact of the demographic transition on poverty reduction in Central Asia. *Proceedings of the European Union's Contention in the Reshaping Global Economy*, 129–145.
- Kuznets, S. (1957). Quantitative aspects of the economic growth of nations: II. industrial distribution of national product and labor force. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 5(S4), 1–111.
- Kuznets, S. (1967). Population and economic growth. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, *111*(3), 170–193.
- Kwack, S. Y., & Lee, Y. S. (2006). Analyzing the Korea's growth experience: The application of R&D and human capital based growth models with demography. *Journal of Asian Economics*, 17(5), 818–831.
- Labidi, M. A., Ochi, A., & Saidi, Y. (2023). Extreme Poverty, Economic Growth, and Income Inequality Trilogy in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia: A GMM Panel VAR Approach. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-023-01512-5
- Lakner, C., Mahler, D. G., Negre, M., & Prydz, E. B. (2022). How much does reducing inequality matter for global poverty? *The Journal of Economic Inequality*, 1–27.
- Lee, R. (2003). The Demographic Transition: Three Centuries of Fundamental Change. *Journal* of Economic Perspectives, 17(4), 167–190. https://doi.org/10.1257/089533003772034943
- Lee, R., & Mason, A. (2006). What is the demographic dividend? *Finance and Development*, 43(3), 16.
- Lee, R., & Mason, A. (2010). Fertility, Human Capital, and Economic Growth over the Demographic Transition. *Human Capital*, 24. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10680-009-9186-x
- Lee, R., Mason, A., & Center, E.-W. (2009). Expert Group Meeting on Population Ageing, Intergenerational Transfers and Social Protection, Santiago, Chile, 20-21 October 2009. http://ntaccounts.org/doc/repository/LM2009c.pdf
- Lee, & Shin, K. (2019). Nonlinear effects of population aging on economic growth. *Japan and the World Economy*, *51*, 100963. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.japwor.2019.100963
- Lee, Y. Y., & Lee, S. S. (2013). Policy implications for inclusive growth in the Republic of Korea. *Korea and the World Economy*, *14*(3), 607–651.
- Lee-Jones, K. (2021). OVERVIEW OF CORRUPTION AND ANTI-CORRUPTION IN CENTRAL ASIA - https://knowledgehub.transparency.org/helpdesk/overview-ofcorruption-and-anti-corruption-in-central-asia
- Lerch, J. C., Schofer, E., Frank, D. J., Longhofer, W., Ramirez, F. O., Wotipka, C. M., & Velasco, K. (2022). Women's participation and challenges to the liberal script: A global

perspective. *International Sociology*, *37*(3), 305–329. https://doi.org/10.1177/02685809211060911

Lewis, W. A. (1954). Economic development with unlimited supplies of labour.

- Li, H., & Zhang, J. (2007). Do high birth rates hamper economic growth? *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 89(1), 110–117. http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/rest.89.1.110
- Li, J., & Bai, M. (2022). China's Poverty Reduction Through Healthcare. In *Poverty Reduction in China* (pp. 75–92). Springer.
- Lin, T.-C. (2006). Alternative measure for education variable in an empirical economic growth model: Is primary education less important. *Economics Bulletin*, 15(15), 1–6.
- Lindberg, S. I. (2015). Ordinal Versions of V-Dem's Indices: For Classification, Description, Sequencing Analysis and Other Purposes. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2704786
- Lindberg, S. I., Bue, M. C. L., & Sen, K. (2022). Clientelism, corruption and the rule of law. *World Development*, *158*, 105989.
- Liu, S., & Hu, A. (2013). Demographic change and economic growth: Theory and evidence from China. *Economic Modelling*, *35*, 71–77.

Lomborg, B. (2018). *Prioritizing development: A cost benefit analysis of the United Nations' sustainable development goals.* Cambridge University Press.

- López Córdova, J. E. (2018). *Globalization, Migration and Development: The Role of Mexican Migrant Remittances*. Inter-American Development Bank.
- Lopez, J. H., & Servén, L. (2006). A Normal Relationship? Poverty, Growth, and Inequality. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-3814
- Lubambu, K. M. K. (2014). The impact of remittances on developing countries.
- Lucas Jr, R. E. (2018). What Was the Industrial Revolution? *Journal of Human Capital*, *12*(2), 182–203.
- Lutz, W., Crespo Cuaresma, J., Kebede, E., Prskawetz, A., Sanderson, W. C., & Striessnig, E. (2019). Education rather than age structure brings demographic dividend. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(26), 12798–12803. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820362116
- Lutz, W., Cuaresma, J. C., & Sanderson, W. (2008). The demography of educational attainment and economic growth. *Population*, 25(29), 15–19.
- Luy, M., & Köppen, B. (2018). 'Express transitioning'as a special case of the demographic transition. *Vienna Yearbook of Population Research*, *16*, 235–258.
- Maeda, K., & Ziegfeld, A. (2015). Socioeconomic status and corruption perceptions around the world. *Research & Politics*, 2(2), 205316801558083. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053168015580838
- Majeed, M. T. (2017). Quality of institutions and inclusive financial development in the muslim world. In *Financial inclusion and poverty alleviation* (pp. 3–40). Springer.
- Majid, M. S. A., Dewi, S., & Kassim, S. H. (2019). Does financial development reduce poverty? Empirical evidence from Indonesia. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, *10*(3), 1019–1036.
- Makhanov, K. (2023). A Brief Review of Elderly Welfare in Central Asia. https://www.eurasian-research.org/publication/a-brief-review-of-elderly-welfare-in-central-asia/
- Maliszewska, M., Ahmed, S. A., Cruz, M., & Winters, A. (2016). *Cashing in the demographic dividend*.
- Mankiw, N. G., Romer, D., & Weil, D. N. (1992). A Contribution to the Empirics of Economic Growth. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 31. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2118477
- Manyika, J., Woetzel, J., & Dobbs, R. (2015). *Global growth: Can productivity save the day in an aging world?* McKinsey Global Institute.

- Marrero, G. A., & Servén, L. (2022). Growth, inequality and poverty: A robust relationship? *Empirical Economics*, 63(2), 725–791. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00181-021-02152-x
- Martin, M. (2006). Governance and poverty reduction: Paths of connection. *Trocaire Development Review*, 35–55.
- Martin, P. (2009). Recession and Migration: A New Era for Labor Migration? *International Migration Review*, 43(3), 671–691. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2009.00781.x
- Martins, J., Veiga, L., & Fernandes, B. (2023). Are electronic government innovations helpful to deter corruption? Evidence from across the world. *Economics & Politics*, *35*(3), 1177–1203. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecpo.12255
- Mason, A. (2001). Population Policies and Programs in East Asia. 172.
- Mason, A. (2005). Demographic transition and demographic dividends in developed and developing countries. United Nations Expert Group Meeting on Social and Economic Implications of Changing Population Age Structures, 31.
- Mason, A., & Kinugasa, T. (2008). East Asian economic development: Two demographic dividends. *Journal of Asian Economics*, 19(5–6), 389–399.
- Mason, A., & Lee, R. (2006). Reform and support systems for the elderly in developing countries: Capturing the second demographic dividend. *Genus*, 11–35.
- Mason, A., & Lee, R. (2007). Transfers, Capital and Consumption Over the Demographic Transition. In *Population Aging, Intergenerational Transfers and the Macroeconomy* (pp. 128–162). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://ideas.repec.org/h/elg/eechap/12608_6.html
- Mason, A., Lee, R., & Jiang, J. X. (2016). Demographic dividends, human capital, and saving. *The Journal of the Economics of Ageing*, 7, 106–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeoa.2016.02.004
- Mason, A., & Lee, S. (2004). The demographic dividend and poverty reduction", Seminar on the Relevance of Population Aspects or the Achievement of the Millennium Development Goals, Paper No.
- Masud, M. M., Kari, F., Banna, H., & Saifullah, M. K. (2020). Does income inequality affect environmental sustainability? Evidence from the ASEAN-5. In *Climate Change Mitigation and Sustainable Development* (pp. 27–42). Routledge. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9780429029035-3/incomeinequality-affect-environmental-sustainability-evidence-asean-5-muhammad-mehedimasud-fatimah-kari-hasanul-banna-md-khaled-saifullah
- Mehanna, R.-A., Yazbeck, Y., & Sarieddine, L. (2010). Governance and economic development in MENA countries: Does oil affect the presence of a virtuous circle? *Journal of Transnational Management*, 15(2), 117–150. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15475778.2010.481250
- Mehmood, B., Khan, A., & Khan, A. (2012). Empirical scrutiny of demographic dividend of economic growth: Time series evidence from Pakistan. *Romanian Review of Social Sciences*, 2.
- Mejía, D., Ramírez-Giraldo, M. T., Tamayo-Castaño, J. A., & Ramírez-Giraldo, M. T. (2008). The demographic transition in Colombia: Theory and evidence. *Borradores de Economía; No. 538*.
- Menezes-Filho, N., & Vasconcellos, L. (2007). Human capital, inequality, and pro-poor growth in Brazil. *Delivering on the Promise of Pro-Poor Growth*, 1(1), 219.
- Merrick, T. W. (2002). Population and Poverty: New Views on an Old Controversy. *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 28(1), 41–46. https://doi.org/10.2307/3088274

- Milanovic, B., & Ersado, L. (2008, March 5). *Reform and inequality during the transition: An analysis using panel household survey data*, 1990-2005 [MPRA Paper]. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/7459/
- Misra, R. (2015). Impact of Demographic Dividend on Economic Growth: A Study of BRICS and the EU. *International Studies*, 52(1–4), 99–117. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020881717714685
- Mitra, D. (2016). Trade liberalization and poverty reduction. IZA World of Labor.
- Moniruzzaman, M., & Farzana, K. F. (2019). Religion, Society and Gendered-Politics in Central Asia: A comparative analysis. *Intellectual Discourse*, 27(SI# 1), 745–766.
- Morozova, N. M., Rudakova, E. K., & Lukashenko, E. S. (2021). Demographic And Economic Peculiarities Of Migration From Tajikistan And Uzbekistan To Russia. European Proceedings of Social and Behavioural Sciences, National Interest, National Identity and National Security. https://doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2021.02.02.80
- Muhammad, S. A., Oye, N. D., & Inuwa, I. (2011). Unemployment in Nigeria: Implication on the gross domestic product (gdp) over the years. *International Journal Economics Resources*, 2(1), 66–71.
- Mühlhoff, K. (2022). Darwin beats malthus: Evolutionary anthropology, human capital and the demographic transition. *Cliometrica*, *16*(3), 575–614.
- Mukhitidinova, N. (2015). Progress in Central Asia is being hampered by the low level of investment in research and development. *Central Asia*, 24.
- Müller, K. (2003). *Poverty and Social Policy in the Central Asian Transition Countries*. German Development Institute.
- Murodova, S. (2018). Impact of Remittances and International Migration on Poverty in Central Asia: The cases of the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan. *Journal of Applied Economics & Business Research*, 8(1).
- Nansadiqa, L., Masbar, R., & Majid, M. S. A. (2019). Does economic growth matter for poverty reduction in Indonesia. *East African Scholars Journal of Economics, Business and Management*, 2(2), 46–52.
- Narayana, M. R. (2022). Do economic inequalities impact demographic dividend: Evidence from India. *Population and Economics*, 6(1), 80–108.
- Navaneetham, K., & Dharmalingam, A. (2012). A review of age structural transition and demographic dividend in South Asia: Opportunities and challenges. *Journal of Population Ageing*, 5(4), 281–298.
- Neaime, S., & Gaysset, I. (2018). Financial inclusion and stability in MENA: Evidence from poverty and inequality. *Finance Research Letters*, 24, 230–237.
- Nedoluzhko, L. (2021). Achieved fertility and fertility intentions among ethnic groups in Central Asia: Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan compared.
- Negin, V., Abd Rashid, Z., & Nikopour, H. (2010). *The causal relationship between corruption and poverty: A panel data analysis*. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/id/eprint/24871
- Nel, P. (2020). When bribery helps the poor. *Review of Social Economy*, 78(4), 507–531. https://doi.org/10.1080/00346764.2019.1618482
- Ngom, M. (2021). Reaping the demographic dividend during emergence; the special case of the gueule Tapee-Fass-Colobane commune (Dakar). https://www.librairie-gallimard.com/livre/9782343237015-reaping-the-demographic-dividend-during-emergence-the-special-case-of-the-gueule-tapee-fass-colobane-commune-dakar-mabingue-ngom/
- Niyozov, S., & Bahry, S. (2006). Challenges to education in Tajikistan: The need for researchbased solutions. In *Education Reform in Societies in Transition* (pp. 211–231). Brill.
- Notestein, F. W. (1945). Population-The long view. Food for the World., 36-57.

- Nurzhanova, G., Mussirov, G., Niyazbekova, S., Ilyas, A., Tyurina, Y. G., Maisigova, L. A., Troyanskaya, M., & Kunanbayeva, K. (2020). Demographic and migration processes of labor potential: A case study the agricultural sector of the Republic of Kazakhstan. *Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues*, 8(1), 656.
- Nyoni, S. P., Chihoho, T. A., & Nyoni, T. (2021). Predicting Total Fertility Rates for Turkmenistan Using Artificial Neural Networks. *International Research Journal of Innovations in Engineering and Technology*, 5(8), 466.
- O'Brien, M. L. (2020). Disruption and decline: The gendered consequences of civil war and political transition for education in Tajikistan. *Post-Soviet Affairs*, *36*(4), 323–345.
- Ogawa, N., Mansor, N., Lee, S.-H., Abrigo, M. R., & Aris, T. (2021). Population aging and the three demographic dividends in Asia. *Asian Development Review*, *38*(1), 32–67.
- Ogbeide-Osaretin, E. N. (2018). An empirical analysis of poverty-growth-inequality linkage in Nigeria. International Journal of Social Science and Economic Research, 3(05), 1983-2005.
- Ogundari, K., & Awokuse, T. (2018). Human capital contribution to economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa: Does health status matter more than education? *Economic Analysis and Policy*, 58, 131–140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eap.2018.02.001
- Ogunleye, O. O., Owolabi, O. A., & Mubarak, M. (2018). Population growth and economic growth in Nigeria: An appraisal. *International Journal of Management, Accounting and Economics*, 5(5), 282–299.
- Okijie, S. R., & Effiong, U. E. (2021). Effect of demographic factors and economic development on carbon intensity in nigeria: An insight into the environmental Kuznets curve hypothesis. *Law, Business and Sustainability Herald*, *1*(2), 16–33.
- Oliveira, M. J. L. de. (2022). *Demographic dividend: Evidence from Portugal at a regional level* [PhD Thesis].
- Olopade, B. C., Okodua, H., Oladosun, M., & Asaleye, A. J. (2019). Human capital and poverty reduction in OPEC member-countries. *Heliyon*, 5(8), e02279.
- Omelicheva, M. (2021). Why Did Kyrgyz Voters Give Up Parliamentarism? https://thediplomat.com/2021/01/why-did-kyrgyz-voters-give-up-parliamentarism/
- Opoku, E. E. O., Kufuor, N. K., & Manu, S. A. (2021). Gender, electricity access, renewable energy consumption and energy efficiency. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *173*, 121121.
- Orbeta Jr, A. C. (2005). Poverty, vulnerability and family size: Evidence from the Philippines. *Poverty Strategies in Asia*, 171.
- Osobase, A. O., Ohioze, W. F., & Olowoyo, O. J. (2021). Population Growth, Life Expectancy and Economic Growth: A Panel Data Analysis. *Journal of Economics and Policy Analysis*, 6(1), 75–100.
- Osotimehin, B., & Director, U. E. (2015). *Investing in Young People in Eastern Europe and Central Asia*.
- Park, H. M. (2011). Practical guides to panel data modeling: A step-by-step analysis using stata. Public Management and Policy Analysis Program, Graduate School of International Relations, International University of Japan, 12, 1–52.
- Pasara, M. T., Mutambirwa, T. K., & Diko, N. (2020). The trivariate causality among education, health, and economic growth in Zimbabwe. *Sustainability*, *12*(4), 1357.
- Perera, L. D. H., & Lee, G. H. (2013). Have economic growth and institutional quality contributed to poverty and inequality reduction in Asia? *Journal of Asian Economics*, 27, 71–86.
- Pesaran, M. H. (2004). General Diagnostic Tests for Cross Section Dependence in Panels. In *Cambridge Working Papers in Economics* (0435; Cambridge Working Papers in

Economics). Faculty of Economics, University of Cambridge. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.572504

- Peter, A., & Bakari, I. (2018). Impact of population growth on economic growth in Africa: A dynamic panel data approach (1980-2015). *Pakistan Journal of Humanities and Social Science (PJHSS)*, 6(4), 412–427.
- Petrakis, P. E., & Stamatakis, D. (2002). Growth and educational levels: A comparative analysis. *Economics of Education Review*, 21(5), 513–521.
- Piabuo, S. M., & Tieguhong, J. C. (2017). Health expenditure and economic growth-a review of the literature and an analysis between the economic community for central African states (CEMAC) and selected African countries. *Health Economics Review*, 7(1), 1–13.
- Pignatti, N. (2020). Encouraging women's labor force participation in transition countries. *IZA World of Labor*. http://dx.doi.org/10.15185/izawol.264.v2
- Polloni-Silva, E., Da Costa, N., Moralles, H. F., & Sacomano Neto, M. (2021). Does Financial Inclusion Diminish Poverty and Inequality? A Panel Data Analysis for Latin American Countries. Social Indicators Research, 158(3), 889–925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-021-02730-7
- Polyzos, E., Kuck, S., & Abdulrahman, K. (2022). Demographic change and economic growth: The role of natural resources in the MENA region. *Research in Economics*, 76(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rie.2022.03.001
- Pool, I. (2004). "Demographic dividends", "windows of opportunity" and development: Agestructure, population waves and cohort flows. *CICRED*, *Paris*, 36.
- Popli, G. (2021). The Effects of Demographic Transition on Economic Growth Implications for India. *Available at SSRN 3835500*.
- Pring, C. (2016). *People and corruption: Europe and Central Asia*. Global Corruption Barometer. https://www.kpk-rs.si/kpk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/2016_GCB_ECA_EN.pdf
- Psacharopoulos, G., & Patrinos, H. A. (2018). Returns to investment in education: A decennial review of the global literature. *Education Economics*, 26(5), 445–458.
- Qin, Y., He, J., Wei, M., & Du, X. (2022). Challenges Threatening Agricultural Sustainability in Central Asia: Status and Prospect. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 19(10), 6200.
- Qingyuan, S., Chang, B., Guoyu, Y. I. N., & Wendong, W. (2020). The impact of health investment on economic growth: Evidence from China. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 49(4), 684.
- Quinonez, P., Saenz, J., & Solorzano, J. (2018). Does foreign direct investment reduce poverty? The case of Latin America in the twenty-first century. *Business and Economic Horizons* (*BEH*), 14(1232-2019–851), 488–500.
- Rakhmetova, R., & Abenova, K. (2013). Economic Mechanisms of the Demographic Policy of Kazakhstan. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *5*, 631–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(13)00074-9
- Rakhmetova, R. U., & Kaliyeva, S. A. (2022). Comparative Analysis of the Demographic Development of the Regions of Kazakhstan. *Economics: the strategy and practice*, *17*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.51176/1997-9967-2022-1-80-92
- Rashid, R. N., Saeed, M. K., & Ali, H. (2022). Impact of Human Capital on Poverty Reduction in Pakistan. *iRASD Journal of Economics*, 4(3), 419–428.
- Ratha, D., & Kim, E. J. (2022). Russia-Ukraine Conflict: Implications for Remittance flows to Ukraine and Central Asia. *World Bank*. https://blogs.worldbank.org/peoplemove/russia-ukraine-conflict-implications-remittance-flows-ukraine-and-central-asia
- Ravallion, M. (2002). On the urbanization of poverty. *Journal of Development Economics*, 68(2), 435–442.

- Ravallion, M. (2006). Looking beyond averages in the trade and poverty debate. *World Development*, *34*(8), 1374–1392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2005.10.015
- RICA. (2019). An Analysis of Income Inequality in Central Asian Countries. Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan. http://rica.network/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/2019-SEP-Eng-Inequality_compressed.pdf
- Rizk, R. (2019). Does demographic transition matter for economic growth? Evidence from Egypt. *The Journal of North African Studies*, 24(6), 1012–1035.
- Ruth-Lovell, S. P., Lührmann, A., & Grahn, S. (2019). Democracy and populism: Testing a contentious relationship. *V-Dem Working Paper*, 91. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3471132
- Saleh, S. E., & Yusuf, M. A. (2022). Analysis Of The Effect Of Demographic Dividend On Economic Growth In Gorontalo Province. *European Journal of Research Development* and Sustainability, 3(1), 30–34.
- Sánchez-Romero, M., Abio, G., Patxot, C., & Souto, G. (2018). Contribution of demography to economic growth. *SERIEs*, *9*(1), 27–64.
- Sarisoy, I., & Selcuk, K. O. C. (2012). The effect of foreign direct investment on poverty: Panel regression analysis for 40 selected underdeveloped and developing countries. *Çukurova Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 21(3), 225–240.
- Sarker, S., Khan, A., & Mahmood, R. (2016). Working Age Population & Economic Growth in Bangladesh: A Time-Series Approach. *International Multidisciplinary Conference* on Sustainable Development (IMCSD), 121.
- Savaş, B. (2008). The relationship between population and economic growth: Empirical evidence from the Central Asian Economies. *Orta Asya ve Kafkasya Araştırmaları*, 06, 135–153.
- Sehravat, M., & Giri, A. K. (2017). Does female human capital contribute to economic growth in india?: An empirical investigation. International Journal of Social Economics. 44(11), 1506-1521. Https://Doi.Org/10.1108/IJSE-10-2015-0272.
- Seitz, W. H. (2019a). International migration and household well-being: Evidence from Uzbekistan. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, 8910.
- Seitz, W. H. (2019b). Where They Live: District-Level Measures of Poverty, Average Consumption, and the Middle Class in Central Asia. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, 8940.
- Sidorenko, A. (2019). Demographic transition and "demographic security" in post-Soviet countries. *Population and Economics*, *3*, 1–23.
- Sidorenko-Stephenson, S., Routh, D. A., & Burgoyne, C. B. (1999). Perceptions, Attributions and Policy in the Economic Domain. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, 40(1), 79–93. https://doi.org/10.1163/156854299X00254
- Sittha, P. V. (2012). Governance and poverty reduction in Thailand. *Modern Economy*, *3*(05), 487.
- Slijepčević, S., Rajh, E., & Budak, J. (2020). Determinants of corruption pressures on local government in the EU. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 33(1), 3492–3508.
- Soava, G., Mehedintu, A., & Sterpu, M. (2020). Relations between income inequality, economic growth and poverty threshold: New evidences from EU countries panels. *Technological and Economic Development of Economy*, 26(2), 290–310.
- Song, S. (2013). Demographic Changes and Economic Growth: Empirical Evidence from Asia. *Honors Projects*. https://digitalcommons.iwu.edu/econ_honproj/121
- Spada, A., Fiore, M., & Galati, A. (2023). The Impact of Education and Culture on Poverty Reduction: Evidence from Panel Data of European Countries. *Social Indicators Research*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-023-03155-0

- Spierings, N., Smits, J., & Verloo, M. (2009). On the compatibility of Islam and gender equality. Social Indicators Research, 90(3), 503–522. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9274-z
- Spoorenberg, T. (2017). The Onset of Fertility Transition in Central Asia. *Population*, Vol. 72(3), 473–504.
- Stark, M., & Ahrens, J. (2012). Economic reform and institutional change in Central Asia: Towards a new model of the developmental state? (Working Paper 2012/05). PFH Forschungspapiere/Research Papers. https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/58058
- Strokova, V., & Ajwad, M. I. (2017). *Tajikistan Jobs Diagnostic: Strategic Framework for Jobs*. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/26029
- Sunde, U., & Cervellati, M. (2012). Diseases and development: Does life expectancy increase income growth. *VoxEU. Org.*
- Taylor, J. E., Mora, J., Adams, R., & Lopez-Feldman, A. (2005). *Remittances, Inequality and Poverty: Evidence from Rural Mexico* (Working Paper 60287). University of California, Davis, Department of Agricultural and Resource Economics. https://econpapers.repec.org/paper/agsucdavw/60287.htm
- Teorell, J., Dahlberg, S., Holmberg, S., Rothstein, B., Alvarado Pachon, N., & Svensson, R. (2019). *The Quality of Government Standard Dataset, Version Jan19* (SSRN Scholarly Paper 3569484). https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3569484
- Thompson, W. S. (1929). Population. American Journal of Sociology, 34(6), 959–975. https://doi.org/10.1086/214874
- Todaro, M. P., & Smith, S. C. (2006). *Economic development*. Pearson Addison Wesley.
- Topolin, A. (2000). Demograficheskiy potentsial stran Zakavkaz'ya, Tsentral'noy Azii i obshchiy rynok truda SNG (Демографический потенциал стран Закавказья, Центральной Азии и общий рынок труда СНГ). *Tsentral'naya Aziya i Kavkaz. URL: Http://Www. ca-c. Org/Journal/Cac-09-2000/20. Topilin. Shtml (Дата Обращения: 21.06. 2011).*
- Torres, D. (2019). The Future is Asian, but Corruption Keeps it Mired in the Past. UNDP. https://www.undp.org/asia-pacific/blog/future-asian-corruption-keeps-it-mired-past
- Tsanana, E., Chapsa, X., & Katrakilidis, C. (2016). Is growth corrupted or bureaucratic? Panel evidence from the enlarged EU. *Applied Economics*, *48*(33), 3131–3147.
- Turak, N. (2022, January 6). 'Absolutely unprecedented': Massive protests in Kazakhstan are making international shock waves. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2022/01/06/massive-protests-in-kazakhstan-spur-russian-involvement.html
- Turbat, V. (2017). The demographic dividend: A potential surplus generated by a demographic transition. *Africa's Population: In Search of a Demographic Dividend*, 181–195.
- Turra, C. M., & Fernandes, F. (2020). Demographic transition: Opportunities and challenges to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals in Latin America and the Caribbean. https://repositorio.cepal.org/handle/11362/46261
- Ullah, K., & Majeed, M. T. (2022). District-level multidimensional poverty and human development in the case of Pakistan: Does institutional quality matter? *GeoJournal*, 1–21.
- Ulrika, M. (2020). Nexus between Poverty and Remittances: A Critical Review Analysis of Central Asia. *Available at SSRN 3809133*.
- UN. (2004). *World population to 2300*. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, New York. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/538806
- UN. (2015). World Population Prospects. The 2015 Revision. https://population.un.org/wpp/publications/files/key_findings_wpp_2015.pdf
- UN. (2019). World Population Prospects (19th Revision). https://population.un.org/wpp/publications/files/wpp2019_highlights.pdf

- UNESCAP. (2018). Inequality in the era of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: North and Central Asia / socialprotection.org. https://socialprotection.org/discover/publications/inequality-era-2030-agendasustainable-development-north-and-central-asia
- UNESCO. (2021). *Policy brief: Higher education in Central Asia—UNESCO Digital Library*. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000377911
- UNFPA. (2019). Report: Population Situation Analysis of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
- UNFPA. (2020). *Demographic dividend*. UNFPA Arabstates. https://arabstates.unfpa.org/en/topics/demographic-dividend-6
- UNFPA. (2021a). POPULATION SITUATION ANALYSIS IN KYRGYZSTAN: 2020 UPDATE / United Nations in Kyrgyz Republic. https://kyrgyzstan.un.org/en/133467-populationsituation-analysis-kyrgyzstan-2020-update, https://kyrgyzstan.un.org/en/133467population-situation-analysis-kyrgyzstan-2020-update
- UNFPA. (2021b). Оценка социально-экономического положения и потребностей пожилых людей в Казахстане. UNFPA Kazakhstan.
- UN-Habitat. (2016). Annual Report 2016: Global Public Space Programme / UN-Habitat. https://unhabitat.org/annual-report-2016-global-public-space-programme
- UNICEF. (2018). Generation 2030 Uzbekistan. Investing in children and young people to reap the demographic dividend. *United Nations, New York.*
- UNICEF. (2019a). Effects of migration on children of Uzbekistan. https://www.unicef.org/uzbekistan/media/2936/file/Effects-of-migration-on-childrenof-Uzbekistan-EN.pdf
- UNICEF. (2019b). *MENA*. *Generation 2030: Investing in children and youth today to secure a prosperous region tomorrow*. https://www.unicef.org/mena/media/4141/file
- UNODC. (2020). Knowledge tools for academics and professionals. UNODC Module Series on Anti-Corruption. MODULE 4. PUBLIC SECTOR CORRUPTION. https://grace.unodc.org/grace/uploads/documents/academics/Anti-Corruption_Module_4_Public_Sector_Corruption.pdf
- Usenata, N. (2022). *Does corruption cause income inequality and long-run poverty?*(*Evidence from Nigeria*). https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/id/eprint/113588
- Ustavshchikova, S. V. (2017). Demograficheskaya situatsiya v stranakh Tsentral'noy Azii (Демографическая ситуация в странах Центральной Азии). Sovremennyye Yevraziyskiye Issledovaniya, 1, 60–63.
- Utomo, A. (2017). Demographic Divide and its Impact toward Authoritarianism in Central Asia: A Comparative Study of Turkmenistan and Kyrgyzstan. *The Journal of MacroTrends in Social Science, Vol* 3(1), 39–46.
- Vacaflores, D. E. (2018). Are remittances helping lower poverty and inequality levels in Latin America? *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 68, 254–265.
- Vakulchuk, R., & Overland, I. (2021). Central Asia is a missing link in analyses of critical materials for the global clean energy transition. *One Earth*, 4(12), 1678–1692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.11.012
- Vercueil, J. (2018). Taming the Bear while Riding the Dragon? Central Asia confronts Russian and Chinese economic influences. *Revue de La Régulation. Capitalisme, Institutions, Pouvoirs, 24*, Article 24. https://doi.org/10.4000/regulation.13626
- VOA. (2009, October 27). *Central Asia Faces Political Challenges*. Voice of America. https://www.voanews.com/a/a-13-2008-02-26-voa53-66807387/374135.html
- Wako, H. (2012). Demographic changes and economic development: Application of the vector error correction model (VECM) to the case of Ethiopia.
- Wan, G., Wang, C., & Zhang, X. (2021). The poverty-growth-inequality triangle: Asia 1960s to 2010s. *Social Indicators Research*, *153*, 795–822.

- Wei, Z., & Hao, R. (2010). Demographic structure and economic growth: Evidence from China. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 38(4), 472–491.
- Well, D. N. (2007). Accounting for the effect of health on economic growth. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *122*(3), 1265–1306.
- Wietzke, F.-B. (2020). Poverty, inequality, and fertility: The contribution of demographic change to global poverty reduction. *Population and Development Review*, 46(1), 65–99.
- Wong, M. Y. H. (2023). Economic development, corruption, and income inequality: The role of the informal sector. *Politics*, 026339572211489. https://doi.org/10.1177/02633957221148951
- Wooldridge, J. M. (2002). Econometric analysis of cross section and panel data MIT press. *Cambridge, MA*, 108(2), 245–254.
- Wooldridge, J. M. (2010). Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data, Second Edition.
- World Bank. (2017). *Tajikistan: Addressing Challenges to Create More and Better Jobs*. https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/tajikistan/publication/tajikistan-addressing-challenges-to-create-more-and-better-jobs
- World Bank. (2018a). *Poverty and Inequality*. https://datatopics.worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/themes/poverty-and-inequality.html
- World Bank. (2018b). The Human Capital Project. The World Bank Washington.
- World Bank. (2019). ACHIEVING THE DEMOGRAPHIC DIVIDEND: AN OPERATIONAL TOOL FOR COUNTRY-SPECIFIC INVESTMENT DECISION-MAKING IN PRE-DIVIDEND COUNTRIES. Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/781891550815372274/Achieving-the-Demographic-Dividend-An-Operational-Tool-for-Country-Specific-Investment-Decision-Making-in-Pre-Dividend-Countries
- World Bank. (2020). World Development Indicators / DataBank. https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators
- World Bank. (2021). TAJIKISTAN. COUNTRY GENDER ASSESSMENT.
- World Bank. (2023). World development indicators. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator
- World Bank, & International Monetary Fund. (2016). Development goals in an era of demographic change. World Bank.
- World Migration Report. (2020). International Organization for Migration. https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/wmr_2020.pdf
- Worldometer. (2021). *Population of Central Asia* (2021)—Worldometer. https://www.worldometers.info/world-population/central-asia-population/
- Wu, C.-F., Chang, T., Wang, C.-M., Wu, T.-P., Lin, M.-C., & Huang, S.-C. (2021). Measuring the impact of health on economic growth using pooling data in regions of Asia: Evidence from a quantile-on-quantile analysis. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9.
- Yang, X. (2020). Health expenditure, human capital, and economic growth: An empirical study of developing countries. *International Journal of Health Economics and Management*, 20(2), 163–176.
- Yassine, A., & Bakass, F. (2022). Do Education and Employment Play a Role in Youth's Poverty Alleviation? Evidence from Morocco. *Sustainability*, *14*(18), 11750.
- Yormirzoev, M. (2021). Economic Growth and Productivity Performance in Central Asia. *Comparative Economic Studies*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41294-021-00156-1
- Young, A. O. (2019). Economic Growth and Demographic Dividend Nexus in Nigeria: A Vector Autoregressive (VAR) Approach. Asian Social Science, 15(2), 37. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v15n2p37

- Yu, B., Wei, Y.-M., Gomi, K., & Matsuoka, Y. (2018). Future scenarios for energy consumption and carbon emissions due to demographic transitions in Chinese households. *Nature Energy*, 3(2), 109–118.
- Zaman, K. A. U., & Sarker, T. (2021). *Demographic dividend, digital innovation, and economic growth: Bangladesh experience*. ADBI Working Paper Series.
- Zhang, C. (2021). Role of Education on Poverty Reduction: The Case Study of Pakistan. 2021 6th International Conference on Social Sciences and Economic Development (ICSSED 2021), 24–29.
- Zhang, D. (2023). Draining the Swamp? Populist leadership and corruption. *Governance*, *n/a*(n/a). https://doi.org/10.1111/gove.12829
- Zhang, Z., Hao, Y., Lu, Z.-N., & Deng, Y. (2018). How does demographic structure affect environmental quality? Empirical evidence from China. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 133, 242–249.
- Zhankubayev, B. A., Gnevasheva, V. A., Ganiyeva, G. K., & Sadunova, A. G. (2021). Socio-Demographic Situation in Kazakhstan: Problems of Reproduction. *Revista de Cercetare Şi Intervenție Socială*, 75, 139–153.
- Zhong, X., & Enke, D. (2017). Forecasting daily stock market return using dimensionality reduction. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 67, 126–139.
- Zhussipbek, G. (2017). History of Central Asia 1700 to 1991.
- Zivengwa, T., Hazvina, F., Ndedzu, D., & Mavesere, I. M. (2013). Investigating the causal relationship between education and economic growth in Zimbabwe. *Asian Journal of Humanities and Social Studies*, 1(5).
- Zobeiri, H. (2021). The Effect of Demographic Transition on GDP per Capita in Resource-Rich Countries: The Case of Iran. *Macroeconomics Research Letter*, *15*(30), 13–33.

Component indicators for the "Good governance"

Name of the	Definition
component	
Deliberative	This index is constructed using point estimates obtained from a Bayesian
component index	factor analysis model that incorporates indicators such as reasoned
	justification, common good justification, respect for counterarguments,
	range of consultation, and engaged society. To assess these aspects
	within a polity, we seek to gauge the extent to which political elites
	publicly justify their positions on public policy matters, justify their
	positions in terms of the public good, acknowledge and respect
	counterarguments, and determine the breadth of consultation at elite
	levels.
Electoral	The electoral component index is implemented as a chain defined by its
component index	weakest link among freedom of association, suffrage, clean elections,
	and elected executive. Achievement of this index is assumed when
	suffrage is widespread, political and civil society organizations can
	operate freely, elections are free from fraud of systematic freegularities, and the chief executive of a country is chosen directly or indirectly
	through elections
Faeliterien	This index is derived by averaging the following indices: equal
component index	protection index and equal distribution of resources Egalitarian
component maex	democracy is realized when 1) the rights and freedoms of individuals are
	equally protected across all social groups: 2) resources are distributed
	equally across all social groups: and 3) access to power is equally
	distributed based on gender, socioeconomic class, and social group.
Liberal	This index is formed by averaging the following indices: equality before
component index	the law and individual liberties, judicial constraints on the executive, and
	legislative constraints on the executive. Achievement of this index
	involves constitutionally protected civil liberties, a robust rule of law, an
	independent judiciary, and effective checks and balances that
	collectively limit the exercise of executive power.
Participatory	This index is created by averaging the following indices: civil society
component index	participation, direct popular vote, elected local government power, and
	elected regional government power. The participatory principle of
	democracy emphasizes active cluzen involvement in all political
Political	The index is determined by averaging the scores of (a) public sector
corruption index	corruption index: (b) executive corruption index: (c) the indicator for
contruption index	legislative corruption: and (d) the indicator for judicial corruption
	registative contuption, and (a) the indicator for judicial contuption.

Source: (Coppedge et al., 2021)